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CITY OF BALTIMORE DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE

HENRY J. RAYMOND, Director
454 City Hall
Baltimore, Maryland 21202

Catherine E. Pugh, Mayor

Honorable President and Members of
The Board of Estimates
City of Baltimore, Maryland March 25, 2019

In compliance with Article VII, Section 8, of the revised City Chaftdovember, 1964), submitted herewith is the
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of the City of Baltimore, Maryland, (the City) for the year ended June
30, 20B. The CAFR was prepared by the Citybs &eme ofttment o}
presented data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the City. We
believe that the data, as presented, is accurate in all material aspects; that it is presented in a manner @@djgsed to

forth the financial position and changes in financial position of the City; and, that all disclosures necessary to enable the
reader to gain the maxi mum understanding of the Cityos

The CAFR is presented iiree sections: introductory, financial, and statistical. The introductory section includes this
transmittal l etter and the L£Lettyibesn orgahnudads i ©mopihioncdeap ¢ n
management 0s d i sis; basis financial statethenta withlreglated notes, and required supplementary
information with related notes. The financial section also includes the combining and individual fund financial statements
and schedules. The statistical section includes seldotancial and demographic information, generally presented on a
multi-year basis.

Management has provided a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic financial statements in
the form of a Manage me (MD&AS. THixiletter af sandmittal is desighed Aorcamplgnsent she
MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The Ci
the independent auditors in the financial section of the CAFR.

The Board oEstimates awarded a contract to the nationally recognized independent certified public accounting firm, SB

& Company, LLC, to performrafinancial statements of the City as of and for the year ended June 30, 20Xidithe

report is contained herein. Thadit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States and, for the basic financial statements of the City, the standards for financial audits contamestriment

Auditing Standardsissued by the ComptrolleGeneral of the United States. On the basis of this examination, the
independent public accountants have issued an unmodified opinion that the presentation of the basic financial statements
conforms with accounting principles generally accepted in theetd&itates. In conducting the audit, the auditor performed

tests of the accounting records and such other procedures as were considered necessary in the circumstances to provide :
reasonable basis for this opinion on the financial statements. The auditoassessed the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluated the overall financial statement presentation

The independent audit of the Cityo6s f i nl@nifocm Grdnt Gsitlaace e me nt
AiSingle Audito desi gned t grantotegencieZhe Bingle puglitRepott wilhbewailhide o f F e
as a separate documexsiof a later date

This report includes all of the funds that we consider to be pacbafrolled by or dependent on the City. Professional
judgment must be used to determine whether or not a potential component unit should be included in the reporting entity.
Various potential component units were evaluated to determine whether they shout r eported in the C
component units, the Baltimore Industrial Development Authority (blended component unit), the Baltimore City Public
School System and the Baltimore Hotel Corporation (discretely presented component units), weeestbttsbe part of

the Cityds reporting entity when it was concluded that
Authority of Baltimore City and certain other organizations are not considered to be component units andcueledt
in the Cityés basic financial statements.
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PROFILE OF THE GOVERNMENT

The Mayor and City Council of Baltimore (the City) is a body corporate and politic of the State of Maryland (the State) in
which all local governmental functions are perfornbgdthe City. The City has had a charter form of government since
1797, home rule powers since 1918, and is governed by an elected Mayor, Comptroller and a City Council. The City has
a total area of approximately 92 square miles and an estimat&d@pdation of 611,648 The City is a major deep

water seaport located on the Patapsco Riverpatary of the Chesapeake Bdy.is served by Baltimore/Washington
International Thurgood Marshall Airport in adjacent Anne Arundel County. The City is aloropietely surrounded by
Baltimore County, a separate entity, which borders the City on the east, north, west and part of the south. Anne Arundel
County adjoins the City on its southern border.

The City provides the full range of municipal services coplatad by statute or charter, which are proside paid for

by the City from local, State or Federal sources. These services include public safety (police and fire protection), water,
wastewater and stormwater utilities, highways and streets, sanitagialth and human services, culture and recreation,
education (elementary through high school, provided by a component unit, the Baltimore City Public School System),
public improvements, planning and zoning, parking facilities, mortgage loan prograussrisdadievelopment, and general

and administrative services. The City is also responsible for the adoption and maintenance of building codes, and
regulation of licenses and permits, collection of certain taxes and revenues, maintenance of publianmétoedsonduct

of elections. These activities are included in the reporting entity. There are no overlapping local governmental entities or
taxing jurisdictions. Accordingly, there is no overlapping debt of the City.

Under t he Char ttigerfynctiand are vested in thes Magox, the Board of Estimates and an independent
Comptroller. The Citybés | egislative f un c éxecuativesoffienrot vest
the City.The Mayor is elected for a term of foygars and is eligible to succeed herself without limitation as to the number

of terms. If the Mayor is disabled or absent from the City, the President of the City Council actffasoeklayor. If

the Mayor resigns, is permanently disqualified, osdieoffice, the President of the City Council becomes Mayor for the
remainder of the term. The Mayor has authority to veto ordinances, has power of appointment of most department heads
and municipal officers, serves on the Board of Estimates and appsotsf the other four members of the Board of
Estimates.

The Board of Estimates is the highest administrative body of the City. It is composed of the President of the City Council,
who serves as President of the Board, the Mayor, the Comptroller tyhedlicitor ancthe Director of Public Worksl he

Board of Estimates formulates and determines City fiscal policy with its primary policy tool being the recommended annual
Ordinance of Estimates, the Cityds budget.

Key Budgetary Policies

Balanced BudgetThe City Charter requires the operating budget to be balanced. Any difference betw@eopsoty
tax revenues and total expenditures are to be made up by adjusting the property tax rate or enactment of new revenue
measures.

Public Hearings:The Charér mandates that both the Board of Estimates and the City Council conduct public hearings on
the proposed budget.

Timely AdoptionThe Charter sets forth a schedule requiring the budget to be adopted before the beginning of the fiscal
year, July 1.

Budge AmendmentThe Charter provides means for adopting supplemental appropriations funded from unanticipated
revenues and/or new grants and sources that materializ
supplemental appropriationsn &ddition, the Charter allows for and spells out the procedures for amending the budget to
transfer appropriations between programs within an agency and between agencies.

SixYear Capital PlanGuiding the physical development budget plan of the Citlyad<Charter requirement for a siear

capital improvement plan, the first year comprising the capital budget year. The plan is prepared in conformance with
basic capital budgeting policies, which include appropriating funds in the year in which peojedikely to begin,
financing a portion of capital improvements from current revenues, and estimating the impact of capital projects on the
operating budget.

Budget Monitoring and ExecutioBudget analysts maintain ongoing contact with agency fisciakeosfin the process of
implementation and execution of the budget. Expenditure and revenue projections are developed and reviewed on a
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monthly basis. The Mayor, through the Department of Finance, exercises appropriate fiscal management to adjust budget
policy, as necessary, to be within the limits of the current adopted plan. The City Council has the practice of reviewing
budget performance at migear and during the fourth quarter.

Debt Policy:In 1990, the City adopted a formal debt policy which seuahborrowing limits, consolidated all financing
arrangements within the Department of Finance, established refunding and refinancing policies, and set limits on key debt
management ratios. The objecti ve hasngaansenativanapmaaah totalh e Ci
aspects of debt management, including debt service expenses, debt retirement schedules, and debt capacity ratios. The
Debt Policy was last reviewedJdaly 201 7by an independent financial consultant contracted by the City. After considering

the consul t ant ahe City plens nonie exabed t$&tiiom & budgeted annual general obligation debt.

The Debt Policy will beeviewed again in two years Iiye City and an independent consultant.

Budget Stabilization Reserve Polidyn November 2008, the Cityés Board of E
reserve policy that established the basis for having a budget stabilization reserve as well as identifying its maintenance
level, scope of coverage, circumstances under whictisf shall be drawn down from the reserve, and the requirements to
replenish the reserve when utilized. The policy stipulates that the reserve serves to provide a budget defensedo stabilize
postadopted budget that has been impacted by an uncorreciabitall in revenues and/or an unanticipated and
uncorrectable emergency expense. The reserve is the revenue source of last resort to avoid a budget deficit. Under no
circumstances is the reserve to be used as a revenue source to balance a planhadggeafmhe policy further
recommends that the reserve shall be maintained on any June 30 at a minimum level of 8% of the value of the general fund
operating budget of the subsequent fiscal year.

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Retirement Plans

Professionaémployees othe Baltimoe City Public School Systerapdthe Enoch Pratt Free Library, an agency of the
City, are members of the State of Maryland Retirement System to which the @iy tisquired to contribute. The City
contributes to four retiremeptans established for all other City employees and elected offictasCity also contributes
to the State of Maryland Retirement System for Sheriff Office employees.

City laws require that contributions to its three funded pension systelbased on aoarial valuationsCity contributions
to the Unfunded Police Department Retirement Plan (for eligible employees hired prior to January 1, 1947, all of whom
are now retired) are not actuarially determined, and these benefits are paid from annual d@ppsopriat

Temporary Investment of Cash Balances

The City, through the Office of the Director of Finance, pursues an aggressive cash management and investment program
to achieve maximum financial return on available funds. Depending on cash needsfumdsease invested on a short,
intermediate or longerm basis at the best obtainable rates. Investments are limited generally to direct or indirect
obligations of the U.S. government and fully coltatzed repurchase agreement$ie City utilizes the mctice of

recording investment income in the period in which it is earned.

Risk Management

The City is seHinsured in the area of casualty and property losses, including the uninsured portion of losses to City
buildings and contents, vehicles, watefcta, boil ers, machinery, workersd cor
empl oyeesd heal th i nsur axdautemobile labilitydosspIhe Qffice off Risk Managément,i a b i |
within the Department of Finance, administers the fund.

Internal Control

City management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting. The
City has established a comprehensive framework of internal control to provide a reasonable basis for asserting that the
financial statements are fairly presented. Because the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits to be derived, the
Cityébs objective is to provide reasonabl e, rather than
material mgstatements.



ECONOMIC PROFILE AND OUTLOOK

Baltimore is the historic, business, education and cultural center of Maryland. The City benefits from being in one of the
wealthiest states in the nation and is the northern anchor dV#shingtorBaltimoreNorthern Virginia Combined

Statistical Aread one of the | argest, wealthiest and best educate
has traditionally benefited from its location, as it is accessible to a large andiféideworkforce. With an excellent

highway and rail transportation system, the City is able to access botheasidrn and norteastern markets in support

of its international port activity. About72,600 or26.6% of the 1.4million jobs in the metropdkan area are located in the

City.

The concentration of stable health care and education related services in the City have become the drivers of the steady job
absorption not only for employees in the Baltimore area, but especially for City residbrabsdoption is the capacity of

the Citybés job market to generate stable employment and
in the health and educational sectors represent 33.2% of the jobs located in the City, a propagicortsiderably higher
than the regional and national totals of 20.1% and 16. 1

unchanged since 2010 at a 295,500 annual average, employment of City residents has grown 5.4% from 262(B00 i

to 276,600 through the first half of 2018. The prominence of health care and knowdéatgd industries is reflected in

the Citybés major empl oy-govesnmentalmrmplogersteigle aré lealth daee argl @edutatiom o n
relatedentit es, one i s Amazonoés f ul f i-dervicaee@mvider.cThenCityederives acondmidc h e |
strength from the number of jobs in the growing health care sector, and in the kneinfedgationbased education and
information services sémrs.

The population trend is often considered the single most important economic factor in the City due to the fact that
Bal ti moreds population peaked at 949,708 in 1950 and h
averagemonthlgr op of 420 persons with some decades experienci
declines. During this period, population loss approached 12,000 per year, or 1,000 per month; however, the loss rate has
declined in recent years, expncing an average monthly drop of 111 people since.2010

Economic Outlook

The City ended Fiscal 2018 within the second longest period of economic recovery since 1850. Since the Great Recession
ended in June 2009, the nation has enjoyed 108 morgiesiedmic recovery as of June 2018, and this condition is reflected
in the Cityés key economic indicators

As of the end of Calendar 2017,t66é t y6s average wages continued showing
out pacing i nf tagetofil6%.dlds represenisaah anrual ecrease in average wages of 1.2% in real terms

The Cityds unempl oyment r -snonth paxiod emdedgreJddne 8018l e Idwest sintel2@08;t we
meanwhi | e, the Cityds | abor force has increased 0.9% d
incorporating approximalg 1,757 City residents to the job market per year. More importantly, employed City residents
have grown 10.5% since the end of the recession, with an absorption of approximately 3,000 individuals per year.

The housing market in the City remains stalilhe average sale price of residential property in the City for the second
guarter of 2018 was 193,099, 2.6% higher than the same
however, on the yedp-year comparison, the average price revadivirtually flat at $174,800. Meanwhile, residential

sale activity for the fiscal year period ending in June 2018 reported an increase of 2.8% or 240 more properties sold the
City compared to Fiscal 2017.

Al t hough the City6és phangBi000detvieen?2016 and 20L7ntkede iskevwidenteotmaethe City has
not experienced a noticeable damage to its taxable base, and is rather experiencomosdion of its household
characteristics. The negative net migration experienced by thés@itgentially explained by the replacement of families
with large number of nemworking members moving out of the City for smaller size families with larger number working
individuals moving in

In 2010, the total number of households in the City w&322, of which 141,892 or 59.5% was composed by households
earning less than $50,000. Contrary to the population experience, the City actually gained more 4,000 households, or 1.7%
between 2010 and 2016, and reached a total of 242,416 resident famitie$ tis total, 45.3% or 109,811 is composed

by households earning more than $50,000, an increase of almost 13,311 or 13.8%, while those earning less than $50,000
decreased by 9,200 or 6.5%. Most of the growth in higher income households was fronathiogebetween $100,000
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and $200,000, increasing from 25,696 in 2010 to 34,570 in 2016, a net increase of 9,625.

This analysis suggests that the number of family units have increased, the size or composition of the units has become
smaller, but househadchave become wealthier, which reinforces that the quality of the jobs offered and the net absorption
of these jobs in the City has strengthened the Cityobds t

The overall economic outlook for the City is positive and analysts anticipat¢hthaconomy will continue growing
although at a slower pace than recent years. However, the continue population decline, the potential deceleration of real
estate activity, the future impact of Federal laws, and the increasing probability of a recetistonear future are still

risks at the local and national level that require close attention when making short aednmiblicy decisions.

Jobs and Employment

Employment continues its growth pattern. The national unemployment rate peaked at 10&®&bar of 2009, but has
since fallen to 4.0% in June 2018, while the City unemployment rate peaked in August of 2010 at 12.5%, and has since
gradually declined and leveled off at 6.4% as of June 2018.

The most recent data from the Bureau of Labor Stesi (BLS) indicates that the number of jobs and total employment in

the City continues to increase. The BLS reported an average of 372,067 jobs located in the City during 2017, representing
an increase of 1.6% compared to the average of 366,175 inaaRdib. Calendar 2017 is the seventh year in a row since
2010 where the City has experienced employment growth,
the national recession. In calendar 2017, there were an estimated 276,2@6i@dyts employed. The difference between
employed residents and jobs in the City reflects a net contribution of approximately 95,861 jobs to surrounding
communities

Retail Sales

Fiscal 2018 retail sales reported by the State of Maryland for thesfistywed an increase of 2.1% compared to Fiscal
2017. Sales generated in the City currently represent
than in Fiscal 2017. Through the first six months of 2018, the retail vacancy ithie downtown area is 4.8%. This
represents a slight uptick from the first half of 2017, when retail vacancy rates were 3.7%. In Fiscal 2018, a total of 86,15
square feet of additional retail space has become available in the downtown area. Retaitig&yesoatinues to be a

|l eading indicator of. the Cityés economic activity

Housing

In Fiscal 2018 the real estate market continued to show mostly healthy market trends, with the total number of transactions
increasing significantly but priceropping slightly. The total number residential units sold in the City as reported by the
Metropolitan Regional Information System (MRIS) increased for the sixth year in a row at 2.8% in Fiscal 2018. Despite
an increase in the number of residential urdlsl,sthe average sales price remained virtually unchanged in Fiscal 2018;
homes sold for an average of $174,815, a $161 decrease compared to Fiscal 2017. The total number of commercial and
residential real estate transactions totaled 16,820, represefti@&pancrease over the 15,898 in Fiscal 2017. However,

in Fiscal 2018 the average price per transaction for all transactions (residential and commercial) dropped slightly from
Fiscal 2017 down from $197,593 in Fiscal 2017 to $186,153 in Fiscal 2018.

As expected at the end of Fiscal 2017, the demand for refinancing activities has begun to decline as interest rates have
slowly increased; however, Fiscal 2018 represented a very strong year in for the refinancingesfdeial properties.

In Fiscal 208, the City processed a total of 21,588 transactions subject to the Recordation Tax, a 4.0% decrease from
Fiscal 2017. Of these transactions, 4768 it is estimated that 4,768 corresponded to refinancing transactions (down from
6,593 in Fiscal 2017). Altholgrefinancing activities are decreasing, the average value of transactions subject to the
Recordation Tax increased to $196,087 in Fiscal 2018, up 4.4% from Fiscal 2017

Port of Baltimore

With the expansion of the Panama Canal in 2016 allowseper and wider lanes for larger ships to pass through,
Baltimore and other Atlantic coastal ports now can receive the largercamngers, often from the Far East, that previously

were limited to the Pacific Coast. Indeed, Baltimore is one of onlyEastern U.S. ports with a 500t (15.2 meters)

shipping channel and a 8600t container berth, allowing it to accommodate some of the largest container ships in the
worl d. The Portdéds total general c¢ar gl®018, omfronald.8 miliontomse a s e d
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in Fiscal 2017.

In the first quarter of 2018, the Port handled the most general cargo and containers in its 312 year history for a single
quarter. The Port of Baltimore ranks first for autos and light trucks, roll doffdieavy farm and construction machinery,

and imported sugar. The Port is responsible for nearly $3 billion in personal wages and salary and more than $300 million
in state and local tax revenues

Tourism and Travel Industries

In Fiscal 2018the €iy 6 s t ouri sm and travel industries continued t
the busiest in the country, and in Fiscal 2018 the total number of passengers continued to grow. Within the City, more
hotels have opened inthe pasty@and t he portés continued to boast strong
essenti al to improving the Cityb6s overall economic outl

Baltimore Convention Centeln Fiscal 2018, the Baltimore Convention Center (BCC) held 141 eventseaingtore

than Fiscal 2017. The revenue generated by BCC decreased in Fiscal 2017, down from $9.5 million in Fiscal 2017 to $9.4
million in Fiscal 2018. Whil e higher revenue helps dir
events andgubsequently the number of attendees would further boost the surrounding economy. In Fiscal 2018, BCC had
473,114 total event attendees, a decrease of about 40,600 less than Fiscal 2017.

Hospitality. Hotel activity remained about the same in Fiscal 244 8 was in the prior year, with a 63.7% occupancy rate

in Fiscal 2018 compared to 66.5% in Fiscal 2017. The lower occupancy rate can be explained by an increase in room
supply, which as of June 2018 had increased to over 11,000 rooms and savoeygaar increase of 6.8%. In Fiscal

2018 the number of Citwide conventions decreased slightly from Fiscal 2017; however, the number of scheduled City
wide conventions in Fiscal 2019 is the highest in the past five fiscal years. Ultimately, growth inpiteihomdustry

and hot el activity is dependent on the industryéds abili

BWI Thurgood Marshall AirportDuring calendar year 2017, nearly 26.4 million passengers flew out of Baltimore
Washington International Thurgood Marshall Airport (BWI), which ranks as tffeb2Riest airport in the United States.

This was both an annual record number of travelers and
tourism industryLast year also was the thigdraight year that more than one million international passengers flew through

BWI. Airlines continue to add more international and domestic flights out of BWI, which is yet another positive sign for
the regionés travel industr

Port of Baltimoreln 2017, the Port of Baltimore had more than 210,000 passengers use the cruise terminals, which have
received recent interior renovations with more upgrades planned. In 2016 the Port signedyeamatintract with the
popular cruise line Royal Caribbh@&aensuring a steady flow of cruise activity from the Port through at least Fiscal 2020.

Its estimated that cruiselated Port activity generates about $70 million in business revenue and creates.440 jobs

Office Development

The Baltimore City commercial real estate market continues to display signals of continued demand. There are multiple
projects underway with buildings being preleased, significant leases signed, and buildings being sold, as well as, new
projects being annmced. The relatively low vacancy rates and absorption figures are providing signals that while there is
interest in Baltimore City, particular segments are faring better than others. The industrial market has seen the delivery of
new properties (5350 Hddird Ave), sales (5300 Holabird Ave), and leases signed (1657 S. Highland Ave and 2000
Washington Blvd). Despite increasing vacancy rates, new properties and leases for office and retail properties are
occurring. Key office properties such as 1 E. Pr&f) B. Pratt, and 7 St. Paul have been sold. New leases at 100 E. Pratt,

750 E. Pratt, and 100 Light St. have been signed. For the retail market, a lease for nearly 30,000 square feet of space was
signed at 200 E. Pratt Street.

As of June 2MDowrBown) bfficevadancy ratdwsas 11.3%. Through the first half of 2018, the demand for
industrial space in the City outpaced demand for office and retail space, and in the second quarter of 2018 almost 300,000
square feet of industrial space was leased

FINANCIAL ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Over the past five years, the City has reduced the baseline deficit through 2022 from $745 million to $202 million (73%).
Since 2013, Baltimore has implemented initiatives that help in achievingdomgfiscal sustainabilityplowering the
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effective property tax rate by 7.4%, reducing ldagn liabilities by 23%, increased capital investments of $162 million,

and streamlining the workforce by reducing the number of General Fund positions by 7.4%. Combined pension and OPEB
unfunded liabilities shrank from $3.2 billion in Fiscal year 2011 to $2.7 billion in Fiscal year 2017. A series of reforms
hel ped to reduce the Cityés unfunded OPEB Iliability frc
actuarial repdr

TEN-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN

On February 20, 2013, the City releasgiiange to Grow: A TelYear Financial Plan for Baltimordhe TerYear Plan,

a first of its kind for the City, calls for comprehensive reforms to close a projected $745.0 million structural budget defic
make Baltimorebs taxes more competitive, i4emnpensiacnandi nfr a
health care liabilities.

Implementation of the TeNMear Plan began in Fiscal year 2013 with two key initiatives: Zh€ents by 202program
to reduce the effective property tax rate for owoecupied properties, and health benefit clegnfipr employees and
retirees that will save the City $20.0 million a year.

In Fiscal year 2014, the City implemented T¥ear Plan initiatives to further reduce the fiscal gap, including pension
changes for current and future employees, a new schedtilefighters, a revenue package, a Statndated stormwater
fee, a reduction to the real property tax rate and the discontinuation of retiree pharmacy benefits.

The Fiscal year 2015 budget reflected the implementation of mory &anPlan initiatives, nc | udi ng reduci n
compensation payment s, increasing parking revenulas, rec
addition to targeted savings initiatives, a number of the initiatives implemented in the Fiscal yeau@fdbwere
investments, including increasing the contribution to the budget stabilization reserve, increasing PAYGO capital funding,
increasing general obligation debt authority, and implementing a new pay schedule for professional employees to help with
recruitment and retention.

In the Fiscal year 2016 budget, key initiatives included an additional $9 million PAYGO capital contribution beyond the
$8 million baseline and the elimination of 280 General Fund positions. In Fiscal 2016, the City also iwegaie
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with 14 Rprofit institutions who will contribute a collective $6 million annually

for ten years beginning in Fiscal year 2017.

In Fiscal year 2017, the City continued to work towards implementingsastg intiatives identified under the Teviear
Plan. Infrastructure investments included blight elimination, street repaving, recreation center expansion, and information
technology upgrades.

In Fiscal year 2018, the budget contained additional initiatives toweghe efficiency of government, further reduce the
property tax rate for homeowners, make mach e ded i nfrastructure invedgetmrment s,
liabilities. In Fiscal 2018, the City contributed $9 million beyond the $8 million basaliR&YGO capital funding, plus

an additional $4.4 of oseme funding to comply with the Department of Justice consent decree for Police Department
reforms. The Fiscal 2018 budget also transferred 54 positions out of the General Fund.

To address the remmahg operating and capital shortfalls, the T¥ear Plan calls for further healthcare benefit changes,
reforming the Fire and Police pension plans for new hires, launching an employee wellness program, and building reserves
to prepare for the next recessioro facilitate this, the City is currently in the process of selecting a new consultant to
refresh the current TeYiear Financial Plan, extend the plan out through a newdanperiod, and assist with developing

and implementing new initiatives thatga with the goals of the current administration. The refresh of the plan is expected

to begin by the end of Fiscal 2019

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE FISCAL YEAR 2018 ADOPTED BUDGET

The City has made significant progress toward fiscal sustainability over the past five years, but in spite of growing tax
revenue and reforms that f@Abent the curveodo on pension an
For Fis@l 2018, the Finance Department projected General Fund revenue growth of $56 million (3.1%) versus growth of
$76 million (4.3%) in the cost of maintaining the current level of City services and meeting legal requirements, resulting

in a $20 million gap.

On the revenue side, properaxtgrowth of close to $30 million is partially diverted to the Children & Youth Fund. Income
tax revenue is projected to continue on a strong trajectory, a'high ni ng househol ds become a
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population. On the expense side, the combined cost of a 2% employeefdivgtg adjustment plus pension and health
benefit inflation is $40 million. Compliance with the Department of Justice consent decree for Police Department reforms
is budgeted at more thad @ million.

The budget takes several steps to achieve a balanced General Fund budget.

To generate new revenue, the City will restart the traffic camera program (+$5 million net of expenses), expand municipal
advertising (+$1 million), seek reimbursement for the full cost of security and traffic control for Orioles and Ravens games
(+$1 million), and make demarshsed parking meter rate adjustments downtown (+$0.7 million).

To reduce costs, the City will limit eligibility for new public safety property tax incentives to employees who relocate to
Baltimore ¢$2.4 million), refinance the Coention Center Hotel loar%2.1 million), and rebid the employee wellness
program contract-$0.6 million). Also, the full cost of the street sweeping service will be borne by the Stormwater Fund,
saving the General Fund $2.6 million.

The Adopted Budgefor Fiscal 2018 shifts the priorities of City government, investing more in education and youth
development than police. Among the highlights:

1 Mayor Pugh and the City Council pledged $100 million over three years to help Baltimore City Public Schools
(BCPS) avoid mass layoffs and stabilize its finances until the Governor and General Assembly can consider
changes to school funding formulas recommended by the Kirwan Commission. The Fiscal 2018 installment is
$25.4 million, which the State has morethanmeecd . The Cityds share is funded
reduced contribution to the Budget Stabilization R
Starting in Fiscal 2019, the City 0 sainieramce of EffortMAOEPp n wi
increase.

1 Mayor Pugh also secured $5.5 million in new Highway User Revenue from the State to provide free student
transportation on MTA.

1  With $3.7 million in State and local fundirigfunding Mayor Pugh worked hard for intas year 6s Ge n«
Assembly sessioii the City will extend library hours across our 22 branches, with a focus on underserved
neighborhoods.

1 The voter approved Youth Fund will dedicate $11.9 million to evidebhased programs that help children and
youth sicceed.

T The Police Departmentdéds budget includes $10 million
decree with the U.S. Department of Justice, while at the same time reducing base funding by $5.5 million below
the current level of servicd&hese savings are directed to increasing support for City Schools.

1 City Schools was faced with a $130 million structural budget gap and asked the City and State for help. The gap
resulted from several factors, such as declining enroliment, the cosgsaniéng PreK and educating students
with special needs, growing employee pay and benefits, underutilized schools, and the cost of school
modernization. The City will provide more than $360 million of support to City Schools in Fiscal 2018, including
a $28 million MOE payment, more than $20 million to the school modernization fund, $17 million in additional

capital project funding, and school health and <cro
budget will total roughly $1.3 billion, ade up of state and local aid determined by formulas that equalize wealth
across Marylandés 24 jurisdictions. I n the counties

an exception because of the separation of schools from City govearimi€97.

1 Beyond its direct support for schools, the budget plan invests more than $160 million for children and youth
through recreation centers, afssrhool programs, maternal and child health, job training, libraries, and much
more.

In additontoi ncr eased investment in Baltimoreds youth, the Fi

1 ABi g b edpdwygréd garlmyeaans in commercial districts.
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T The B6More Bright initiative, upgrading all street
1 Installation of 25 more BikeShare stations throughout the City, doubling the number of bike stations.
1 Continuation of the Small Haulers Program, offering a centtatigted option at the Northwest Transfer Station

for commercial waste disposal in orderreduce illegal dumping and misuse of residential Citizen {fip

Centers.

1 $500 million in investments for the replacement and rehabilitation of waste water sewage systems to eliminate
sewer overflows and improve stormwater drainage.

1 Consent Decree inpmentation to expand officer training and modernize the police force through upgrades to
technology, record keeping, and strategic planning.

T Convening of the Civilian Oversight Task Force to pi

1 Support for the Mobile Integrated Health/Community Paramedicine program, which diverts frequent callers of
the Cityods 911 s y-ERheakthcdreofacititipspr opri at e, non

1 Continued support for the Saturday Safety Sweep program in which all fire sippremits visit every
neighborhood to install smoke alarms.

1T Programs that target preventative maintenance, such
tree pruning program.

1 Paying down the accumulated deficit in the Charm City Circulatod and save for bus replacement.
1 Fund Mobile Workforce Units to bring employment services to neighborhoods most in need of them.

1 Fund services in the Office of Civil Rights to reduce barriers to employment and ensure employers are following
wage laws.

The budget pl an supports Mayor Catherine E. Pughoés ©pr
devel opment, and is built around the following Outcomes

Thriving Youth and Families Vibrant Economy
Safe Neighborhoods Sustainable Infrastructure
Healthy Communities High Performing Government
Below are highlights of what the budget plan includes for each Priority Outcome
Thriving Youth and Families
Funding for Thriving Youth and Familiespg esent s an i nvestment in Baltimorebo:s
aims to promote lifelong learning, community engagement and partnerships, and reduce duplication of services for youth.

In Fiscal 2018, thesewestments totaling $360 milliamclude:

1 $25.4 million in bridge funding to help stabilize City Schools, the first installment of ayieere $100 million
commitment.

1 Per a new charter amendment, $11.9 million in funding for the Children and Youth Fund is dedicated to new
youth progams.

1 Funding for 41 recreation centers, plus two new centers under construction.

1 22 libraries, which now offer extended hours.
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1T B6More for Healthy Babies, whose maternal and chil d
percent sincehie initiative began in 2009.

1 Youth Opportunity Centers and the YouthWorks Summer Jobs program. YouthWorks partners with public,
private, and nomrofit organizations with the goal of placing more than 8,000 young adults in jobs that prepare
them for futue employment.

1 After school and youth enrichment programs that impact more than 30,000 young people and have been shown
to increase school attendance

Safe Neighborhoods
Creating and maintaining a safe city requires both-teng preventive measures atheé capacity for effective response
to crime, fire, accidents, and other emergencies. Fiscal 2018 investments in this Outcome total $888 million, including:
T $497 million for the Police Department, $s2Agorneymi | | i o

Sheriff, courts, traffic safety, and crime prevention activities.

1 $10 million in new operating and capital funding to implement the pending consent decree based on the
Department of Justice review of the Baltimore Police Department. The tuadinexpand officer training and
purchase technology to help the department monitor interactions between police and residents.

1 Installation of 6,000 new street lights in areas of the City where they will make residents feel safer
Healthy Communities

A cleaner city impacts public health (clean water, clean air, and safe buildings), as well as maintains a positive public
i mage in the eyes of residents, tourists and daily vis
a major sorce of dissatisfaction for residents. The budget plan includes $235 million in funding for this Priority Outcome;
highlights include:

1 Continued funding for municipal trash cans, which have reduced rat complaints, as well as 1+1 trash and recycling
collecfon, street and alley cleaning, graffiti removal, bulk trash collection, and business district cleaning.

T Funding for Abig bellyod trash cans in commerci al
cleanliness in these districts.

1 A smallhaulers program, offering a new waste disposal site to help reduce illegal dumping.

1 Investing in a strategy that will allow the Environmental Control Board to take action to reduce the number of
repeat sanitation violators.

T Bdmor e Beaut ietounohilizeaaluntéers totpromatei cheanliness and address sanitation issues in
neighborhoods.

Vibrant Economy

A Vibrant Economy leverages publprivatenon-profit partnerships; respects and supports diversity; and recognizes the
interconnectivity of heconomic factor§ investment, key economic drivers, workforce, quality of life, and infrastructure.
The Fiscal 2018 budget plan includes $160 million in funding in this Priority Outcome to support strategies that increase
the number of jobs, the emplognt rate, the number of visitors to Baltimore, and the diversity of economic sectors in
Baltimore. It also includes these investments:

i The continuation of the 20 Cents by 2020 Property Tax reduction plan for homeowners. The Targeted

Homeowners Tax Creditill reduce the average effective rate to $2.10 per $100 of assessed value, a $0.15 (6.6%)
reduction since Fiscal 2012, saving the average homeowner $300 a year.
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1 $11.6 million for workforce development initiatives targeted at Baltimore City residemtspl&n supports new
mobile job centers that will bring employment services into the neighborhoods where they are needed most. The
Mayordéds Office of Empl oyment Devel opment wil/ enr ol
Fiscal year 2016 enliment.

1 $4.4 million to support small businesses, with a particular focus on minority and female entrepreneurs and
technology startips. The Emerging Technology Centers (ETCs), Small Business Resource Center, Minority and
Womenoés Busi ne sice, aOdBaltniote Develdpment@brporation (BDC) will work together to
incubate hundreds of new businesses and attract and retain thousands of jobs in the city.

T $5.9 million for economic devel opment gawthjandiciedtee s t
jobs by | everaging public and private investment to
new jobs in business districts outside of downtown.

o

1 $8.4 million for arts and cultural institutions, which combined amrticipated to attract 930,000 visitors to the
city. 43,500 students will benefit from the free educational programming provided by the Baltimore Symphony
Orchestr a, Balti more Museum of Art, and the Walterd

Sustainable Infrastructure

Sustainable Infrastructure includes $792 in operating f
boost neighborhood investment. The capital budget also includes $1.1 billion in funding, including new funding for water
and wastewater system improvements, school modernization, recreation centers, library renovation, blight elimination, and
transportation projects. Operating budget investments include:

1 Maintenance and repair of over 120 playgrounds and 350 outdoor recreatiditedSaci
1 Repaving 60 lane miles of neighborhood streets.

T Proactive pruning for more than a third of the Cit)
emergency work orders and storm damage.

1 Expanded street sweeping and other stormmwagnagement projects that keep tens of thousands of tons of debris
out of the Harbor.

1 Building eight new miles of bike infrastructure to support the BikeShare program and replace car trips.
1 Support for blight elimination efforts that will leverage $80lion in private investment in targeted areas
High Performing Government

One of Mayor Pughoéts Five Pillars is Accountability ar
government. A high performing government adopts organizational cleemigencourages employee feedback and ideas;
utilizes technology and best practices to streamline processes; leverages public and private partnerships to assist in servic
delivery; constantly revaluates and refines its internal business functions to dre efficient and effective; and
encourages customer friendly service. The budget plan includes $144 million for financial, legal, information technology,
human resources, and other functions that support the delivery of services to residents. ThedMajledran those who

oversee these functions to be innovative in making their services moteffeative and helping operating departments

do the same. Examples of how support agencies are seeking to innovate include:

1 The Department of Human Resourseworking to revamp the civil service recruitment rules to speed up the
hiring process.

1T The Mayorédés Office of I nformation Technology i s mi
improving cyber security.

1 The Law Department is goingaperless to cut litigation costs and expedite responses to Public Information Act
requests.
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1 The Finance Department is expanding online bill pay options, which is more convenient for customers and brings
down the cost per transaction.

1 Departments acroity government are using Lean /Government process improvement and the Innovation Fund
to deliver better service. Success stories include faster development plans review, same day career center service
for ex-offenders, turning waste into revenue, andastining the asthma program intake process
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

The Mayor, City Council, and Board Bftimates
City of Baltimore, Maryland

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the-typsredsvities,
the aggregate discretely presented component units, each nmgjpoafd the aggregate remaining fund information
of the City of Baltimore, Maryland (the City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the

financial statements, which col | ec takslistedinthe tamenopconteste t he (
Management 6s Responsibility for the Financi al St at emen
The Cityb6s management is responsible for the preparat

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintemee of internakontrolsrelevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud.or error

Auditords Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these firdrstatements based on our audit. We did not audit the

Empl oyees6 Retirement System, the Elected Officials Ret
These funds represent 89% of the total assets, 88% of the net position, and 73¥\@rthes of the Pension and

OPEB Trust Funds. We also did not audit the Baltimore City Public School System (School System) and Baltimore

Hotel Corporation, which are both discretely presented component units. The financial statements of Baltimore City

Pulic School System, Baltimore Hotel Corporation and certain of the Pension and OPEB Trust Funds were audited

by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us. Our opinions, insofar as they relate to the amounts included

for the Baltimore City Pubdi School System, Baltimore Hotel Corporation and the Pension and OPEB Trust Funds

are based on the reports of the other auditors except f
our audit in accordance with auditing standards genyemattepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the
United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the auditrtoeztzonable assurance about whether

the financial statements are free from material misstatement

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected@dend on t he auditorés judgment, inclu
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers i nt er n aparatiorandtfair préesentatioe of thes/fimamdial stalementh e e n t
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness o0 Weekpnessnesudhioginrd An auditalser n a | |
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the fiatemehtst

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions

200 International Circle Suite 5500 Hunt Valley Maryland 21030 P 410.584.006( F 410.584.0061
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Opinions

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of the other auditors, the financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental adtieitissiness

type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of information of the City, as of June 30, 2018, and the respective changes in financial position and, where
apgicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America

Other Matters
Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 20, during the year June 30, 2018, the City ad&ptechment Accounting Standards Board

( GASB) St at ement No. 75, fiAccounting and Financi al Rep
Pensions. 0 This adoption resulted in a restateiedent of
respect to this matter.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United
and analysis, Schedule Bevenues, Expenditures and Encumbrances, and Changes in Fund Ba&aiget and

Actual Budgetary Basi$ Gener al Fund, Schedules of the Citybés Propo
E mp | o )Retiement System Plan, Maryland State Retirenagnt Pension Systeiin ERPS, Maryland State
Retirement and Pension Systénh. E OP S ; Schedul es of Empl oyer Contributioc
Plan, Maryland State Retirement and Pension Syst&fRPS, Maryland State Retirement and Pension System

LEOP S; Schedul e of Changes in Net Pension Liability (A
Retirement SystemSi ngl e Empl oyer Pl an, E | e-SingecEmpddyer Plan;i Sahedulé Ret i r
of Employer Contribution$ Single Enployer Plans; Schedule of Changes in the Net OPEB Liabilities and Related

Ratiosi Total OPEB Plant he Schedul e of tShae othetNgt®PEBRInbdifgmdNdtes mn at e

the Required Supplementary Information be presented to supplembastbéinancial statements. Such information,

although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Acctantitagds Board

who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic fistateialents in an appropriate

operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of Americanshstdd

of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management s responses to our inquiri
obtained during our audof the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on

the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or
provide any assurance

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise

the Cityds basic financi al statement s.,afddhheintcodusttry ni ng a
and statistical sectisarepresented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial
statements

The combining and individual fund financial statements is the responsibility of management and was derived from
and relates directly to the untiéng accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and
certain additional procedures, including comparargl reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing stanelaedsllyg accepted in the



SB & COMPA
KNOWLEDGE - QUALITY - C

N Y, 1L«

Q CLie SERV

United States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual fund financial statements is fairly stated, in
all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole

The introductory and statisal sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

Adjustments to Discretely Presented Component Einéncial Statements Audited by Other Auditors.

As part of our audit of the Cityds 2018 financial state
were applied to adjust the financial statements of the Baltimore City Public SchoemSysdiscretely presented

component unit of the City, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, including the restatement of certain 2018
financial statementsd beginning balances in the accomp
are appropriate and have been properly applied. We were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the
2018 financial statements of the School System other than with respect to the adjustments, and accordingly, we do not
express an opinioor any other form of assurance on the 2018 financial statements of the School System as a whole

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance witlsovernment Auditing Standardse have also issued our report datéarch 25, 2019, on our

consideration otheCi t y 6 s controlsowar finankial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to
degribe the scope of our testing of interigahtrolsover financial reporting and compliance and the results of that

testing, and not to provide an opinion on intec@itrolsover financial reporting or on compliandéat report is an

integral part of araudit performed in accordance wi@overnment Auditing Standardsn consi der i ng t he
internalcontrolsover financial reporting and compliance

March25, 2019
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SB & Company, LLC
Independent Public Accountants



MANAGEMENTGO6S DI SNOUWASISLYSSN(UNAUDITED)

Thissecton® t he City of CdmrehensiveoAnmud &inafciali Report (CARResents a narrative
overviewand analysis of the financial activities of the City for fiseal year ended June 30, B0We encourage readers
to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional information that we havefLimishrletter
of transmittal.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The assets of the City exceeded its liabilit¢ghe close of fiscal year 28by $3.7 billion (net posiion). This amount
includes $44.9million (restricted net position) and is ndtan unrestricted deficit of259 hillion. During the fiscal year,
t he Ci lnet @ositiorn ioreéased by $64.9million.

As of June 8, 2018, the G t y6s gover nme edmhited dndiny fusd balaanqeo @48.8emdllion. At the
close of the fiscal yeathe unassigned fund balance for the general fund$4&8.6million.

T h e <totdl lpnd term debt decasedy $.7 million, during fiscal year 208

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Governmental Accounting Staaidls Board Statement N&4 requires thatilization of dual focus financial reporting. The
purpose of this overview is to provide the reader with
under these reporting requirements.

The Ci tfinénsial slatemeénts compriderée components:

(1) Govenmentwide financial statemesgt
(2) Fund financial statements, and
(3) Notes to the basffinancial statements.

The report also contains required and other supplementary information including notes to the Required Supplementary
Information n addition to the basic financial statements themselves.

Measur ement focus refers to what is measured and repor
determines when a transaction or event is recognized in these funds. Undecrtte basis of accounting, most
transactions are recorded when they occur, regardless of when cash is received or disbursed. Under the modified accrual
basis of accounting, revenues and other financial resources are recognized when they become doszegtilalke that

is, when they become both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current period. Expenditures are
recognized when the fund liability is incurred with certain exception

Financial Report Layout and Structure

The total ecoamic resources focus is intended to determine if a fund is better or worse off economically as a result of
events and transactisof the period. This focus utilizes the accrual basis of accounting to record events and transactions
that improve (revenuessro gai ns) or di mini sh (expenses or |l osses) a
businesses. Until the advent of GASB 34, this focus was utilized by the public sector only to report on its business (self
supporting) activities

The current fimancial resources focus is intended to determine if there are more or less resources that can be spent in the
near future as a result of events and transactions of the period. This focus utilizes the modified accrual basis af accountin

to record incraseqrevenues or other financirspurces) or decreases (expenditures and otherfimpmess e s ) i n a f
spendable resources. For most state and local governments, this focus is their legally mandated accounting method and
with the incorporation of encumbregs (spending commitments), the arn#ized to determine adherence to budgetary
requirements.



Layout and Structure of the City of Baltimore Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
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Govenment-wide Financial Statements

The governmentvide financialst at ement s are designed to provide reader s
in a manner similar to a privatector business. Thig&ion contains the StatemaritNet Position and the Statement of
Activities.

The Statement of Net Positionegpe e nt s i nf or mati on on al | of the Cityods a
the two reported as net position. Over time,@ases or decreases in pesitionmay serve as a useful indicator of whether
or not the financial position of theity is improving or deteriorating.

The Statement of Activities presents information showin
year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlyingigirentise to thechange occu, regardless

of the timing of related cash flow3hus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will
only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods, such as, revenues pertaining to uncollectaddaxpenses pertaining

to earned, but unused, vacation and sick leave.

Both of the governmenwide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported by taxes
and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from @ihetions that are intended to recover all, or a
significant portion, of theicosts through user fees and des (businest/pe activities). The governmental activities of

the City include general government, public safety and regulation, conservatigalth, social services, education, public

library, recreation and culture, highway and streets, sanitation and waste removal, public service, economic development,
and interest expenses. The busirtgpg activitis of the City include wateisewerand stormwaterutilities, parking

facilities and several other fee supported activities.

The governmentvide financial statemesinclude, not only the City itself (known as the primary government), but also
the legally separate activities of the Baltimore City Public School System and the Baltimore Hotel Corporation. Summary
financial information for these component units are reggbseparately from the financial information presented for the
primary government itself. The Baltimore City Public School Sygiegpared its own financial statements, which are also
prepared in conformity with GASB 34 and audited. The Baltimore Hotgd@ation prepared its own financiaghtements

in conformity to FASBand audited



Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements are designed to rapfotmation about groupings of related accounts which are used to
maintain control over resotes that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state
and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance withrefatadcdegal
requirements. All of the funds of the City can bigided into the following three categories: governmental funds,
proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.

Governmental funds

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the
governmenwidef i nanci al statement s, i . e., most of the Cityds
statements, however, focus:@h) how cash and other financial assets can readily be converted to available resources and

(2) the balance left at yeand that are available for spending. Such information may be useful in determining what
financial resources are available in the near future to
is narrower than that of thgovernmentwide financial statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for
governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in the govemideriinancial
statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the lenrgm i mpact of the Cityds ne:
Both the governmental fund Balance Sheet and the governmental fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes
in Fund Balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison betweemgeental funds and governmental
activities.

The City maintains several major governmental funds (general, grants revenue, and capital projects). Information is
presented separately in the governmental fund Balance Sheet and in the governmental fonechtSeétRevenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances for theses major funds. Data from the remaining governmental funds are
combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of #m@ajoolgovernmental funds is
provided in the form of combining statements as presented in supplementary information herein.

Proprietary funds

Proprietary funds are generally used to account for services for which the City charges custaitiees outside
customers, or internal units oeglartments of the City. Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from
norroperating items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services in connection with the
fundds princiopal ongadi nog eorpaetriantgi ornesv.e nTuhees porfi nchiep Ci t yods
chages for customer services including: water, sestermwaterparking fees, commercial and industrial rents, printing
services, vehicle maintenance fees, telecommunication, central post officeeieegy conservatiomnd building
maintenanceOperating expenses for enterprise funds and internal service fundeitieurbst of services, administrative
expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reperted as non
operating revenues and expenses. Proprietary funds provide the same type of information &s tfleogovernment

wide financial statements.

The City maintains the following two type$ proprietary funds:

9 Enterprise fundsire used to report the same functions presented as busipesactivities in the government
wide financial statements. Enterpre f unds are used to account -typeor t he
activities and include watesewerand stormwatenjtilities, and parking facilities, all of which are considered to
be major funds of the City, and several other-n@jor fee suported activities.

1 Internal Service fundare used to report activities that provide supplies and service for certain City programs and
activities. The City uses internal service funds to account for its fleet of vehicles, printing and mail services,
telecommunications servicesenergy conservation andbuilding maintenance Because these services
predominantly benefit governmental rather than busihgss functions, they have been included within
governmental activities in the governmavitle financialstatements. The internal service funds are combined
into a single, aggregated presentation in the proprietary fund financial statements. Individual fund data for the
internal service funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere aptis r



Fiduciary funds

Fiduciary funds are used to repoét positiorheld in a trust or agency capacity for others. These resources cannot be used
to support the Cityds own pr ogrwaefmancahsthtements. Tikiott y d e ffliedt @
funds are comprised of pension trust, OPEB trust and agency funds.

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements

The notes to the basic financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the
data preided in the governmeswide and fund financial statements.

Required Supplementary Information

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report presents certain required supplementary
informatons uch as the general fund budgetary basis financi al
liability and investment return ratios, andtbe t y 6 s pr o g r etlespostempldyruent tenefity obligatien.

GOVERNMENT -WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (Primary Government)

The Cityds fi narmraqilemaled irs toafdrraitynwith tthe repodimg model required by Governmental
Accountirg Standards Board Statement 184.(GASB 34), Basic Financial Statemenita nd Management 6s D
andAnalysis (MD&A) i for State and Local Governments. The report includes prior fiscal year results for the purpose of
providing comparativéinformation for the MD&A.
CITY OF BALTIMORE
Net Position
For fiscal year 2018 and 2017

(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Governmental activities Business-type activitie! Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Current and other assets éééééééééé&SHeriBRAP $18@3@eE7éS 1,085,223 $1,107,526 $ 2,468,442 $ 2,411,393
Capital assets, net ééééééécéeeeééééééce BAEBLE 8858632 5151609 4,726,742 8,263,454 7,880,374
Total assets ééééééeéeééééeééeeeeéééédanmpEd . 4457499 6,236,832 5,834,268 10,731,896 10,291,767
Deferred outflows of resourceséééééééappRré é bl Essé é £16,833 139,434 461,049 640,617
Total assets and deferred outfl ow839280 4988682 u 6,353665¢ &O3,E02 6 KIAE 945 10,932,384

Long-term liabilities outstandingéééEl3¥agsé 88485 ¢ée4588ré. 2401578 5,786,616 5,744,530

Other liabilitiesééééééééééééééééééédérrBsdeeéérslis 439,955 325,212 1,624,947 900,326
Total liabilities éééééééééééééééédnrrse égns066 2898826 2,726,790 7,411,563 6,644,856

Deferred inflows of resourcesééééééééésosseééaoneéééelso 17,859 41,502 81,951
Total liabilities and deferred i n4552089s 3982158 e290@),076 c 27446406 E76183065¢ . 6,726,807

Net position:

Net investment in capital assets 2,574,640 2,528,116 3,383,394 2,981,404 5,958,034 5,509,520

Restrictedéééébedeébebeceebedeceetedsesdssss 400063 161,308 162084 644931 562,147
UnrestrictedébébéééebedeébedetebessdsRenor) (1,951,655  (92,013) 85565 (2,863,085) (1,866,090

Analysis of NetPosition

As noted earlier, netpositatnay ser ve as a useful indicat orassetfsextehded Ci t y
liabilities by $3.7 billion at the close offiscal year 208. The Cityod scludeeits inyesinenttof o n

$6.0 billion in capital assets (e.g.,nd, buildings, and equipmentgss any related outstanding debt used to acquire those
assets. The City uses these capital assets to preefdiees to citizes) consequently, these assets are not available for
future spending. Although the Cityés investment itn its
the resources needed to repay this debt must be provaadther sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be
liquidated for these liabilities. An additionplor t i on o f t h e $6£&i9mifiod, gepreserits rgsaursds that o n

are subject to external restrictions on how they may be usedeiriaéning balance is a figt in unrestricted net position

of $2.9 hillion.



CITY OF BALTIMORE
Changes in Net Position
For the fiscal years 2018 and 2017

(Expressed in Thousands)

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Revenues:
Programrevenues:
Charges for services é6é6é6866HEIGAHE6163151 $ 579201 $ 528203 $ 690,355 $ 631,354
Operating grants and contribu344hs 8l6846écéééce. 324,457 344,684

Capital grants and contributi o4h095 é¢ééE3EEE é¢é 4GA%. 217,959 210,249 301,460
General revenues:

Property taxes éé6é6é6éééééééééc @BOMEé. . 853197 886,417 853,197
Income taxes é6é6é6éb6é6ébébéééeHEnmd 335,923 346,797 335,923
State shared revenue ééééééééelFedn éé é89,022 170,240 159,022
Transfer and recordation tax ¢89B08éécédpLBEEE. 89,298 90,420
Electric and gas tax ééééééééé&B438ééé /B0 42,438 37,950
Telecommunications tax ééééééé8EMEEEE 84425 32,799 34,425
Admi ssion éééééééééééééééeéeeéeéson 9,051 8,924 9,051
Ot her éééééécéééééeceeeeéeceéé. 16698 122,589 5,535 3,849 172,521 126,438
Total revenues 6éééééééééééééLidihe. 2173913 753,890 750011 2,974,495 2923924
BExpenses:
General government ééééééééédédandnnsdeeéé49415 404,025 249,415
Public safety and regulation e480écéms@ecéeé. . 781,830 764,040
Conservation of health éééééeéélsardldéé adpsa 134,743 119,811
Social services ¢ééééééééecéeeeérbamméé. 120,630 95,107 120,630
Education ééééééééécéeéeéééeeeeésn3n’s 278,881 383,934 278,881
Public library ééééééééeééeééecénxigne 34531 35,189 34,531
Recreation and culture éééééeééBrndrééessdds 59,049 58,124
Highways and streets ééééééeéséelessan éé éed,147 165,800 169,147
Sanitation and waste removal ¢é848/@écééeaeeeéceé 81,877 76,638
Public service ééééééééééééeéeénpméé 53188 50,052 53,188
Economic development éééééééééritdeeééls3sy 131,347 133,594
Interest 6é66é666666666666666666641530 28,857 77,530 28,857
Water ééééééééécééééééceegeééée. 147,289 167,667 147,289 167,667
Wastewater ééééééééééééceeeéééce. . 207,730 193,055 207,730 193,055
Stormwater éééééééééébédédédédéd. . 26,175 21521 26,175 21,521
Parking éééééééééeéééééeéeééééé. . 17,797 27,939 17,797 27,939
Nonmajor proprietary éééééééeéééecéecéésd. 10,087 13,703 10,087 13,703

Total expenses ééééééeééédéééuedge. 2086856 409,078 423,885 2,809,561 2,510,741

Decrease in net assets befor gl79878 ns {88057 & é 6384842 é é €326,126 164,934 413,183
Transfer:

Transfer in (out) éééééééeéeééedpRBeeé&d20%5 (59,295) (62,095)
Change in net position ééééééeééqresdeéeécurs? 285,517 264,031 164,934 413,183
Net position - beginning, as res#0dfied 8HFEREEBAFTARE é 2965022 3,574,946 3,792,394
Net position - ending ééééééééénsérsserdée®wmesds $ 3452680 $ 3,229,053 $ 3,739,880 $ 4,205577




Analysis of Changes in Net Position

Theoverallhcr ease i n t hemdited o $64.9millen durmefiscal tydar®@. This changes explained
in the governmet and businestype activities discussionelow.

Expenses and ProgranRevenues Governmental Activities (expressed in thousands)
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[. Expense $404,025 781,830 134,743 95,107 383,934 35,189 59,049 165,800 81,877 50,052 131,347 77,530
™ Program Revenue $155,364 48,770 95,111 47,036 16,812 8,564 39,903 10,546 7,279 47,321
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Governmental Activities

During the current fiscal year, expense related to governmental activities amountd killin; this is more than
revenues by $30.0million. Total revenue of $2 billion is comprised of program revenues total@J6.7million, which

is 21.4 % of total revenue

Program

revenues

ar e

t he

princiopal

dtlobur c e

and eonomic development activitie®ther major activities including public safety and regulation, as well as the highways
andstreets program, are primargypported by general revenues. A more detailed analysis of the governmental activities

IS

di

scussed in t

he

iFi

nanci

al

During fiscal year 208, governmental revenue increased B%.$ million.

Anal ysi s

of

t he

Cityobs

Governmental expensescieasd by $313.6million during fiscal year 208. This ircrease is primarily attributable to
increass in general governmengducatiorandinterestby $308.3million.

Expenses and Program RevenuédsBusinesstype Activities (expressed in thousands)
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$178,367
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Businesstype Activities

Businesgypeactivities ae presented aftadjusments to reflect the consolidationinfernal servicedndactivities related
to enterprisefunds.Ch ar ge s
During the current fiscal yearevenue from businedgpe activities totaled 0.1 million. Expensedor these activities
totaled $05.3million along withcapitalcontributionsof $165.4million, income earnedf $344.9million and net transfer

out of $9.3million and resukd inan increase in net positiai $285.6 million.

for

Sser vi
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represent

t h e-tygeragdtivities. p a |

Operating revenueséreased by 37.3million in fiscal year 208 in the WaterWastevaterand StormwateUtility Funds.

Capital assets increased b4248.9million in the businessype activities primarilyas aresultofthat i | i t i es

to build environmentallgound facilities.

The City implemented a new Water and Stormwater billing system during fisca@&@r As with all new system
implementationsprocess improvements are still being deped One issue that remained at year end necessitated The
City to estimate billings. The estimaties 2018were prepared on a conservative basis and the actual bills may be larger
than projected.

F
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TYdS FUNDS

As noted earlierthe City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with -fielateg legal
requirements.
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Governmental Funds

The focus of the Cityds gover nme-tetmanflows, autflows, andsalances op r o v i
resourcestat are available for spending. Such information i
particular, an unreserved fund balance may serve as a u
the end of the fiscal y&. Types of major governmental funds reported by the City include the general fund, grants revenue
fund, and capital projects fund. Data from the remaining governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated
presentation as other nonmajor funds.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Comparative Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds
For the Fiscal Years 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Thousands)

Variance
2018 2017 Amount

Revenues:

General fund:
Property t axes éééééééééeeéeéeceeeéecéees 884,410 $ 847,095 $ 37,315
Il ncome t axes ééééécééééécéceeeéeéeceeeéeééexnm®™eé. . 334,851 11,946
Ot her l ocal - t axes ééééécééeéeéeéeeeceeeéedarnadne é é axgear (53,451)
Tot al Il ocal t axes ééééeécéééé. . éé a,406408 ¢ ¢ép4aesd3 (4,190)
Licenses and permitsééeéeéeéeeececeee 41,043 44,450 (3,407)
Il nterest , rent al s, and ot her i nves 71@eln t i2h0820 me B, 8@
Feder al grant s éééececeeececeeeecec 79 480 (401)
St at e grant s ééééééeececeeeeceeeeeecec 104,644 105,705 (1,061)
Ot her ééééécééeéeécéeceeeceeeeeeeceeeeeee 216,312 206,478 9,834
Tot al revenues-gener al fund €éééeBshe é éEWMREMWE & é é .6,764

Other governmental funds:

Gr ant s revenue fund ééééeeéeeéeéeéeeéeceé 233,957 226,145 7,812
Capital projects fund eéééécéeééééééé bBRHESE EEECIORIBE (43,468)
Ot her funds eéééeécéceéeéeeeceeeeeeeceeé 56,090 47,068 9,022
Tot al revenues ot her gover nmen t382l066f u n AF700¢ é & €26,634)
Tot al revenues al | governmen 2,147,618 2,167,488 (19,870)

Expenditures:

General fund:
Gener al government éééééceécéeéeéeeeceeeééeéedshense é é e49,579 (93,973)
Public safety and regul ation éé 766,230 730,093 36,137
Conservation of healt h €éééééééééeéé85oaxece e rlaae 16,766
Soci al services eéééeééééeéeéeeéeeéeeéeééc 59,899 86,353 (26,454)
Education éééééécécéééeéeceeeéeéeeceeeeceé 293,355 276,324 17,031
Public l'i brary eééécéééééécceeééeéééééessexeéé. 24812 (307)
Recreati on and cul ture Eééééecéééééé axsdx é é é a4é3e2¢ . (547)
Hi ghways and street s Eééécececeécééceééééé Oxsaa ééé ashbir. 3,311
Sanitation and wast e removal éééeéeéeeBse é ¢é é72,886 é é é €3,004
Public service ééééécééécececeécéeéeeceeeééédrnencéeée 44,769 (2,190)
Economic devel opment éééééeeeeceeeé 41,634 34,276 7,358
Debt service éééééécécéecéceéeeéeeeceeéeeeééééoseslx. . 104,006 (9,293)
Tot al expenditures - gener al f 4,7m36l2468 é é16785¢1@3¢€ é é ¢48,558@)

Other governmental funds:

Gr ant s revenue fund éééeeéecéeéeeeeeé 221,811 218,716 3,095
Capital projects fund eééééééééééé érBemE é ¢é elBbLEFE 31,870
Ot her funds eéééeécéecéeéeéeeeceeeeeeeeeé 41,857 34,101 7,756
Tot al expenditures ot her gov 450,209 407,488 42,721
Tot al expenditures al | gover 2,186,455 2,192,891 (6,436)

Exces s
Other financing sources:

of expenditures over revenuEEds887 é & e(B5a1E3F € & €18,434)

Transfers in éééééeééeceeeeceeeeceeece 252,168 192,331 59,837
Transfers out éééecéeeééeééceeeeéécecéce e e aedaiedby €. (132,042 (62,423)
Proceeds from bond issuances Eéééééééééééqangmde e é 03,750
Ref unding of bonds ééééeécéééeéeeeeceéeeeeeééeéqxyrin 377,111
Capital Projects Fund:
Transportation revenue bonds EEeRAOPAE € € € & & é é é é é14,924
Payoff of bond anticipation not (0,148 ¢ € € € € € ¢é ¢é ¢é 6668
Ref unding of obligation bonds €156 € € € € € € é é é€(@33,560)
Capital | eas es éééeéeeeeeeeeeeeé 29,618 29,618
Ref unding of capital |l eases (4,563) (4,563)
Premi um on gener al obligati ol 35,923 35,923
Face val ue of funding and r e f u n225,185g g eh9e7r al 228,M8
Tot al ot her financing s our c el§50%2¢é é ¢é 88,835 ¢ é é 8217
Net changes in fund bal ance sl26@Eé é é éa3,432¢ é é &2,783
Fund bal ances - beginning, as r 722,554 659,122 63,432
Fund bal ances - ending ééééééeéeéeées 848,769 $ 722554 $ 126,215
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Revenues for governmental functsooverall totaled approximate§2.1 billion in the fiscal year endedune 302018,
which representa decreaseof 1.0% from the fiscal year ended June 30, 2Expenditures for governmental functions,
totaling $.2 billion, decreased by approximatey3% from the fiscal year ended June 30, 20 the fiscal year ended
June 30, 208, expendituredor governmatal functions exceeded reverine$38.8million or 1.8%.

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of thg. Gevenue in the General Fuindreased 6.8 million as compared
to fiscal year 201. The total expaditures for the General Fundateased by 49.1million, or 2.75%,compared tdiscal
year 207.

At the end of the current fiscal year, the unassigned fund balance of the GenenabB#héi3.6 million, while total fund
balance was&L1.1milion. The f und bal ance i n t h by$¥bi3miliod durinGthenfiscal gehr. Fu n d

The Grants Revenue Fund is used to account for the spending of various Federal, State amaigmese grant funds.

Most of these grants are funded on an expenditure reimbursement basis and the application of GovernmentafjAccountin
Standards Board Statement B®rules on revenue recognition results in yeayear fuctuations in the funtalance due

to timing and collectability. Should any portion of the grants receivable be determined uncollectable, the balance may be
written off against the General Fund.

Proprietary Funds

TheCi t y 0 s -typaiastivitiegpsos to allocation of interrleservice fund activitiesire comprised of the funds listed
below. The nonmajor funds include thelustrial Development Authoritgnd Conduit Fund.

(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Water, Wastewater an
Stormwater Utility Funds  Parking Facility Fund ~ Nonmajor Other Funds
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Operating revenues éééééééééé &édebl®merdle05.$ 85257 $ 88454 $ 28639 $ 11,744
Operating expenses €éé6éééééééeéé BEbE3e e a3, 11,816 12,938 8,417 13,788
Operating income (loss) ééééééétldnseéé 8EaBEEE.73441 75,516 20,222 (2,044)
Non operating revenues (expenses), capital
contribution, and transf €34878 é eIBBEIE é é BRHE) é é @E56) (1,838) 2,370

Change in net position éééééés 252060 $ 262573 $ 8165 $ (1,0800$% 18384 $ 326

As discussed in the Businelsgpe activities section, the/ate and Wastewater Utilities Fund experienced operating
revenudncreasesn fiscal year 208. Thesdncreasesire attributable toate increases implemented in fiscal year@01
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General Fund budgetary highlights

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Encumbrances
and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Budgetary Basis - General Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018

(BExpressed in Thousands)

Variance with Variance with
Original Budget Final Budget
QOriginal Final Positive Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)  (Negative)
Total revenues 8QEEEEEELEEEREEEREeereetralbenn $ 1,79%6098 $ 1793414 § (2681) §  (2,684)
BExpenditures and encumbrances:

General government é66ééé66666666666646E¢84ERE0 346,266 323312 22,954 22,954
Public safety and regulationééééeéééddndmoeesednom . 746114 6,885 6,885
Conservation of healthéébéééééééedéeedrdres. 33552 43,047 (9,495) (9,495)
Social serviceséégéebeécceecbeecdeedéeéeql. 2910 2,564 346 346
Educationééééédééidééiéééiéediéedtée. 301638 301,638 291,637 10,001 10,001
Public libraryéééééééécdbéécdeécbéécdéeqrnt 27,021 22,446 4,575 4575
Recreation and cultureéééééeébécéebéccagmpeée 48285 43,089 5,196 5,196
Highways and streetseéébééébéeéééccéécrpmes. . 126644 110,408 16,236 16,236
Sanitation and waste removal 666666¢6¢ée8MME 6 ¢ ¢ 8200 74,562 7,938 7,938
Public serviceéégéédgéedeécbeecbeecdeedrrs 41,758 35,361 6,397 6,397
Economic development ééééééééeééebbééeenpn. 59,533 50,022 9,511 9,511

Total expenditures and encumbranl@B23406¢ééa828408¢ ¢ 61,742,562 $ 80544 § 80,544
Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenditures

and encumbranceséééééééééééééeédqroll (27,008) 50,852
Other Financing use

Transfers inééfééédeéideéidedidédtédédsdninm 36,302 162,286
Transfers outééééééideéiéeeiéeetéeeté@andnd (121,304 (155046
Total other financing usesééééééé@x0dréeééssur 7,240

Net changes in fund balancesé@R8I8)%¢ééHABRONE 58,092

Fund balances ---- beginning é8866¢E6EEF4RBEEEEMMBBE 714803
Fund balances ---- endingéééééééedée @M ép82793 $  7728%

On a budgetary basis, revenue for fiscal yeai826taled 4.8 billion and expenditures and transfers totalédrillion.
The excess oéxpenditures and transfeoser revenuesesulted in a budgaty basis fund balance at June 30, 20t
$772.9million, an ircrease o$58.1million.
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Capital Assets

The Ci ttayadsets foratpgovernmental and busiftgpe activities as of June 30, Z)lamounedto $8.3 billion

(netof accumulated depreciatiorapital assets include land, buildings and improvesyenachinery and equipment,

park facilities, roads, stregtbridges, and library bookE.he t ot al increase i ntkebugentCi ty 6 s
fiscal year wad.9% (1.3% decrease for gvernmental activities arah9.0% increase for businesgpe activities) as shown

in the tablebelow.

Capital Assets, Net of Depreciation
For the Fiscal Years 208 and 201/
(Expressed in Thousands

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Land and other éééééé. é6é6éé $ 365900 $ 365356 $ 36920 $ 36920 $ 402,820 $ 402,276
Building and improvements . 875808 éé89&636 627482846 2,055905 3,594,034 2,954,581
Machinery and equipment ¢é 105,088 108,188 184,805 166,968 289,893 275,156
Infrastructure ééééééééééé 1547191 1579259 998,619 898,657 2,545,810 2,477,916
Library books éééééééééé. éééélsro éé 46,276 15,591 16,276
Construction in progress 202,275 185,877 1,213,031 1,568,292 1,415,306 1,754,169
Total éééééééééééééééééeé $3111,845 $3,153,632 $5151,609 $ 4,726,742 $ 8,263,454 $ 7,880,374

See note number 5 on capital assets.

Debt Administration

At the end of the current fiscal year, the City had tlwaé-termobligations outstanding of38 billion. Of this amount,
$526.6million was general obligation bonds backed by thefhith and credit of the City,39.2million was revenue

bonds for governmental activity at the Convention Center, the Convention Center Hotel, and transportation bonds, and
$2.2billion was revenue bonds relateddommercial business activitfhe remainder includes revenue bonds and other
obligations of City business and governmental activities.

During fiscal year 208, the City sold $81.9million in revenue bondxf which $166.9million were Maryland Water
Quality bonds.

The ratio of net generalbligation bonded debt to taxable valuation and the amount of bonded debt per capita are useful
indicators of the Cityds debt position for management,

FY 2018 FY 2017

Net general bonded debt (expressed in t h$040862Lnsd 415,78&
Ratio of net general bonded debt to net asl26s s eldt¥%

See note number 7 on long-term obligations.

As of June 30, 2@, the City had $30.1million in authorized, outstanding propgrtaxsuppated general obligation
bonds.This amount is reduced by neg¢strictedassetsan the Debt Service Fundwhich is part of the General Fund
beginning in Fiscal Year 20} of $111.5million for net taxsupported bonded debt o4#8.6million, which is equal to
approximatelyl.02% of the assessed valueppbperty (net of exemptionshhereare an additional350.5million in bonds
that are authorized, but unissued.

Economic Factors and Next Yearo6s Budget and Rates

The fiscal year 2019 budget submitted by the Board of Estimates to the Baltimore City Council proposed total
appropriations of $,499,279000 of which $1,882,800000 were for General Fund operations aRdyAs-You-Go
(PAYGO) capital.The City Council, after deliberations puesu to Charter requiremesand powes, made no reductions

to the total General Fundr other fund appropriationg.he property tax rates on real property and personal property
remainecht$2.248and %.62per $100 of agssed valuation, respectivelhelocally imposed and State ndated income

tax rate was8.2%. The Ordinance of Estimates was adopted by the City Courttgigned by the Mayor dday 2, 2018
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Fiscal 208 Budgeti Economic Factors

Economic activity remained strong during Fiscal 2018 and the nation, as well as the City, continued along with the second
longest period of economic growth in U.S. history. As of December 2018, the nation had enjoyed nine years and five
months of economiexpansion since the Great Recession ended in June 2009, rivaling the period from 1991 th&001

|l ongest period of continued expansion in our nationds
economic expansion cycle lasts abfive years, and so the threat of recession remained a central concern during Fiscal
2018, although it did not come to fruition. Against this maatonomic backdrop, the following key indicators guided the
Finance Department 6s ialstability: pépulation chartge nu@lbet of Hosisehbldsraadnimcome
composition, taxable returns and income, labor markets, and real estate markets.

U.S. Census Bureau population estimates made available during Fiscal 2018 indicated a net decreateaof 31206
residents between 2016 and 2017, whi cH alevelnotgxpdriencetiia Ci t )
the City since the end of the First World War. This represents the fourth consecutive year of population decline, with more
than 12,000 people leaving the City between 2014 and 2017. This trend remained aelangn t hr eat t o t he
and overall financial stability.

Contrary to the narrative about population decline, the City actually gained more than 4,000 heuseHolipercent,

between 2010 and 2016, reaching a total number of 242,416 resident families. Of these families, approximately 109,811,
or 45.3 percent, represent households earning more than $50,00€reasénof almost 13,311 or 13.8 perchhdreover,

the number of households earning less than $50,000 decreased by 9,200 or 6.5 percent over the same period. Significant
growth in the number of high income households came from those earning between $100,000 and $200,000, increasing
from 25,696 in2010 to 34,570 in 2016 an increase of 9,625 or 37%.

The U.S. labor market remained in what the Federal Reserve considers full employanamtemployment rate of less

than 5 percent. The Stateds averagewhhemphtbobegme&nt ydat eav
behind at about 5.9 percent, according to the Maryl and
has historically been two or three per cenwestgnemppyriemt s ab
rate since before the Great Recesspeocanf and a decrease f

The relatively low unemployment rate in Fiscal 2018 was accompanied by a positive narrative about the increasing labor
force and the capacityf t he Cityds | abor market to generate stabl e
Baltimore area. Data from the Bureau of Labor Statistics indicates that when comparing calendar years 2016 to 2017, the
City gained 5,900 jobs for a total of3700, representing an increase ofdeécent During this same comparison period,

the total number of labor market participants who are@igoresidents increased by 1.3 per¢émtm 295,002 to 298,837
individuals. This continued increase in our labforce and absorption of these workers by the job market during Fiscal
2018 was the reason for the Cityds | owest unempl oyment

The narrative of a healthy labor market was confirmed by the Income Tax Summary Report, released aninaally by t
Maryland Revenue Administration Division, which shows that during 2016 there were 199,446 taxable returns filed in
Baltimore City. This represents an increase of more than 3,000 total returns, or 1.6 percent versus calendar year 2014, even
as populatiordeclined during this same period. Interestingly (and perhaps expectedly), the composition of filers has
changed to reflect the household income composition discussed above. Of the total returns, 71,9p@&roens6
corresponded to individuals whose talesibcome was higher than $50,000. Moreover, Fiscal 2018 income taxes increased

by $19.9 million or 6.Jpercenf r om t he pri or year. This increase i s a re¢€
labor market.

In Fiscal 2018 the housing marketnmained relatively unchanged compared to the prior year. According to data made
available by the Metropolitan Regional I nformation Syst
slightly from $133,163 to $133,044, which does not wamreporting on a percentage basis. The City maintained progress

since the Great Recession, as Fiscal 2018 marked a plateau after three consecutive calendar years of average median pric
growth. On average, homes spent 10 fewer days on the market dudafZ€i&8 than during the prior year, decreasing

from 77 to 67 days. This average is 53 fewer days on market than the average experienced during the period between
Fiscals 2008 and 2012. The current average is less than that of tkectiigly period prio to the burst of the housing

bubble, when the average number of days on market was 82.

In Fiscal 2018 the City experienced its fourth consecutive year of real property tax assessment increases, after four years
of consecutive declines. The City has ngberienced any cash flow changes from real property texmost significant
revenue source that would suggest variation in the collection rate or decline relative to recent history. In fact, property
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tax revenue in Fiscal 2018 increased Bg.8million, or3.9%, versus the prior year. Additionally, transfer and recordation

tax revenue continued to support the thesis for a strong (and shifting) base of taxpaying households. In Fiscal 2618, receipt
from these volatile sourcéaswhich are directly affeted by real estate market activityremained stable, decreasing
modestly by $1.1 million or 1.percent However, growth has slowed substantially compared to the $21 million, 29.6
percentincrease from Fiscal 2015 to 2016.

To recap, the U.S. isurrently enjoying one of the longest periods of economic expansion ever, but the risk of recession
increases with each passing year of growth. Federal tax cuts in calendar year 2018 have added steam to the current
expansion, but macreconomic factors sicas trade tensions, rising interest rates, and a flattening yield curve are
providing significant (and strengthening) headwinds. It follows that short andenmd budgetary decisions must be
carefully considered in order to minimize the risks of the reghomic downturn

Request for information

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and creditors with a general
overview of the Cityds finances and t oitrdceives nifsypunaset e t h e
guestions about this report, or need additional financial information, contact the Director of Finance at the following
address:

Room 469, City Hall
100N. Holliday Street
Baltimore, Maryland 21202
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2018

(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Component Units

Primary Government Baltimore City Baltimore
Governmenta Business-type¢ Public Schoo Hotel
Activities Activities Total System  Corporation
Assets and deferred outflows of resources:
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ééééééééééééééceééepéélnNETEr s éEcmBERE S . 924268 $ 159,007 $ 2,981
Investments ééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééeeeééeéeénnas 528,325 234,396 44,777
Property taxes receivable, net ééééécééécécééccée2Igldéééecééécceéledss
Service receivable, net ééééééééééééééééeéécécécécécécéedr@e. . 132462
Ot her receivables, net éééééééééééééééeéeéééeeééeérnendéééédsan. 28,564 4,040 3,458
Due from other governments éééééééécééecéééccéersgXgcéeceés3dmwh. . 464382 39,201
Internal balances éééééééééééééééééeéeécéééécéc 43,860 (43,860)
Due from primary government éééééééééééééééécéééécéééecéeéeééceé. 6,360
Inventories, at cost éééééééééééééééeééééééeé 8,201 10,631 18,832 1,493 87
Not es and mortgages receivable, net ééééééééééEBWMRéEéE3BEM E & 858866 .
Ot her assets ¢ééééééééééééééééééeeeceeeeeeeceé 43,230 43,230 368 3,504
Net pension asset éééééééééééééééééédcéceeéeeeeecndpréeceé 10,020

Capital assets being depreciated, net of acc 263676t e 3901b6E8p r 6445j328t | 0710,927¢ é 18623

Capital assets not being depreciated ééééééééédRlagn éé gMpdbe é s BEBATE E. 42,712
Total assets ééééééééééééeééééécééeééeéééé ad3064. 6,236,832 10,731,896 1,198,504 241,130

Deferred outflow of resources:

Deferred amortization on early extinguishment of debt663®24¢&¢ééaEBMEcéeécéééééééé.

Deferred |l oss on bond refunding éééééééééécééééébaendééééerhPrbé éé @1B830
Deferred outflows related to pension ééééééééédledwd éé é &8 E3d ¢ é 889PElé é . . 41,920
Deferred outflows related to OPEB ééééééééééééétorsee ééé eliore éé é2é 86 9,193
Interest rate swaps ¢ééééééééééééééééééééeeeéééeédapasééé émn,s00 12,728

Total deferred outflows of resources ééééaldrleé éé 416838¢ é #461604% é . . 51,113
Tot al assets and deferred outflows of r e 48389280c e 6,358,668 & £1E182045¢ é 4249614 é é 241,130
Liabilities and deferred inflows of resources:

Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities éééé&B0DE7E éé EBRIRRK é ¢é 818 EB6 ¢ ¢ 6282,681 16,621
Accrued interest payable ééééééééééééééécéééééééadaus ééé apEses. 52,726 4,463
Unearned revenue ééééééééééééééééééeeeéeéeeéeééeeeepxoere. 22,627 2,968 2,047
Not es payable ééééééééécéécéééééééééééééééeccecceeeeeeeé 265,721
Due to other governments éééééééééééééééééeé 4,654 6,004 10,658
Deposits subject to refund ééééééééééééééééééeépaxiodntééééérréé. 25661 4,893
Estimated claims in progress:
Due within one year ééééééééééééééééééeééé 83,901 83,901
Due in more than one year ¢ééééééééééééééc 274,604 274,604
Revenue bond payable, net:
Due within one year ééééééécééééccééécééésé 17,302 75,225 92,527
Due in more than one year ¢ééééééééééééééc 386,828 2,296,103 2,682,931
Derivative instrument liability éééééééééééééééélranééé eadEéééad830
Long term debt payable:
Due within one year éééééééééééécééééeécéééé 42,869 349 43,218 12,838
Due in more than one year ¢ééééééééééééééc 728,476 3,240 731,716 84,147
Capital leases payable:
Due within one year ééééééééééééééééééeéeé 30,505 183 30,688 4,366
Due in more than one year ¢ééééééééééééééc 129,502 643 130,145 10,129
Compensated absences:
Due within one year éééééééééééééééééeééésé 45,656 5,447 51,103 5,167
Due in more than one year ¢éééééééééécééééc 110,972 9,713 120,685 42,106
Landfill closure due in more than one year 25,972 25,972
Net pension liability éééééééééééééééééééééééé Lo’ éé éansr0. 1,790,733 135,109
Net OPEB liability éééééééééeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeé 564,431 49,920 614,351 247,751
Ot her liabilities ééééééééééeécééééeééééééééésé 75,800 4,601 80,401 16,153 30,538
Total liabilities éééééééééééééééééeéééeéééaplR@Iéé 898826 7,411,563 793,415 324,283
Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows related to pension ééééééééééé308eéééédnndééé dnsse é. 9,081
Deferred inflows related to OPEB ééééééééééééééééééééeérldd ééé dad6
Total deferred inflows of resources ¢ééééééiDREEEERATHMEE é dre2 é. 9,081
Total Iliabilities and deferred inflows of4552@88 0 u29000% éR4BI06% é ¢ BBAIE é 82183
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets ééééééééééééLorpiéé 38E33MMeé é 8IS 642,159 (79,398)
Restricted for:
Construction éééééééééééééééééééééééééeéeéééééényds 8,448 33,851
Debt service, sanitation, and capital | e as e460,48% ¢é € eIBEIIDNE € ¢ 6 EHBEcéééécéé
Perpetual care:
Expendable éééééééééééééééééccéécéeééééééééééésloy 6,167
Nonexpendable éééééééééééééééééééééééééééééédpn 8,521
Unrestricted (deficits) éééééééééééééééeeééé (2,771,072) (92,013)  (2,863,085) (228,889) (3,755)

Total net position éééééééééecééeééeeééceésd e é:RIONS €8452689 $ 3,739,880 $ 447,121 $ (83,153)
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
(Bxpressed In Thousands)

Net (Expense) Revenues and Changes in Net Position

Program Revenues Primary Government Component Units
Baltimore
Charges Operating Capital Grants Business- City Public  Baltimore
for Grants and and Governments  type School Hotel
Functions/Programs Expenses  Services Contributions Contributions  Activities  Activities Total System _Corporation
Primary Government:
Governmental activities:
Generalgovernment . ...........ccovveiinin... $ 404025 $ 51,986 $ 103,378 $  (248,661) $ (248,661)
Public safety and regulation .................... 781,830 22,150 26,620 (733,060) (733,060)
Conservation ofhealth ........................ 134,743 7,223 87,888 (39,632) (39,632)
SOCIal SBIVICES . v v 95,107 47,036 (48,071) (48,071)
Education ... 383934 (383,934) (383,934)
Public brary ... 35,189 180 16,586 $ 46 (18,377) (18,377)
Recreation and culture . ...t 59,049 169 3,720 4,675 (50,485) (50,485)
Highways and streets ......................... 165800 9,216 1,537 29,150 (125,897) (125,897)
Sanitation and waste removal....................... 81,877 10,546 (71,331) (71,331)
Public SEIVICe . .. ... 50,052 55 7,224 (42,773) (42,113)
Economic development ..o 131,347 9,684 37,637 (84,026) (84,026)
[ 77,530 (77,530) (77,530)
Total govemnmental activities .............. 2,400,483 111,154 324,451 41,095 (1,923,777) (1,923,777
Business-type activities:
WLET . . 147,289 178,367 66,790 97,868 97,868
Wastewater . .. .......vvvviiiiiiiiiiiiaenn 207,730 258,386 102,364 153,020 153,020
StOrmMWater .. ..o e 26,175 28,552 2,377 2,377
Parking . ... 17,797 85,257 67,460 67,460
Nonmajor proprietary .. .......oovveiiiiiiiiieiaii 10087 28,639 18,552 18,552
Total business-type activities ............. 409,078 579,201 169,154 339,277 339,277
Total primary govermnment . ..........oovveeeeeieniiiinnns $.. 2,809,561 $ 690,355 $ 324457 $ 210249 $ (1,923777)$ 339277 $ (1,584,500
Component units:
Battimore City Public School System............. $ 1383698 $ 163 $ 165683 $§ 28861 $(1,193,991)
Baltimore Hotel Corporation ........................ 63,786 64,917 $ 1131
General revenue
Property taxes .. ... 886,417 886,417
INncometaxes . ......oovvviviiiii i 346,797 346,797
Transfer and recordationtax ..................... 89,298 89,298
Electricand gastax..........cooovvveeiivinnn. 42,438 42,438
Telecommunications taxX. . ......oovevveiiiiiiineinnns 32,799 32,799
Admissiontax. ........oovviiiiii 8,924 8,924
Otherlocaltaxes ........covvvivveiiiiiiiennnnn. 14,295 14,295
State shared revenues ................cooviinn 170,240 170,240
State, federal,and City grants .................... 1,195,034
Unrestricted investmentincome ....................... 28,296 5,535 33,831 4,396 135
Miscellaneous . ... 124,395 124,395 148,545
TranSterS ..o 59,295  (59,295)
Total general revenues and transfers ............. 1,803,194  (53,760) 1,749,434 1,347,975 135
Changes in netposition ..............coovvveien, (120,583) 285,517 164934 153984 1,266
Net position -- beginning (as restated) ................... 407,774 3,167,172 3,574,946 293,137 (84,419)
Net position --ending . ........coooiiiiiiiiiin. $ 287,191 $3452,680 $ 3,739,880 $ 447,121 $ (83,153)

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Balance Sheet
Govermmental Funds

June 30, 2018
(Bxpressed In Thousands)

Capital
Grants Projects Nonmajor
General Fund Revenue Fund Fund Funds Total
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . .. ...t $ 235,352 $ 12,556 $ 247,908
VESIMBNLS . . ettt e 515,389 $ 4,336 8,600 528,325
Property taxes receivable, Net. ... ... 12,483 12,483
Otherreceivables, Nt . . ... .o 24,281 325 1,300 25,906
Due from other gOVEIMMENLS . .. . ...ttt et ettt 79,233 $ 33,107 17,982 2,891 133,213
Due fromother fUNAS . ..ot 43,526 14,840 8,455 66,821
Notes and mortgages receivable, net . ... ... 269,942 269,942
INVENTONES, At COSt. ...\ttt e e e e e e 1,023 1,023
(0= 5 YT =1 19,760 19,760
TO Al ASSBES . vttt $...1200,989 $ 33,107 $ 37,483 $ 33802 $ 1,305,381
Liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund balances (deficits):
Liabilties :
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . ... $....207,699 $ 26,058 $ 16,350 $ 2111 $ 252,218
Retainages payable . . ... ..o 7,621 7,621
Estimated liability for claims in progress ... 83,901 83,901
Dueto otherfunds . ... 21,749 1,844 23,593
DUe t0 Other QOVEIMMENS . ...\ttt et e e 4,654 4,654
Deposits subject to refund .. ...t 25,646 25,646
UNEAIMEU TBVENUE . . . v ettt ettt ettt ettt et ettt et 18,027 4,600 22,627
Totalliabilities. . . . ..o 357,022 30,658 23,971 8,609 420,260
Deferred inflows of resources:
Unavailable propenty taxes. . . .....o.vuuu 18,611 18,611
Unavailable income taxes and other. ........ ... i 14,211 14,211
Unavailable grants reVenUEe. . ........ou it 3,530 3,530
Total deferred inflows of rESOUICES. ... ..o 32,822 3,530 36,352
Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. ...t 389,844 30,658 23,971 12,139 456,612
Fund balances:
NONSPENdabIE . . ... 2,210 2,210
RESTICIEA . . vttt e A236T3 8,448 14,688 446,809
AS SN . . e 221,658 2,449 5,064 8,794 237,965
UN@SSIGNEA . .o ettt et 163,604 (1,819) 161,785
Totalfund balances ... 811,145 2,449 13,512 21,663 848,769
Total liabilities and fund balances ............ ..o $....1,200,989 $ 33107 $ 37,483 $ 33,802
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of
net position are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported inthe funds . ......... . 3,001,264
Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current
period expenditures and, therefore, are deferred inthefunds ... i 377,706
Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost
of fleet management, energy conservation, maiing, communications,
printing, building maintenance, and risk management to individual funds.
The assets and liabilities of the intemal service funds are included in
governmental activities in the statement of net position ... 80,400
Unavailable revenue is not due and payable in the current period and , therefore,
is notreported N the fUNGS . ... .o e 36,352
Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the
current period and, therefore, are not reported inthe funds .. ... (4,057,300
Net position 0f GOVEIMMENTAI ACHVILIES . . . . .\ o\t v e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e $....287,191

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances (Deficits)

Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018

(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Capital
Grants Projects Nonmajor
General Fund Revenue Fund  Fund Funds Total
Revenues:
Taxes - local. ... ..o $..1,406,403 $ 12558 $ 1,418,961
State shared revenue . ... ... 146,174 24,066 170,240
Licenses and pPermitS .. ......oiie et 41,043 41,043
Fines and forfeitures . ... 27,085 27,085
Interest, rentals and other investmentincome................... 27,071 $ 270 955 28,296
Federal grants . ... 79 131,346 35,351 17,261 184,037
State grants ... ... 104,644 75,378 5,744 185,766
Othergrants . ... ...t 27 27,233 27,260
Charges forsernvices . ... 43,026 43,026
Miscellaneous . .. ... 20,654 20,654
Otherrevenue . ....... ...t 1,250 1,250
Totalrevenues . ... e 1,795,552 233,957 62,019 56,090 2,147,618
Expenditures:
Current:
General government . . ...t 155,606 26,490 26,756 208,852
Public safety and regulation . .............. ... ... .. .. 766,230 15,948 1,781 783,959
Conservationofhealth . ......... ... .. ... .. i 38,648 96,199 134,847
SOCIAl SEIVICES . ..ot 59,899 35,989 95,888
Education . ... e 293,355 698 35 294,088
Public library . ... 24,505 9,438 63 34,006
Recreationand culture . ........ ... 43,845 4,766 2,496 51,107
Highways and streets ..., 99,848 150 44 100,042
Sanitation and waste removal . . ... 75,384 373 75,757
Publicservice . ... 42,579 5,562 48,141
Economic development ........... i 41,634 26,571 52,808 10,309 131,322
Debt service:
Principal . . ... 51,466 51,466
INterest . ... 43,247 43,247
Capitaloutlay . ... 108,679 108,679
Capitallease . ... 25,054 25,054
Totalexpenditures .. ... 1,736,246 221,811 186,541 41,857 2,186,455
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures . . 59,306 12,146 (124,522) 14,233 (38,837)
Other financing sources (uses):
TraNS oIS N Lo e 185,535 27,601 39,032 252,168
Transfers QUL . ... .o (148,499) (23,714) (4,462) (17,790) (194,465,
Transportation revenue bonds ...................... ... 14,924 14,924
Refunding of general obligatonbonds. . ....................... (133,560) (133,560,
Payoff of bond anticipationnote . ...................... (60,148) (60,148)
Capitallease . ... 29,618 29,618
Refunding of capitalleases. . .................... ... ..., (4,563) (4,563)
Premiumon general obligation bonds .................... 35,923 35,923
Face value of general obligation bonds ................... 225,155 225,155
Total other financing sources (US€S) .. ... 37,036 3,887 141,919 (17,790) 165,052
Netchangesinfundbalance ............................. 96,342 16,033 17,397 (3,557) 126,215
Fund balances (deficits) -- beginning (as restated). ............ 714,803 (13,584) (3,885 25,220 722,554
Fund balances --ending . ... $ 811,145 $ 2449 $ 13512 $ 21,663 $ 848,769

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
(BExpressed in Thousands)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Net changes in fund balance -- total government al$ 126205
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of activities
the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation
expense. This is the amount by which depreci at (44R58)
Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not

reported as revenues in the funds éééééééécécécéésmus
Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial

resources and, therefore, are not reported as 184418
The net effect of the expense for recording the City's OPEB liability are not reported

as expenditures in the governmental funds ¢ééééeeamne

The net effect of the expenses for recording the City's pension liability from employment retirement
plans are not reported as expenditures in gove®1189)
The net loss of certain activities of internal service funds is reported with governmental

activities éééééécccecceéééééééceccecceéééééééececcceé o
Changes in net position of governmental activiti e$120583

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
State ment of Net Position
Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Thousands)

Enterprise Funds

Stormwater Parking Internal
Water Utility Wastewater Utility Facilities Nonmajor Service
Fund Utility Fund Fund Fund Funds Total Funds
Assets and deferred outflows of resources:
Current assets:
Cashandcashequivalents . ..................................... $....71,130 $ 113,624 $ 32,145 $ 7,553 $ 15,227 $ 239,679 $ 22,019
Accounts receivable, net:
Service billings . ....... ... ... . 56,668 68,043 7,751 132,462
Other................ . . 129 129 1,102 1,360 1,298
Due fromothergovernments . .................... ... i 20,145 60,000 80,145
INVENTONES . . . ... e 9,927 258 446 10,631 7,178
Restricted assets:
Cash andcashequivalents . ......... . ... ... ... ... ... ... 40,243 61,692 101,935
Notes and mortgages receivable . .. ...... ... ... ... . ... .. ... ... 2,460 2,460
Totalcurrent assets . ... ... ... 198,242 303,746 40,342 11,115 15,227 568,672 30,495
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 58,500 130,853 32,497 54,063 275,913 36,814
Due from other governments . . . . 73,531 177,493 251,024
Notes and mortgages receivable . .. ...................... 33,474 33,474
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation . . ................ 1,264,614 2,255,838 235,099 81,190 64,917 3,901,658 110,581
Capital assets not being depreciated 361,405 802,845 33,502 15,154 37,045 1,249,951
Totalnoncurrentassets . ...................... 1,758,050 3,367,029 268,601 162,315 156,025 5,712,020 147,395
Totalassets .. ... s 1,956,292 3,670,775 308,943 173,430 171,252 6,280,692 177,890
Deferred outflows of resources
Deferred amortization on early extinguishmentofdebt.............. 33,767 32,557 66,324
Deferred loss onbond refunding ... ........... .. .. ... 15,066 15,066
Deferred outflows related to pension ........ ... ... ... . i 10,547 9,608 1,256 622 22,033
Deferred outflows related to OPEB . . . . ... .. ... .. ... 831 795 198 86 1,910
INterest rate SWaPS . . . . . .ottt e e 7,290 4,210 11,500
Total deferred outflows ofresources ............................ 52,435 42,960 1,454 19,276 708 116,833
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources . .......... 2,008,727 3,713,735 310,397 192,706 171,960 6,397,525 177,890
Liabilities:
Current liabilities :
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . .. ....... ... ... .. ... ... 14,050 19,298 394 787 255 34,784 8,494
Accrued interestpayable . ........ ... 19,185 20,887 103 1,907 42,082
Deposits subjecttorefund . ......... ... ... ... ... .. .. 15 15
Duetootherfunds .......... ... ... . .. .. . .. .. 9,892 32,509 42,401 480
Due to other governments .. ... .. ... ...ttt 6,004 6,004
Compensated absences . ......... .. ... 2,434 2,618 249 146 5,447 1,019
Otherliabilities .. .. ... ... ... ... . 4,601 4,601
Accounts payable fromrestricted assets 90,756 121,504 2,399 6,686 221,345
Leases payable . . ... .. 183 183 16,266
Revenue bonds payable . ....... ... ... .. ... 21,058 40,805 1,092 12,270 75,225
General long-term debt payable . 349 349
Total current liabilities . . .......... ... ... ... ... ... .. ... 157,390 211,299 4,586 14,964 44,197 432,436 26,259
Noncurrent liabilities :
Leases payable . . ... .. 643 643 70,067
Revenue bonds payable, net . ............ .. . . . . . .. 951,358 1,236,046 9,439 99,260 2,296,103
Derivative instrument liability . .. ....... . ... . 10,909 17,693 28,602
Compensated absences .. ....... ... ... 4,667 4,060 798 188 9,713 2,623
Generallong-termdebtpayable . ............................... 3,240 3,240
Net pension liability .......... ... ... ... . . ... . . . . 57,715 52,578 6,871 3,406 120,570
Net OPEB liability . ... ... ... ... .. .. s 22,831 21,782 3,501 1,806 49,920
Total noncurrent liabilities . . . e . D . 1,047,480 1,315,109 23,849 116,953 5,400 2,508,791 72,690
Totalliabilities . .. ......... ... ... ... ... . . . 1,204,870 1,526,408 28,435 131,917 49,597 2,941,227 98,949
Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows related pension . e . .. 481 438 57 28 1,004
Deferred infows related OPEB . . ... ... ... .. ... ... .ottt . 339 807 1,146
Total deferred inflows ofresources . ............................ 820 1,245 57 28 2,150
Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources .......... 1,205,690 1,527,653 28,492 131,917 49,625 2,943,377 98,949
Net position
Net investmentin capitalassets . ................. ... ... . . . . i 871,921 2,130,618 255,097 23,796 101,962 3,383,394 24,248
Restricted for:
Debtservice . ......... .. .. 56,078 75,781 29,449 161,308
unrestricted (efiCit) . . . ... ..ot (124,962) (20,317) 26,808 7,544 20,373 (90,554) 54,693
Totalnetposition . ... ... .. .. ... .. $. 803,037 $ 2,186,082 $ 281,905 $ 60,789 $ 122,335 3,454,148 $ 78,941
Adjustments to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund activities related
to enterprise funds . . ... (1,459)
Net position of business-type activities . . ............................. $ 3,452,689

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
(Bxpressed In Thousands)

Enterprise Funds
Parking Internal
Water Utility Wastewater Stormwater Facilties Nonmajor Service
Fund  Utiity Fund Utilty Fund  Fund Funds Total Funds
Operating revenues:
Charges for sales and serviceséééeéééébéééccécebééécéce. $ 106,552
Water, sewer and stormwater service €é$éE466 &6 EBTBRE 6EWRS. 460,192
Rents and fees 6é666666¢66¢6666666¢666666666688% 389 199 $ 85257 $ 28552 114,702
Other income 6é6é6666¢66¢66666666666666666668406 124 90 87 4,307
Total operating revenues ééé666¢6éeééédleBReréeenB8a6. 28552 85257 28,639 579,201 106,552
Operating expenses:
Salaries and wages 6é6é66é66é66é666866¢ 38123 42,59 7,830 3,754 92,302 18,870
Other personnel costs éééééééééééeceecepElnsneeeetsns 4,663 2,268 41,780 7,984
Contractual services éé6é6é6é6666666666663F00¢6689167 6672 9015 116,640 45,666
Materials and supplies é6é6é666666¢66¢66¢6¢6668086¢6E0386 485 174 17,841 3,663
Minor equipment 6é6666¢66¢6666666¢E6¢E6¢E6E6666¢666%. 1,072 83 268 2,088 5,285
Postage and delivery services éeéé: 1,697
Depreciation é66é6ébébéseededédecéesd 34,457 53,067 4881 2801 1,157 96,363 13287
Program expenses 66éé6éépééébécbeécbécbeeddée. . 796 796
Ot her é6éé6eébédeedebébeeeededédececde. 46 46
Total operating expenses é66E6E6EeééédeElesnaeéetudes 24614 11816 8417 367,856 96,452
Operating income 6é6é6¢66666E6¢EE6EEEEECHIMEE 63671 3938 73441 20,222 211,345 10,100
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Loss on sale of investments ééééééééeeceeBpEceqiBe. . (950) (1,680)
Ot her é6éééégébébeededebésecdededesecée. . (1,952) (1,838) (3,789)
Interest income 6é6é6666¢66¢E6¢66666¢66¢6666666200. . 3299 362 6,485
Interest expense 6é6é6é6666666666666¢66¢086¢E(R1NEGE. (16780 (64 (5981 (44,341)
Total nonoperating expenses, net 6ééé(@%aeééqBBME 6 ¢ 4863  (5981) (1,838) (42,595) (1,680)
Income before capital contributions &0We t r d98Mf er 52,2856 é 6RIEE 6 6 48384 168,750 8,420
Capital contributions é6é666666¢E6¢E866666¢6ERTOREEADRSM 169,154 (4,000)
Transfers in 666666666886 e6EbebEeebébecdedesd. . 1,842
Transfers out 6é66é6¢ébébéeebébebdedesetesdeded (59,295) (59,295) (250)
Changes in net position 66é66é6é66é666¢E07THETEEEERESD. 2285 8165 18,384 278,609 6,012
Total net position - beginning (as rest7685(45d) Z03%80% é é QBEME 6 BXGR4E . 103951 3175539 72,929
Total net position - endingééééééédes e é00F08EE LARBOMER 281,905 $ 60,789 § 122335 3454148 § 78941
Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service activities related to
enterprise funds ééé66éé666é66é666666¢ (1,459)
Net position of business-type activities é66éé6¢ebbécbéébbecdée. $ 3452689

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances of Proprietary Funds
to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Amounts reported for business-type activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Net change in fund balance -- total proprietary f $ 278,609
The net expense of certain activities of internal service funds is reported with business-type

activities ééééééécééeceéeécececeéecececeeececeececeécecééédos.
Change in net position of business-type activiti $ 285,517

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Thousands)

Enterprise Funds

Stormwate  Parking
Water Utility Wastewate  Utility Facilties ~ Nonmajor Internal
Fund Utility Fund ~ Fund Fund Funds Total  Service Funds
Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from CUSIOMETS ... .. e $...192,112 $ 273,987 $ 28,133 $ 85,061 $ 28,639 $ 607,932 $ 103,770
Payments t0 €MPIOYEES . . . .. ... (61,055) (69,228)  (12,712) (6,682) (149,677) (26,348)
Payments to suppliers . ............ (41,055) (80,697) (6,846) (10,162) 321  (138,439) (55,820)
Net cash provided by operating activities . .................. oo 90,002 124,062 8,575 74,899 22,278 319,816 21,602
Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Transfers in ... ..o 1,842
TrANSTEIS OUL . . .ttt et et et e e e e e (59,295) (59,295)
Net cash provided (used) by noncapital financing activities .................. (59,295) (59,295) 1,842
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Mortgages receivable principal payments ............ ... ... . oo 4,556 4,556
Proceeds fromrevenue bonds . ....... ... 40,884 40,884
Proceeds frombonds anticipation notes payable . ............... ... o oo 1,404 1,404
Principal paid on revenue bonds . . ... ... (17,370) (20,855) (690) (11,490) (50,405)
Principal paid on State water quality 10aNS . ...........o e (1,071) (18,085) (365) (19,521)
Principal paid on generallong-termdebt. . ......... ... ... i (255) (255)
Payments on refunded debt .. (3,648) (852) (4,500)
INTEIESE TECEIVEM . . . . 2,824 3,298 362 202 6,686
INEEIESE PRI . . . . ..ottt ettt e e (19,646)  (15,028) 2,004 (7,531) (40,111)
Acquisition and construction of capital assets . ............c i (175,733)  (219,920)  (16,399) (1,013) (53,569) (466,634) (12,105)
Capital [ease PaymMeNtS. . . ...ttt (261) (261)
Capital contributions received . .. ... ... 71,872 83,590 155,462
Duetootherfunds ....... ... .o i 26,446 26,446
Net cash (used) by capital and related financing activities (139,124)  (150,025)  (14,701) (15,276)  (27,123) (346,249) (12,105)
Cash flows frominvesting activities:
Loss on sale of INVeStMENTS .. ... ..ot (584) (584)
Gain on investments . ... . (366) (366)
Net cash (used) by investing activities . ............. ..o (584) (366) (950)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ............................. (49,706) (26,329) (6,126) 328 (4,845) (86,678) 11,339
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year............. i 219,579 332,498 38,271 39,722 74,135 704,205 47,495
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 169,873 $ 306,169 $ 32,145 $ 40,050 $ 69,290 $ 617,527 $ 58,834
Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Operating INCOME (I0SS) . .. ..ottt e e $....50,073 $ 63671 $ 3938 $ 73441 $ 20,222 $ 211,345 $ 10,100
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
DEPreciation EXPENSE . . . ...ttt ettt e e e e e 34,457 53,067 4,881 2,801 1,157 96,363 13,287
Effect of changes in non cash operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivables . . ... ... 13,746 15,648 (420) (196) 28,778 (72)
INVENTOTIES « . .\ttt et e e e e e e (2,097) (20) 57 (2,060) 526
Deferred outflows - pension ... . 6,184 3,603 1,146 441 11,374
Deferred outflows -0peb . ... (831) (795) (198) (86) (1,910)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . . . ....................cooiiiiii. 54 (513) 115 (1,147) 17 (1,474) 517
Compensated @abSENCES .. ... it 310 132 350 792 485
DUE to (from) Other fUNAS . ... ..ottt 9,892 9,892 (3,241)
Deferred inflows - PENSIONS . .. ..ot (8,067) (7,554) (316) (840)  (16,777)
Deferred inflows -0peb .. ... oo 339 807 1,146
Pension liability - current period . . . .. .. (1,452) (1,206) (769) (54) (3,481)
Opeb ability . .. ..o 2,777) (3,373) (209) (139)  (6,498)
Due to 0ther governments . ........ ...ttt (9,829) 595 (9,234)
Otherliabilities .. ...... ... .. 1,537 1,537
Other noncurrent liabilities .. .......... ... i 23 23
Totaladjustments .. ... ... ... .o 39,929 60,391 4,637 1,458 2,056 108,471 11,502
Net cash provided by operating activities . .. ... $....90,002 $ 124,062 $ 8575 $ 74,809 $ 22,278 $ 319,816 $ 21,602
Noncash activity from capital and related financing activities:
New capitalleases . ... ... ... i $ 22,706
Acquisition and construction of capital assets financed by debt . 51,042 $ 35449 $ 522 $ 87,013
Increase in issuance of State water quality loans ................ ... o i 166,976 1,404 168,380
Total noncash activity from capital and related financing activities .......... 51,042 $ 202,425 $ 1,926 $ 255,393 $ 22,706

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2018

(Expressed In Thousands)

Pension/OPEB
Trust Agency
Funds Funds Total
Assets:
Cash and cash equIvalENts . ... ... o $..138812 $ 233 139,045
Investments:

SEOCKS . o ottt 3,367,680 3,367,680

BONOS .o e 1,021,831 53 1,021,884

ReEal EState . . . oo A72,807 472,807
Securities lending collateral . ... ... ... 144,899 144,899
Accounts receivable, net:

[ 1 3= 347 347
Forward foreign CONTIaCES . . . . ...t e e e e e e e e e 25,065 25,065
O N @S S OtS . . . . ittt it 102,344 102,344

TOtAl @S S OIS . . . ittt 5,273,438 633 5,274,071
Liabilities:
Obligations under securities lending program . ........ ... it 144,899 144,899
Forward foreign CONEIaCES . . . . ... .t et e e e e e e e e e e 24,852 24,852
ACCOUNTS payable . . .. 82,962 82,962
DUE t0 Other fUNGS. . . . oo e e e e e 347 347
[ 3 = 367 286 653
Totalliabilities . . . ... 253,080 633 253,713
Net position:
Net position restricted for Pensions and OPEB . .. ....... ... .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. i $. 5,020,358 $5,020,358

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
For the year Ended June 30, 2018
(Expressed In Thousands)

Pension/OPEI
Funds
Total
Additions:
Contributions:
BP0y O . . o oo $... 370,746
BN IOy Ee . . o e 97,763
Total CoONtHbDULIONS . . . .. e 468,509
Investment income:
Net appreciation in fair value of investments . . .. .. .. .. e e 323,122
Securities 1eNdinNg INCOMIE . . . . .. L. e e e e e e e e 9,575
Interest and dividend INCOME . . . . ... L e e e e 79,541
Total INVesStMEeNt INCOME . . . . .. .t e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 412,238
LEeSS: INVESTMENT EXPENSE . . . . ottt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 25,816
Net INVestmMENt INCOMIE . . . . . . e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 386,422
Total additioNS . . . .. Lo e 854,931
Deductions:
Retirement benefits . . . . . . . e e 392,533
Health benefits . . . . e 159,817
Death Denefits . . . ... e 720
AdMINISIratiVE EXD NS S . . . oot i it e e e e e e 8,638
L@ 1 1> 3,981
Total dedUCHiONS . . .. ... e e e 565,689
Changes in Net POSIION . . .. .. e e e e e e e e e 289,242
Net position restricted for Pensions and OPEB - beginning oftheyear........ ... .. . .. . . .. . . .. .. 4,731,116
Net position restricted for Pensions and OPEB -end ofyear ... ........ .. .. ... .. ... $. . .5,020,358

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Index to the Notes to Basi¢&inancial Statements
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to Basic Financial Statements

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
A. REPORTINGENTITY

The City of Baltimore (City) was incorporated under the laws of the State of Maryland in 1797 and operates under an
elected MayoiCouncil form of government. As required by accounting principles géna@epted in the United States

for governmental entities (GAAP), the accompanying financial statements present the City and its component units,
entities for which the City is considered to be financialycountableBlended component units, althouglgally separate
entities, are, in substance, part of the Citybés oeperati
column in the governmentide financial statements (see note below for description) to emphasize that ifysdepatate

from the City.

Blended Component Unit

The Baltimore Industrial Development Authority (IDA), an entity legally separate from the City, finances capital
construction projects, which solely benefit the City. The IDA is administered by a Bppainted by the Mayor and is
financially accountable to the City. This component unit is so intertwined with the City that it is, in substance, tlee same a
the City and, therefore, is blended and reported as if it is part of the City. The IDA is regmaeenterprise fund.

Discretely Presented Component Units

The Baltimore City Public School System (BCPSS) is responsible for elementary and secondary ediibatioine
Cityo6s | The BG83 receiveosignificant funding from the @ity isa financial burden to the Cityrhe City

is also required tpaycertain benefits to its employees. However, the BCPSS is legally separate from the City since it has
the authority and responsibility for all its system functions and the Governor of teeoSkaryland appoints a majority

of its nine member boardhe City, however, approves the BCPSS annual budigetCity adjusted the financial results

of the BCPSS to record the net pension liability attributable to BCPSS employees that participate iEthp | oy e e s ¢
Retirement System of ¢hCity of Baltimore (ERS&and the net other post employment liability (OPEB)jch are detailed

in Note 20.Complete financial statements for BCPSS may be obtained from the Chief Financial Officer, Baltimore City
Public School System, 200 East North Avenue, Baltimore, Maryland 21202.

The Baltimore Hotel Corporation (BHC) was incorporated on October 14, 2Q0&caprofit nonstock corporation, and

is wholly owned by the CityBHC is financially accountable to the City. The BHC assists the Mayor and City Council of
Baltimore on enhancing the economic development in the City by operating a downtown convetiioheadquarters
hotel and parking structure. The City has pledged certairspéeific occupancy tax revenue to pay shortfalls in hotel
operating revenues and is responsible for operating deficits.

Complete financial statements for BHGr the year engld December 31, 2@1may be obtained from the Director of
Finance, Baltimore City, 469 City Hall00 N. Holliday St., Baltimore, Maryland 21202.

Related Organizations

There are other governmental entities that provide services within the @Galtihore. While the City is responsibier

appointing the board members of these entities, the Cit
making appointments. The Cityods basi dthefi nanci al stateme

Baltimore City Foundation Live Baltimore Home Center

Lexington Market Healthcare Access Maryland

Visit Baltimore, Inc. Royal Farms Arena SMG

Baltimore Community Lending Family League of Baltimore City, Inc.

City of Baltimore Developmentorporation Hippodrome Foundation

Special Benefits Taxing Districts Community Media of Baltimore City, Incorporate:
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In addition, the Housing Authority of Baltimore City (HABC) isridered a related organization. The HABC is a separate

legal entity and is governed by a Commission of foiézens with staggered terms appointed by the Mayor. The
Commission estblishes the operating policiefthe HABC,which was implemented undtre direction of an Executive

Director appointed by the Commission. The HABC develops, maintains, and managestitwusing and administers
housing assistance payment programs primarily fThese t he ¢
activities are subsidized by the U. S. Department of Housing and Urban Development and other grantors. Consequently,
the primary government is not able to exert influence over or to impose a burden relationship upon the HABC. This
organization is nofinancially accountable to the City and maintains its own separate accounting systems.

B. BASIS OFPRESENTATION, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
Basis of Presentation

Governmentvide Statement3.he Statement of Net Position and that8menof Activities display information about the
primary government (the City) and its component units. These statements include the financial activities of the overall
government, except for fiduciary activities. Eliminations have been made to minimize the-coumieg of internal
activities. These statements distinguish betweeigdlvernmental and busineggpe activitieof the City. Governmental
activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange transsngsas. B

type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties.

The Statement of &tivities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for the different
businesgype activities of the City and fordac f uncti on of the Cityb6s government a
that are specifically associated with a program or function and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function
Indirect expense allocations that have been madwifunds have beeaiminatedfor the statement of activities. Program
revenues include (a) fees, fines, and charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered by the programs and (b)
grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting theatoges or capital requirements of a particular program.
Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, including all taxes, are presented as general revenues.

Net position (the amount by which assets exceabliliiies) are reported on thea&ment of Net Psition in three
components:

A Net investmenin capital assetsthe total amount of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced
by outstanding balances of bonds and other debt that are related to the acquisition or construction of those assets;

A Restricted for amounts when catrants placed on the npbsitionare either externally imposed, or are imposed
by constitutional provisions or enabling legislation; and

A Unrestricted the total net position which ésnot fit the two preceding categories.

When both restrictedandnr estri cted resources are available for use,
first with unrestricted resources utilized as needed.

Fund Financial Statementf he fund financi al stat ement s ndpgfinoludingditls i nf o
fiduciary funds and blended component units. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental and
enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column. All remaining governmental and enterprise funds are aggregated
andreported as nonmajor funds.

Proprietary fund operating revenues, such as charges for services, result from exchange transactions associated with the
principal activity of the fund. Exchange transactions are those in which each party receives andeggestiglly equal

values. Noroperating revenues, such as subsidies and investment earnings, result from nonexchange transactions or
ancillary activities. Operating expenses for the proprietary funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative
expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All expenses not meeting this definition are reportegpestimgn
expenses.
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The City reports the following major governmental funds:

GeneralFundT hi s is the City®6s pr ifonalfinancialpesouraes of thggerferalgavernmlertt, a c c
except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

Grants Revenue Fundhis fund accounts for revenues derived from governmental grants and other revenue sources that
are restricted by law administrative action to expenditures for specific purposes.

Capital Projects FundThe proceeds of general obligation bond issues, State construction loans, governmental and other
grants, and revenues from other sources appropriated for capital imprgeracquisitions and related programs are
accounted for in this fund, except for those accounted for in the proprietary fundAithesgh not required tdisclose

this fund as a major fuhper GASB34, management haseampto dsclose the Capital Prajes Funds as a major fund due

to its impatancein the financial statements

The City also reports nomajor governmental funds which are classified as Special Revenue Funds and Permanent Funds.
The Debt Service Fund was reported separately as a nongosj@mnental fund in previous yearsh& Debt Service
Fund was included as part of the General Fund.

The City reports the following major enterprise funds
WaterUtility Fund. This fund accounts for the operation, maintenance, and developmenCofthey 6 s wat er supp

WastewatetUtility Fund. Thi s fund accounts for the operation, mai nt
system.

Stormwater Utility FundThis fund accounts for the operation, maintenance, and development@f they 6 s St or mw.
system and infrastructur€his fundis a noamajor for fiscal year 201&however the City elected to show major

Parking Facilities Fund. This fund accounts for the operation, maintenance, and development of tuav@éy offstreet
parking facilities.

Although not required to report the Stormwater Utility Fund and the Parking Facilities Fund as major enterprise funds per
GASB 34, management has opted to disclose these funds separately.

The City reports the following other fungpes:

Internal Service FundsThese funds account for mobile equipment, reproduction and printing, municipal post office,
municipal telephone exchange, municipal communications, energgm@tion, building maintenance anardware and
software replacenm, which provided goods and services to other departments ongetobursement basis.

Fiduciary FundsThese funds account for assets and activities when a government unit is functioning either as a trustee or
an agent of another party, transactions related to assets held by the City in a trustee capacity or as an agent fey individua
private organizatiomand other governments. The fiduciary funds include the following:

Pension Trust FundsThese funds account for the receipt, investment and distribution of retirement contributions
made for the benefit of police officers, firefighters, elected officald other City employees.

Other Postemployment Benefits Trust Fufids fund accounts for the receipt, investment and distribution of retiree
health and life insurance benefits.

Agency Funds account for assets held by the City as custodians. Agateinfiinde:

A Unpresented Stock and Coupon Bonds account for principal payments held by the City for matured bonds not
yet presented for payment.
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A Property Sold for Taxes accounts for the proceeds of tax sales in excess of the City liens thancanaied
by the taxpayer.

ABi d Deposit Refunds account for bid deposits held

A Recreation Accessory accounts for assets held by the City for the benefit of recreation centers throughout the
City.

A Waterbo Summit accounts for assets held by the City as a surety deposit from a developer.
Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting

Governmentvide, Proprietary, and Fiduciary Fund Financial Statemen®he governmenwide, proprietary, and

fiduciary fundfinancial statements with the exception of agency funds, which have no measurement focus, are reported
using the economic resources measurement focus and are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are
recorded when earned and expenses recbad the time liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows

take place. On the accrual basis, revenue from property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for whichl¢aied. are
Revenue from grants, entitlements, and donati®nsdognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have

been satisfied.

Governmental Fund Financial Statemen@Governmental funds are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis afuating. Under this method, revenues are recognized when
measurable and available. The City considers all revenues reported in the governmental funds to be available if the revenues
are collected within 60 days after yeand, except for grant and entitient revenaswhich have a 90 day availability

period. Property taxes and interest emasideredo be susceptible to accrual. Expenditures are recorded when the related
fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general-lemg dét, claims and judgments, and
compensated absences, which are recognizezk@enditures to thextent they have matured. General capital asset
acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. Proceeds of gentzahlaefpt and acquigihs under

capital leases are reported as other financing sources.

Under the terms of the grant agreements, the City funds certain megby a combination of specific
costreimbursement grants, categorical block grants, and general revenues. Thupragnam expenses are incurred,

there are both resttied and unrestricted natseta vai | abl e to finance the program.
costreimbursement grant resources to such programs, followed by categorical block grantspamd gheeral fund
revenues.

C. ASSETS LIABILITIES, AND EQUITY
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits, as well akeghdrivestments with a maturity date within three
months of the date acquired by the City.

Deposits and Investments

The cash balances of substantially all funds are pooled and invested by the City for the purpose of increasing earnings
through investment activities. The pool8basediomarletpticese nt s a
The individual funds6 porti onsCashfandtCash Equivatemt®d) sEd ranirngsal al
pooled funds are apportioned and paid or credited to the funds quarterly based on the average daily balance of each
participating fund. The City does not invest any portion of its cash in derivative investments.

Receivableand Payables

All property tax receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles.
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Mortgage receivables reported in governmental fund and gmesrtwide financial statements, and notes receivable
reported in proprietary fund statements consist of loans that are generally not expected or scheduled to be collected in the
subsequent year.

Unbilled water and wasteater user charges are estimated acwtued at yeagnd.
Inventories

Inventories are valued at cost using the moving average method. The costs of governmeiypkfimeentories are
recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than when purchased.

Capital Assets

Purchased oconstructed capital assets are reported at cost or estimated historical cost. Donated capitdb@astasts

works of art and similar itemsre recordect acquisition valuelnfrastructure assets acquired prior to July 1, 2001 are
reported at estimateklistorical cost using deflated replacement cost. Infrastructure assets, such as streets, highways,
bridges, sidewalks, street lighting, traffic poles and signals, and storm sewers are required to be capitalized under GAAP.
Capitalization thresholds are: G900 for buildings, improvements and infrastructure; and $5,000 for equipment. Library
books are capitalized as a collection based on total purchageated apital assets, such as works of art, and capital

assets received in a service concession agraagt are reported at acquisition value rathen fhix value. Thecost of

nor mal maintenance and repairs that do not add tedthe v

Capital assets are depreciated usingstheghtline method over the following estimated useful lives:

Estimated

Useful
Asset Class Lives
Il nfrastruct ur e eéeéeéeéeeceeceeeceeeeceeeeeceeeeececeee 25-80
Buil di ngs eéeééceéeeéceceeeceeceeceeceeeeceeeeceeceeeeée e e 50
Buil di ng i mMpr ovement s eeéeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeéeé e e éq 20-50
Eqgui pment eéeéeéeéeéceceeececeeceeececeeceeecececeeeeéee e 2-25
Li brary books éééeéceéeéeeéeecéceéeceeecececeeeceeceeeecececece 10
Mo bi | e Egui pment eéeéeceéeececceceececececeeceeeececeeeceecece 5-10

Compensated Absences

The liability for compensated absences reported in the governmigatand proprietary fund statements consists of
unpaid, accumulated annwsatk, vacation, and personal leave balances. The liability has been calculated using the vesting
method, in which leave amounts for both employees who are currently eligible to receive termination payments and other
employees who are expected to becomgildé in the future to receive such payments upon termination are included.
Paymems made to terminated employdes accumulated leave are charged as expenditures/expenses, primarily in the
General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, and Proprietary Fundspailen

Estimated Liability for Claims in Process

The liability for c¢claims in process represents esti mat
propety damage, and medical claims aslohe 30, 208. This liability, which includegstimates for known and incurred
but not reported cl ai ms, is based upon an actuari al vV al

3.0%, for all claims except medical, for which claims are not discounted.
Property Tax and Propertjax Calendar

The City levies an annual tax for the fiscal year beginning July 1 and ending June 30, on real and personal property located
in the City, due and payable each July 1 (lien date), based on assessed values as of the previous Januasgés3édtese
values are established by the State of Maryland Department of Assessments and Taxation at various ratesdof estimate
market value. A discount of 2% is allowed for payments made in July. Unpaid property taxes are considered in arrears
on Octoberl, and penalty and interest of 2% is assessed each month. Real property subject to tax liens is sold at public
auction in May in instances where the taxes have remained delinquent since the preceding October 1.

34



CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
(Continued)

The City is responsible for the assessmeuoiiection, and apportionment of property taxes. The City levies an annual tax
for the fiscal year ending June 30, due and payable each July 1, based on assessed values as of the previous January 1.

State law requires that all real property be reassesszyg three years, and furthmovidesthat the amount of any increase

over previous established market values be phased in over aydfareperiod. To accomplish the triennial assessment
requirement, approximately ottieird of all real property is revieed annually. The City Council, effective with the fiscal

year beginning July 1, 1991, enacted a 104% homestead tax credit program which will protect home owners from increases
in assessments that are greater than 4% in any one year. The assessedealyzagferty in Baimore City for fiscal

year 208 was $3,909,100000which was approximatel§7.3% of the estimated market value.

The tax rate in Baltimore City for real property taxes for fiscal yea8 2@k $.248per $100 of assessed value. Punsua
to State Law, the personal property tax and tax rate applied to operating property of public utilities is 2.5 times the real
property rate or $.62per $100 of assessed vallCurrent collections we7.0% of the total tax levy.

At June 30, 208, theCity had property taxes receivable df25483,000net of an allowance for uncollectible accouits
$12,510,00.

Gains and Losses on Early Extinguishment of Debt from Refundings

Gains and losses on thelgaextinguishment of debt fromefundingsareamortized over the shorter of the life of the new
or old debt.

Sick, Vacation and Personal Leave

Employees earn one day of sick leave for each completed month of service, and there is no limitation on the number of
sick days that employees caccumulate. A portion of unused sick leave earned annually during each-maehtle base

period may be converted to cash at a maximum of three days, computed on an attendance formula. Upon retirement with
pension benefits, or termination of employment raftempletion of twenty or more years of service without pension
benefits, employees receive one daydéds pay for every fou
any other conditions of separation, unused sick leave is forfeited.

Employees earn vacatideave for each completedonth of service and can accumulate a maximudbodiays Police

officers earn vacation leave for each completed month of service and can accumulate a maximum of 125 days. Vacation
leave balances can eiths taken through time off or carried until paid at termination or retirement. Three personal leave
days are granted for usage only on the fiscal year starting SJuiyd expire on June B0f the same fiscal year.

The City accrues for all salarglaed items in the governmentide and proprietary fund types in the fund financial
statements for which they are liable to make a payment directly and incrementally associated with payments made for
compensated absences on termination or retirement. Than€litges its share of social security and Medicare payments
made on behalf of the employees in the accrual for sick, vacation and personal leave pay.

The Baltimore City Public School Syst embs e wipglamouse s ar e
based on length of service and bargaining unit. A limited number of sick, vacation and personal leave days may be carried
forward from year to year and upon retirement with pension benefits or separation of employment with twenty years of
senice, employees are paid accumulated sick, vacation and personal leave days at appropriate formula and rates. The
unpaid vested sick, vacation and personal leave days have been reported as vested compensated absences.

Restricted Assets

The proceeds of thé/ater Utility Fund, Wastewater Utility Fun&tormwater Utility FundParking Facilities Fund, and
Nonmajor Fundsrevenue bonds and Federal and State grants, and restricted acecaivableare restricted for the
purpose of the construction of wateswer,stormwaterand parking facilities.
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Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

A deferred outflow of resources repeass a consumption of net posititirat applies to a future period and so will not be
recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until the future period. At Jun8,3be Zify recognized
unamortized losses on early extinguishments of,delfinding, pension and OPE&tivity, and interest rate swaps as
deferredoutflows of resources in the governmavitle statement of net position and the proprietary funds statement of net
position.

A deferred inflow of resources represents an acquisition of net position that apiésture period and so will not be
recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. At June 3),tBOLity recognized deferred inflows of
resources in the governmental funds for property taxesnie taxes, other prepaid taxes amates receivables
Additionally, the City recognized deferred inflows of resources in the goveramdatstatement of net positidor
pension and OPEB.

Fund Balance

The City classifies its fund balance into the following categories:

A Nonspendable funtalance includes items that cannot be spent. This includes activity that is not in spendable
form such as inventories, prepaid amounts, {tamg portions of loans and notes receivable and activities that are
legally or contractually required to remaindnt such as principal balance in a permanent fund.

A Restricted fund balance has constraints placed upon the use of the resources either by external creditors, grantors,
contributors or imposed by law through a constitutional provision or endbliigiation.

A Committed fund balance can be used only for specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by the formal
vote of Board of Estimates, the Cityds highest | eve
redeployed forothgp ur poses with the formal vote of the Cityos
be used for any other purpose unless the City removes or changes the specific use by taking the same type of
action it used to previously commit the amounts.

A Assignedfund balance includes amounts that are constrained by the City to buspecific purposes but are
neither restricted nor committed for which the City has a stated intended use as established by the Board of
Estimates. The Board of Estimates has gitied the authority to assign amounts for a specific purpose to the
Citybébs Director of Finance. These are resources whe
committed funds. For governmental funds, other than the general fund,tttésresidual amount within the fund
that isnot restricted or committed.

A Unassigned fund balance is the residual amount of the general fund not included in the four categories described
above. The general fund is the only positive unassigned funddeatamount. In other governmental funds, if
expenditures incurred for the specific purpose exceed the amounts restricted, committed or assigned to those
purposes, negative unassigned fund balance may be reported.

The Board of Estimates is required to td&amal action before funds can be committed for a specific purpose. Formal
action of the Board of Estimates is also required before committed funds can be rescinded or mddifed.C energl6 s ¢
spending prioritization policy is to consider restrictedaurces to have been used first, followed by committed, assigned,

and unassigned amounts when expenditures have been incurred for which resources in more than one classification could
be used.

Nonspendable fund balance

Long Term AssetsThis portion of fund balance represents thosel@nm assets that are not available for appropriation
and expenditure.

Inventory- This portion of fund balance represents amounts not available for appropriation or expenditure because the
underlying asst (inventory) is not an available resource for appropriation or expenditure
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Permanent Fund This portion of fund balance represents amounts for which the City is legally or contractually required
to maintain intact.

Restricted fund balance

Landfill closure and developmentThis portion of fund balance has been set aside to fund the cost of futurel landfil
development and closure cost as required by federal regulation.

Debt Servicé This portion of the fund balance represents the amounts needed to service future debt payments.

Assigned fund balance

Encumbrances This portion of fund balance represents approved contracts for which the City has completed the
procurement process and the Board of Estimates has approved the contract.

Requisitionsg This portion of fund balance is set aside by the Director of Finanftend various nottapsing transactions
which have not completed the procurement process at year end.

Subsequent vy e-dalhisportioaof furel batance represents the amount to finance certarrgomingpolicy
initiatives and other expélitures included in the fiscal year Z0fhudget.

Unassigned fund balance

Budget stabilizationreserveT he Ci ty of Balti moreds budget stabilizatio
of the Board of Estimates for the purpose of providing a budget defense to stabilizeadqmist City budget that has

been impacted by an uncorrectable shbrifabudgeted revenues and/or unanticipated and uncorrectable emergency
expenses, for the sole purpose of avoiding a budget deficit. The Board of Estimates in determining to use the reserve would
first need to acknowledge that all reasonable efforts e ld made i n controlling expens
unreserved fund balance had been exhausted. The reserve under no circumstances can be used as a revenue source
balance a planning year budget. The Board oiriaédes determines the amount of aalfunding for the reserve. The

resolution requires that reserves be maintained on any June 30th at a minimum level of 8% of the value of the general
fundds operating budget of the subsequent yimasesapprdVbede ne v e
reserve replenishment plan must be established and must specify a timetable for full restoration of the reserve not to exceed
five years.

Interfund Transactions
The City has three types of transactions among funds:

Statutory transfersLegal |y required transfers that are reported wt
as ATransfers outodo by the disbursing fund.

Transfersof Expenditures (ReimbursementsReimbursement of expenditures made by one fund for anothearthat
recorded as expenditures in the reimbursing fund and as a reduction of expenditures in the reimbursed fund.

Interfund payments Charges or collections for services rendered by one fund to another that are recorded as revenues of
the recipient fund and as expenditures or expenses of the disbursing fund.

Uses of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordanceagitbunting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and

liabilities and disclosures of contingencies at the datke financial statemeésand the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
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D. NEwW GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD PRONOUNCEMENTS

In fiscal year 2018, the City adopted Governmental Accounting Stdrglar Boar d St a tAecoaetingtandN o . 7
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pemsions St a t e mdrmeviocatledSplitingerest A
Agreements , St at e meCartain Debt.Exti®gGishmeit Issdes and St at ©mébust201Bo. TR S

i mpl ementation of these standards had a significant i mp

The City will be required to adopt the following Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements:
GASB Statement No. 83

In November 206 |, t he GASB i s s ueCértais Asadt Retirement Oligatiand®es abjecfive of this
Statement is t@nhance the decisieusefulness of the information provided to financial statement users absett
retirement obligation§AROs) that werenot addressed in GASB standards by establishing uniform accounting and
financial reporting requirements for governmenighe City is required to adopt GASB No. 83 for its fiscal year 2019
financial statements

GASB Statement No. 84

InJanuary 2017, the ASB i ssued StRducamActvitedNo .T h8e4 ,obilj ect i ve of t hi s
the consistency and comparability of fiduciary activity reporting by state and local governments. This Statement also is
intended to improve the usefulnee$ fiduciary activity information primarily for assessing the accountability of
governments in their roles as fiduciaries. The City is required to adopt GASB No. 84 for its fiscal yefin@@dal
statements

GASB Statement No. 87

In June 2017, the GASB issued Statement No.fBL, e a sTées abjective of this Statement is to better meet the
information needs of financial statement users by improving accounting and financial reporting for leases by governments.
This Statement ncr eases the usefulness of governmentsd financi
assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources
or outflows of resources bad on the payment provisions of the contract. It establishes a single model for lease accounting
based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this Statement,
a lessee is required to recognia lease liability and an intangible rigbtuse lease asset, and a lessor is required to
recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of
information about g os/ Ene @itynis requised to ladopt SASB dNo. 87cfar itsviscal iyear 2021
financial statements.

GASB Statement No. 88

I'n April 2018, the GA SBrtain Biscloseirds R8lated ttoeDete, meludidgdDirect B@rrowings

and Direct Placements. e ofjdttive of this Statement is to improve the information that is disclosed in notes to
government financial statements related to debt, including direct borrowings and direct placements. It also clarifies which
liabilities governments should include whdisclosing information related to debt. The City is required to adopt GASB

No. 88 for its fiscal year 2019 financial statements.

GASB Statement No. 89

I'n June 2018, the GASARcounting fordntere8§ Costtineumed eforekhe Bhd 8dhstruction

P e r i. @tk objective of this Statement is to enhance the relevance and comparability of information about capital assets
and the cost of borrowing for a reporting period and to simplify accounting for interest cost incurred bedoig dhe
construction period. This Statement supersedes all intereghedgpreviously was accounted foraccordance with
Statement No. 62. This Statement requires that interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period be recognized
asan expense in the period in which the cost is incurred for financial statements prepared using the economic resources
measurement focus. As a result, interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period will not be included in the
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historical cosbf a capital asset reported in a busiryg® activity or enterprise fund. The City is required to adopt GASB
No. 89 for its fiscal year 2021 financial statements.

GASB Statement No. 90

I'n August 2018, the GABdority Bgsityleatest® anamendment of GASB Stat@m@nts ND.

14 and No. 6 . The objective of this Statement is to i mpr
government 6s majority equity interest i nmcedfindneiasiatemgnt s e p a
information for certain component units. This Statemen

equity interest in a legally separate organization. The City is required to adopt GASB No. 90 foalitgefisc2020
financial statements

2. Reconciliation of Governmentwide and Fund Financial Statements

A summary reconciliation of the difference between totatifbalances as reflected on trevgrnmental funds balance

sheet and the net position fgovernmental activities as shown on the governmedé statement of net position is
presented on the face of the governmental funds balance sheets. The asset and liability elements which comprise the
reconciliation difference stem from governmental fundimg he current financial resourceseasurement focus and the
modified accrual basis of accounting, while the governmédé financial statements use the economic resources
measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting.

A summary reconciliation ahe difference between net changes in fund balance as reflected on the governmental funds
statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances andinhatgmosition for governmental activities

as shown on the governmemide statement ddictivities is presented in an accompanying schedule to the governmental
funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances. The revenues and expense elements whict
comprise the reconciliation difference stem from governmental fundg tle current financial resources measurement

focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting, while the govermigntfinancial statements use the economic
resources measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting.

A summary reconciliation of thdifference between total net position as reflected on the proprietary funds statement of
net position ad the net position for businesgeactivities as shown on the governmeritle statement of net position is
presented on the face of the proprietéupds statement of net positioifthe asset element which comprises the
reconciliation difference stems from the allocation of internal service fund balance tosthesstype activities on the
governmentwide statement of net position.

A summary recondation of the difference between net changes in net position as reflected on the proprietary funds
statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position and changes in net position for business activities as showr
on the governmernwide statement ddctivities is presented on the face of the proprietary funds statement of net position.

The expense element, which comprises the reconciliation difference, stems from the allocation of internal service funds
deficit to the businestype activities on thgovernmentwide statement ddctivities
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Explanation of differences between the governmental fund balance sheet and the government-wide statement of net position

(amount expressed in thousands):
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources, and therefore, are not
reported in the funds :
Capital assets 666¢E6666E666EE6666E6E666EE6666E666E6666E6E666E666666666E66680ERBRBENAE
Less accumulated depreciation ééééééééééééeéééceééécceééceeéédeéédxmoss

Tot al 6éeéeéééééiéééeécéééiéécéecbcécéieéécécécécéeéécececéeééééeés é3001,264

Net pension asset ¢ééééééececccccecccceccccceccececececceecceccececeekecomd

Ot her asset éééééééééécécéééeéeéécécéeéeéeéeécécécéeéecéecécécéeeéeeéeé.23470

Deferred loss on bond refundings éééééééééééééécéééeéééécécéeéeéeceqnme
Deferred outflow of resources (pension)éééééééééééééécéécéeéééé 316,968
Deferred outflow of resources (OPEB)ééééééééééééceééecééeeéceécesd 19,256
Interest rate swaps ééééééééééééééééééééeéeeeeeeeceeceeceececeee 1,228

Total ¢éé666666666666666666666666666666666660660606060606006060606606666¢666%6 377,706

Internal Service funds are used by management to charge the cost of fleet management, mailing, communications, printing energy conservation and building
maintenance to individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in governmental

activities in the statement of net position éééééééééééééééeéécédéyéerE®
Unavailable revenue is not due and payable in the current period, a$d 3685
Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds:

Accounts payable éééé¢é¢eée6eEEE66608000000000000800080000008000000000008%CCHD
Accrued interest payable éééééééééééééééééééééééééééeédéecddéeddeedepmoasy
Long-term bonds éééééééééééééééééééeéeéééeeéeeceeeeeeeececeeeeececeedquras

Revenue bonds éééééééécéééééééécécééécéééécécécéeéeéceécécécécéeécecécéceqrsa

Capital leases ééééééééééééééébbéebéeébedéeéeedeedeceeeeeeeeeeésd (73,674)
Compensated absences and other ééééééééééééééééééééeéééeecééedééeé(rrdns
Estimated claims in progress éééééééééééééééeéceééeééceéceéceéeé (274,604,
Landfill closure liability ééééééééééééééééééééééééécéecéééécceceecdnan
Derivative instrument liability éééééééééééééécéécéééééécécéeéeéeé (1,228)
Net pension liability éééééééééééééééééééééeééeéeeeeeeeceececeesd (1,670,163
Net OPEB liability ééééééééééééééééééééeeéeééeééeééeeeeééeéeeééér (564,431,
Other liabilities ééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééédéééééeeéeenonm
Deferred inflow of resources (pension)éééééécécéécécéeéécécécécéeeeErE

Total éééééééeééééécéebéebéeéecbcbebéebéebbcbcécéeéeeeceebéeéeéeséséer ¢4,057,300
Explanation of differences between the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances

and the government-wide statement of activities (amount expressed in thousands):
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of activities the cost of

those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense:
Capital outlay ééé6é6é666666666666666666666666666666666666666666666¢° % 81,236
Depreciation ééééééééééééébdbbbbbbibbbbibbbibiibeeeecbececceccccecece(rndne

Total éééééééééécééécéééécécééécéiéécécéeécéeéécecécécéeceéecécéctee (44253

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not reported as revenues in the funds:
Grants reimbursements not received for several months after the fiscal year end are not considered as available revenues in the

governmental funds éééééééécéécéééééceéécéééeceéecéééceeéeceéedee @rrlp

Note receipts are not considered as available revenues in th 27)
Proceed from new debt éééééééééééééééééééééééééécééedééeéccéeccéecerRmar
Tax revenues not received for several months after the fisca 2,424

Total éééééééééécééécéééécécééécéiéécéeéeécéeéécecééécéeeéeéeéette(3o4486
Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as

expenditures in the governmental funds:
Debt service principal ééééééééééééécéééééééécéééceéeccéééceéecechbéessm

Accrued interest payable ééé¢ééé¢ééééééééééééééééééédéédédddddedddedednsns
Capital leases éééééééééééééeéeeéeééeéeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeceeceeece 758
Claims liability ¢ééééééececcccceccccceccccceeeeeecceeccececceccceccececcelssn
Landfill closure liability éééééééééééééééeccecéccécccecccececeeeeeeedan
Compensated absences éééééééééééééééééeeéeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeé(edny
Miscellaneous other liability ééééééééééééééééééééeééééédéeééééeééddéé(essan

Other miscellaneous éééééééééccéccééééeceecececeeeeceeececeeceeececececceceee@Pe®

Total éééééééééécécéeéeéécécéeécéeéécécéeécéeéécecéeécéeeéecéeécreé 134118

The net effect of the expenses for recording the City's OPEB liabili$ty 283%&
The net effect of the expenses for recording the City's pension liability from employee retirement plans are not reported as
expenditures in the governmental funds éééééééécéééééééécécécécéecsdcéBEB

The net income of certain activities of internal service funds is reported with governmental activities:
Internal service funds net expenses attributed to government all a (89%)
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3. Deposits and Investments
A. SUMMARY OF DEPOSIT AND INVESTMENT BALANCES

The following i s a r eiandicvestmer halancesitre 30, 200 (amo@its exprésseditie p 0 s

thousands):

Government-wide Fiduciary Funds

Statements of Ne Statement of Ne

Position Position Total Total

Cash and cash equivalent ééééééé&ééée0ro0Es ééeé 39045 3 648,651
Investments éééééééééééééééééeeéeeeeeerndsxns 4,862,372 5,390,697
Restricted cash and cash equivalent 4846626¢ééé¢6ééééééééeé.414662
Total éééééééééééééééeéeeéeééeeeeedeé 1452593 $ 5,001,417 $ 6,454,010

B. CASH DEPOSITS

At June 30, 208, the carrying amount ofthéi t y 6 s b a n k 7,24%000are ithe sespectve baisk balances
totaled ¥,380000Q Al l of the Cityds cash deposits are either
Corporation, or collateralized by securities held in the name of thelCity, t he Ci tyb6s agent.

At June 30, 208, BCPSS and BHC had demand deposits with carrying value¥,80@000 and $£,981,000
respectively.

C. INVESTMENTS
Primary Government

For other than pension funds, BCPSS and BHC, the City is authorized byL&tat® invest in direct or indirect
obligations of the United States Government, repurchase agreements that are secured by direct or indirect obligations
of the United States Government, certificate of deposit, commercial paper with highest letter andahuatieg,

mutual funds registeredith the Securities and Exchangemmission and the Maryland Local Government Investment

Pool. The Citybés investment policy |Iimits the percent e
for which the United States Government has pledged its full faith and credit. For investments held by the City in trust
and/ or to secure certain debt obligations, the City cc¢

Finance has formalladopted the above policies and reviews and approves all Eestugibsactions.

Investments are reported at fair value, except that investments with maturities of less than one year from purchase date
are reported at cost, which approximates fair veBeeurities traded on national or international exchanges are valued

at the last reported sales price at the current exchange rates. Real estate holdings are valued based on current appraisals
Leveling disclosures fdhe invesinents are included ia teble onthe following page
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Thi s pr i marsynvegtments at dunee3n, BOare presented below. All investments are presented by investment
type, and debt securities are presented by maturity (amounts expressed in thousands):

Investment Maturities (In Months)

Fair Market Greater

Investment Type Value Less Than 6 6to 12 Than 12
Debt Securities:
Uu. s. Tr easury eééeéeéeéeéeéééeé &eé e e é 664 . $ 110 $ 554
u. Ss. Agenci es éeéeeeeeeeéee 448,220 $ 160,506 287,714
Re pur chase agreement s eéeéeéeeecrahae ee e e . . 178,000
Mo n ey mar ket mut ual f unds & €8OX164e & & 8e9ded. .
Commer ci al paper éééeéeeéeéé é é é ¢é é é1é88e & . 1,836

1,437,884 $ 969,670 $ 178,110 $ 290,104
Other investments:
Equi t vy mut ual f unds ééeéeéeeéeeeeceEaMOeeee

1,445,374
Le s s : c as h eqgui valent s € & é &€ € DA &€ € &€ &€ € é
Tot al i nNvest ment s eééeéeééecekeé e eaxBB8AB»BeE e e

Investments and ValuatioriThe City categorizes its invesents using the fair value measurements identified in the fair
value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs
used to measure the fair value of the asset and gives the highesy priantdjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level | measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (level 3 measurements).
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Fair Market Investment Levels

Investment Type Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Debt Securities:
u. s. Treasury ééééééécééeeeéedHeéceééobsss 664
u. S. Agenci es éééeeeéeeeeée 448,220 448,220
Repurchase agreement s € é é ééergmme é é 148,000
Equity mut ual funds eéééééeeeéé @4 eéééé749
Mo ney mar ket mut ual funds € €863%164¢ € é 8e9des. .
Commerci al paper eéééeeeéééeéééécéleBae eé. $ 1,836

1,445,374 $ 1,443,538 1,836
Les s: cash equi valents €EEEeeEENREOEAEr e ceecece
Tot al invest ment s ééééecéceréedaBBAEEE

Level |- Valuations based on unadjusted quoted priceslfartical assets or liabilities in active markets;

Level 2- Valuations based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or identical assets or liabilities
in less active markets, such as dealer or broker markets; and

Level 3- Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significardnasdoe
are unobservable, such as pricing models, discounted cash flow models and similar techniques nor Ingeneabt
exchange, dealer or brokaded transactions.

Interest rate risB Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates of debt investments will adversely affect the
fair value of investment.

The City | imits its interest r dinacempadliyky maintaining & minintuia ofc e  wi
20 percent of  tshnefundsiintligui sSnvestmewnts ® tinchelen Wnited States Government securities,
overnight repurchase agreements, and the Maryland Local Government Investment Pool, anchgyHenitar value of

the portfolio invested for a period greater than one year at or below $100 million.
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The Maryland Local Government Investment Pool is not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
as an investment company but mainsagnpolicy to operate in a manner consistent with SEC Rule 2a7 of the Investment

Company Act of 1940.

Credit risk of debt securitiés Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its
obligation.

The City Board of Finance limits City investments to only the highest rated investments in the categories discussed above.
The Cityds rated de b2018iwerevraes bynasmationally recogniaed statisticaleratirgy @gency and
are presented belovsimg theM o o d matihg scale (amounts expressed in thousands):

Quality Ratings
Fair Value Aaa-AA+ Al-P1

Investment Type
Debt Securities:
U. S. Agenci es EéEéécéécééécééééé SHeaMigTe & e448,220

Mo ney mar ket mut ual funds € é e € € €89 ¢ endtadatarie € € .
Commer ci al paper éééeeéeéeeeeeeceeeeeceeeeeceecée. not rated
Tot al invest ment s Eéééééééééééé P38l 448,820

Concentratiorof creditrisld Concent rati on of c¢credit risk is the risk of
investment in a single issuer. The City has not adopted a formal policy on the concentration of credit risk.

The City had the following debt saity invegments at June 30, 281that were moréhan five percent of total ingaments
(dollar amounts expressed in thousands):

Percentage of

Investment Fair VValue Portfolio

Cant or Repur chase Agr eement eeee $ 178,000 13.01%

Retirement Systems

The Cityds t hr e ¢yskmdobytamiaecradthor&ed by tiialtisnore City Code to make investments

in accordance with the guidelines and limitations set forth in the Code. The Board of Trustees of each system accomplishes
the daily management of the investments through an external investment advisor, who fdtcsyafor each system,

and through external investment managers. The Board of Trustees for each system invests the assets of the system using
the Aprudent person standardo, which all ows tpbealatBoar d t
investments, and invest as people of prudence, discretion, and intelligence would in a similar situation. The Boards of
Trustees have adopted an investment policy and guidelines for each system to formally document their investment
objectives ad responsibilitiesLeveling tables as required by GASB 72 are available in the gepaissued statements

for the §stems.
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The invested assets of the retirement systems at JuB@BZRare as follows (amounts expressed in thousands):

Carrying Value
Elected Fire and Police
Employees' Officials' Employees'
Retirement  Retirement Retirement
Investment Type System System System Total

Debt Securities:
U.S. Treasury notes and bonds$ é6é668Féééééééeckeécé 67691 $ 77,628

U.S./ Canadian government ager 65,732 55,784 121,516
Non-U.S. government agency bonds24gééécééééééééé 22,451
Corporate bonds ééééééééééééééééélrxBers. 5,647 152,444 281,968
Commingled fixed income fund ééégla@éééééééée. 211,090
Mut ual funds éééééééééééééééé 84,370 49 44,929 129,348
Total debt securities ééééédEEMaré éé é éxbab. 320,848 844,001
Other:
Domestic equities éééééeéeéeéeeééééénnsnseeéeé 10536 509,487 1,024,927
International equities éééééééééar@EdFecece6exk. 476,351 859,525
Hedge funds éééééccececeeéeééééé. 40,000 1,081 195,933 237,014
Commingled debt and equity f 516,780 516,780
Private equity funds éééééééc 98,046 186,913 284,959
Energy master |imted partnerships ééééééééeéérlgsss. 218,438
Real estate éééééécéeéceeeééééééééééiroR 2,509 263,578 423,184
Total other ééééééééééééééééllénsl 20,163 2,367,480 3,564,827
Tot al investments ééééeéé 1,694,641 25,859 2,688,328 4,408,828
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 8486écecéé&déééédqon 129,349

Total net investment ééééééecébedldRASBEeeHBI0 $ 2643398 $ 4,279,479

Foreign Currency Risk ExposufeForeign currency risks the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect
the fair value of an investment or a deposit.

The Fire and Pol i ce E®Poard gf@rastess had adopted a poéicy that tBeyexterralrmanagers
demonstrate sensitivity tourrency risk. The foreign currency exposure offher e and Pol i ce Empl oy
System may be hedged back to the U.S. dollar using forward foreign exchange contracts. From 0% to 100% of the foreign
currency exposure of the portfolio may bedhed Crosshedging to currenciesther than the U.S. dollar may reach 25%

of the total portfolio. Currency speculation is not permitted.

The Empl oyees 6 sBaeatdiofiTristeesrhas n@ sdspted anformal policy to limit foreign currency risk.
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The foreign currency risk for each system at June2B@8 is presented on the following table (amounts expressed in
thousands):

Fire and Police
Employees’ Employees'
Retirement Retirement

Currency System System Total

Euro Currency Unit ééééeéeéééecéeééreéBldhEses éé 117,700 $ 199,318
Australian Dollar éééééééééeéécééeéeaxoeeeéeéeé. 353 19,492
Brazil Real ¢éééeéééééecécéééeécééeéeéce&sss. 467 2,855
British Pound Sterling ééééééééééésanndééeééwsadd 147,580
Canadian Doll ar éééééécéécééecéecééeéecemamec 26,445 50,638
Chilean Peso éééééééeééééceéééceceeééeeéecr. 847
Chinese Yuan Renminbi éééééééééécéccploaneéeceéee. . (1,064)
Columbian Peso éééééécéécéécécéééeéeériRrEeé 1,029
Czech Koruna éééécéécéécécééeécéceéeéct 1
Danish Krone éééééééeéecééecéeéeécééeéeérz 7,117 8,939
Hong Kong Dollar ééééécéééécéceéeédsg3psréc 21,870 40,224
Hungarian Forint ééééééééeécéeéeéeéeeceeceeemece. . 284
I ndian Rupee €ééééééeéééceéeééceeécécecééssr 854
I ndonesian Rupian €éééééeéeéceecéeécececeqdEtece. . 1742 5,446
l sraeli Shekel. éééécéeééécéeéeééceéécceragec. . 628
Japanese Yen ééééécééecécééecécécéeéedbese 63,902 118,308
Mal aysian Ringgit ééééééééééeéeécéecéllmeceécé 1,361
Mexi can Peso éééécéééécéééeééeécééeécrne 62 2,351
New Taiwan Doll ar éééécéééééeéécéééeécéceééé. . 1854 1,854
New Zealand Dollar éeéééécéeéééécéeéeééecexipreeceeé. 2,490
Norwegian Krone éééééééeécéceéecéceéecéxramne. 1,261 6,991
Peruvian Sol éééeééécéeéééceééécéeéééceciie. 316
Philippines Peso éééééééécééeécéceéelgaseée. . 1,693
Polish Zloty ééééééécéeéecécééeéceéececéesss. . 835
Russian Ruble éééééécéeééécéeééééceeééceénss. . 28
Singapore Dollar ééééééeeecéceeeeeeeeqaxrree. . 272 12,304
South African Comm Rand ééécéééééeeédashecééeerarn 6,501
South Korean Won ¢ééééééécééeééeééeeéedadecé. 3,091 3,575
Swedish Krona éééééééééécéceéeceéceéecedrmsg. 8,709 20,447
Swiss Franc éééécéééeéécéééééeécééééeélsrb . 31,211 46,967
Thai Baht éééééééécéceéécécééeeceéceéeeésrt 283 660
Turkish Lira éééécéééééeéeééceeééceéeéccqie. . 816
UAE Dirham éééééééécéééeécééceéecécéeéeé. .65 65

Total Foreign Currency éééééééé&ééalydcs éé é é3WELee $ 704,633

Interest rate risk The Fire and Police Employeeds Retirement Syst
Duration as a measure of interest rate sensitivity for bonds. Durationisamedsuré he appr oxi mat e sens
value to interest rate changes. The Fire and Police Emp

rate policy states that the effective duration of a portfolio may not exceed 120% déthiefduration of the underlying
BloombergBarclayd §.S.Aggregate BndIndex
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Both the Employeesd Retirement System and the Elected C
to disclose the debt securities exposure to changeteinest rates. However, both plans have not adopted a formal policy
to limit interest rate risk.

CreditRisk The Boards of Trustees of the Cityds three retirer
risk.

The credit rating andurationof investments at June 30, Z)vere as follows (amounts expressed in thousands):

Carrying
Asset Type Duration Value AAA thru A BBB thru B CCCthruC  DDDthru D Not Rated
Employees' Retirement System:
U.S. Treasury notes and bohds $ééade &éééan7

Uu. sS. Government agency bonddl ééééabgRéééénsl7 $ 1,173 $ 38,742
Non-U.S. Government bonds 2429 age2f45l es BOdHBEeéé. . 5985 1,441
Corporate bonds éééééééé¢ 3.24 123,877 50,546 56,362 $ 39% $ 223 16,350
Mutual funds éééééééééééécéeanééé. . 84370 84,370
Commingled fixed income fun60d éééAEMWEEEES. . 211,090

Tot al debt securities éééécéRénpesbes. 101325 $ 63,520 $ 396 $ 223 $ 351,993

Elected Officials' Retirement System:

Corporate bonds ééééééééc¢ 6.01 $ 5,648 $ 5,648
Mutual funds éééééééeéééééeéecéorR@éc. . 49 49

Total debt securities éééééRécxEadRE. . $ 5,697

Fire and Police Employees' Retirement System:
U.S. Treasury notes and boB8ls ¢ éé&&8eEE &é é é&68,61

U.S. Government agency bond87 éééébgaéé é és3362 $ 2,422
Corporate bonds ééééééécéc¢ 4.44 152,443 77,790 $ 69,848 4,805
Mutual funds éééééééééééécééadrééé. . 44929 44,929

Total debt securities éé6ééé¥éBRUES. 198843 $ 69,848 $ $ $ 52,156

The Cityds Retirement SritiestlLendng Autharicaton dgreeraentevith BNYiMetion BankS e ¢ u
(the Custodian) authorizing them to lend its available securities. All individual securities which are readily marketable and
which are not restricted due to an outstanding short option ardeligidoan at the discretion of the custodian bank. The
investment manager magndd securities held in custody of commingled funds if authorizedinamandge contr act
the Retirement y&stems.

Collateral received in exchange for securities loanedasl | ect ed i n an escrow account fo
for the duration of the loan. At no time do the Retirement Systems lose custody of either the security or the collateral.
Collateral in exchange for the principal lent may be in the fofrwash, or securities issued or guaranteed by the U.S.
government, or its agencies or instrumentalities. The minimum levels of collateral are set at 102% of the market value of
domestic securities loaned, including all accrued income, and 105% of the waddecof international securities loaned,
including all accrued income. If the market value of the collateral falls below 100% of the loaned securities, additional
collateral is deposited to adjust up to the appropriate minimum level of collaterabllatiecal amounts are adjusted to

mar ket daily. The Citybs Retirement Systems do not have
borrower default.

At June 30, 208, the Retirement Systems had no credit risk exposure toviensdbecause the amounts they owed
borrowers exceeded the amounts the borrowers owed the Retirement Systems. The market value of securities on loan at
June 30, 208, was $23,517000 and the market value of the collateral received for those securitié@sannwas
$343,669000 which included collateral received in cash in the amount4$,$64000 The Retirement Systems did not

impose any restrictions during the fiscal year on the amafupains the custodian made on thashalf. The terms of the
Securties Lending Authorization Agreement require that the custodian indemnify the retirement systems against: (1) the
failure to demand adequate and appropriate collateral from a borrower as and when required pursuant hereto; (2) the failure
to comply with theinvestment guidelines in connection with the investment and reinvestment of cash collateral; (3) the
failure to obtain and perfect a security interest or rights equivalent thereto in and to the collateral; or (4) the rfiadlkee t

a reasoned determinati of the creditworthiness of any borrower. There were no such failures by any borrowers during
the fiscal year. Moreover, there were no losses during the fiscal year resulting from default of the borrowers or the
custodian.
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Substantially all securitieo&ns can be terminated on demand either by the custodian or by the borrower, although
generally the average term of these | oans Heamiwesemenve ek .

pool. The shorterm investment pool guidelisespecify that a minimum of 20% of the invested cash collateral is to be
available each business day and the delkeighted average maturity of holding must not exceed 90 days.

Other Postemployment Benefits Fund

The Cityds Ot her P drast Eundp (Trost) m euthorizddl doy thef Baltimore City Code to make
investments in accordance with the guidelines and limitations set forth in the code. The Baltimore City Director of Finance
was made Trustee of the Trust and, under a Memorandum of Uardingt between the Director of Finance and the Board

of Trustees of the Employeesd Retirement System (Board
investment of its assets. As part of its responsibility, the Board has adopted intgsdirees and guidelines, which

formally document its investment objectives and responsibilities

The investentassets of the OPEB Trust Fund at June 3082&E as follows (amounts expressed in thousands):

Investment Maturities (In Months)

Investment Type Fair Value Less than 6 Greater than 12
Cash and cash equivalents eééééééeeedeéeéééoe3xs éééé 9,463

Uu. S. Treasury obligations ééééécécéeéeéeeeececElesBEeéeéeééééée $ 14,531
Uu. sS. Government agencies éééééééécéeceecelbprepc éeeéeéé 16,260
Corporate bonds ééééééééécéééééecééééééééélorsEe . 101,876
Subtot al éééééécéééééeccécéééeececeéééeeecéééédd130 3 9,463 $ 132,667
Re al estate éééééécéécéééécecééééeececcéééééeées623

St ocks ¢ééééééééécéééeééeécécéeeéeeeceeeeeéeeééééé 400549

Tot al investments éééééééééééééeéecéeéeééeopxsexe. .

Less: cash and cash equivalents éééééécecpaBrécecéeeceeeeeé.

Tot al net invest ments ééééééécéécééceceRreécesralmvececeé

The OPEB Trust Fund categorized their fair value measuremethiis Wie fair value hierarchy established by gahg

accepted accounting priptés. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset
and given the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1 measurements)
and the lowest priority to unobservabinputs (Level 3 measurements).

Level 11 Unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets

Level 27 Quoted price for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in
markets that are not active; and model derived valuations in which all significant inputs are observable.

Level 37 Valuations derived from valuationdienigues in which significant jputs are unobservable.

Instruments that are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share (or its equivalent) as practical @xpedient ar
not classified in the fair value hierarchy.

In instances where inputs uséa measure fair value fall into different levels in the fair value hierarchy, fair value
measurements in their entirety are categorized based on the levashput that is significarib the valuationThe table
on the following page shs the fair valie leveling on the investments for the OPEB TFustd

Equity securities classified in Level 1 are valued using prices quoted in axztikets for those securitid3ebt Securities

classified in Level 1 and Level 2 are valued using a bid evaluati@h.ewaluation, last trade or official close. Mid
evaluations are when a bid and ask evaluation are both present. Last trade is the most recent trade price of a security at
market close time. Official close is the closing price as defined by the exchange.
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The valuation method for investments measured at the net asset value (NAV) per share, or equivalentediptesent

table below:

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for
Identical Assets

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

Significant
Unobservable

Investment by fair value level Base Amount (Level 1) (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3
Debt securities
Uu. s. Treasury Not es and Bonds$ € €458 &€ ¢ é é é é14,53% .
Uu. s. Government Agency Bonds 16,260 $ 16,260
Corpor at e Bonds éééééééééééeeeceéeéelbEIe.. 36,730
Tot al debt securities at fair B7e621u e | ev el 53k € é é é é é &6XP@E .
Equity securities
Domestic equities ééééééeéeeéeeéé 93,109 93,109
I nternational equities ééééeé 17,176 17,176
Tot al equity securities at f ailno285a | $u e | @10,289 éééééeeceeeeé
Tot al invest ment s by fair v al uigz806e v el éééeeéeééeéeeceeeeé

Investments measured at the net asset value (NAV)

Commi ngl ed fixe i ncome éééé: 65,146

Domestic equities ééééééeéeééé 110,616

Def ensi ve equities éééeéeéeeecéeeé 24,865

I nternational equities ééeéeéeé 112,768

Re al estate éééééééécéécécéceéceécééééaxee’

Hedge funds éééééécéécéecéecéeéeéééééédiérsl.

Private equities éééééééeeéceéeéeeceeeéeeéepdgece

Tot al invest ment s measur ed at 405083 NAV éééeéeéeeéeééeeéeé

Tot al net i nvest ment s éééécécéceéexenBREB e Eeeéé

Unfunded
Investment Measured at the Net Asset Value (N Base Annual Commitments

Redemption Frequency

Redemption
Notice Period

Commi ngl ed fixed i Nco Me éE5A4E & & ¢E¢éé. Daily, weekly & monthly 0- 30 days (€D
Domestic equitiesééééééélendbese ¢ é é Daily, weekly & monthly 0- 30 days (@)
Defensive equitiesééc 24,865 Daily, weekly & monthly 0- 30 days 3)
I nt ernational equiti es éFIBFES é & é é é é é .Daily, weekly & monthly 0-30days “4)
Re all estat eéééééééécééééé aoese Quarterly 90-100 days (5)
Hedge fundséééééeeééeéeéé 41,781 Quarterly 90-100 days (6)
Private equitiescééééééécééebee é 15,000 Not eligible N/A (@)
Total investments measured at the NAV $ 405,034 $ 15,000

(1) Internationalequity investmentsarein both managedundsanddirect investmentslnvestmentin managedundsare in securitieswhererigorous
dividenddiscountanalysisis usedto identify value in termsof long-term flow of incomeas well asin funds which employsstrategieshat seeksto
outperformthe MSCI World index (half-hedgedwhile maintaininga similar level of marketrisk overthe long-term.T he directinvestmentis focusec
on protectionin adown marketwhile performingarigorousfundamentalanalysisby assessingompetitiveframework,scrutinizingfinancials,analyzinc
business environment and evaluating management.

(2) Domesticequity investmentis in fundsthat seeklong-termcapital appreciatiorby investingat least80% of its net assetsplusany borrowingsfor
investmentpurposesjn equity securitiesof large cap companiesSuchlarge capcompaniesarethosewith total marketcapitalizationsof $5 billion or
more at the time of purchase.

(3) Commingledfixed incomeinvestments in two mutualfunds. Oneseeksto provide a high level of currentincome, consistenwith preservatiorof
capital by investing at least 80% of its net assets in adjustable-rate senior loans; while the second one actively tracks the performance of an

(4) Realestateinvestmentds in a corereal estatefund. The investmentstyle is basedn strategiesmndtacticsthat aredesignedo take advantagef
barrier and rotational market dynamics.

(5) The system'shedgefund investmentis in a multi-strategyfund. The fund hasa deepand thoroughresearchprocesshat is harnessedhrougha
dynamic risk budgeting framework. The investment is eligible for redemption with a 90-100 days notice period.

(6) Defensiveequity investmentis in afundthat seeklong-termgrowth of capital. Thefund employsa strategyof writing collateralizedput-optionson
the S&P 500 Index. The collateral generally consists of short duration, high quality fixed income positions with a focus on U.S. Treasuries

(7) Private equitiescommitmentis in two (2) funds: T he first investmentis in aglobal infrastructurefund that focuseson deliveringtruerisk-adjustec
returnsthrough a focus on middle market assetswith core risk fundamentals,operationalvalue-addand platform developmentwhile the seconc
investments in afundthat focuseson privateequity secondaryinvestingby utilizing researchengineto drive relationshipsandinformationadvantages
finding or creating opportunities in non-competitive channels and capturing alpha through pricing, engineering and portfolio construction.

Interest Rate and Credit R&KThe Board has not adopted a formal policy to limit interest rate and credit risk.

Bonds held by the OPEB Trust Fund have ratings from AALl to AA2.
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Baltimore City Public School SystelBBCPSS)

The BCPSS, through the office of the Chief Financial Officer, pursues a cash management and investment program to
achieve the maximum financiegturn on available funds. Depending on the projected cash needs of the BCPSS, excess
funds may be invested on a short, intermediate orlerg basis at the best obtainable rates. Investments are generally in
direct or indirect obligations of the U.S. Ganment and are fully collateralized.

The BCPSS is authorized by State law to invest in direct or indirect obligations of the U.S. Government, repurchase
agreements and related mutual f u n8lase predeihted bab@IPirs/&tingntsi n v e st
are presented by investment typrpiessed in thousands):

Investment Maturities (In Months) Max allowed
Fair Market per Investment
Investment Type Value Less than 4 41012 Percent Policy
Money market funds éééééééédééédééébécéiececpéeeqanes . 8747 22.1% 100.0%
Commercial paper éééééééééébéébéecédééégeédpecééscédame. . 13,541 34% 50
Fixed income ééééégééébéébbéébeéébecépecdpcédeceéenls 614 0.2% 100.0
Equity funds ééé6é6éééééébééébééébeééiéebeeéeeééseéens 526 0.1% 100.0
U.S. Government agencies é66666666666666666666607480E666689954 $ 234,396 69.2% 100.0
U.S. Treasury obligations 66éé66éé666¢666666666664812 666689583 5.0% 100.0
Total invested funds ééééééééééééééeéééeéééeéeéenndnr$eéeleo09 $  23439% 100.0%

Less: cash equivalents ééééééécééééééééééecébeerp@aceceé.

Total net investments é6é6é666666666666666660E6E6AMRBEEEES

Investments and ValuationBCPSScategorizes its investments using the fair value measurements identified in the fair
value hierarchy establisti by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs
used to measure the fair value of the asset ares ghe highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level | measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (level 3 measurements).
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are desdrbelow:

Level |- Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets;

Level 2- Valuations based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or identical assets or liabilities
in less active markets, such as dealer or broker markets; and

Level 3- Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significardnsoe
are unobservable, such as pricing models, discounted cash flow memtlsimilar techniques not based market
exchange, dealer or brokgaded transactions.

Transactions are recorded on the trade da#tized gains and losses are determined using the identified cost method. Any
change in net unrealized gain or Idssm the preceding period is reported in the statement of revenues, expenses and
changes in net position. Dividends are recorded on tliividend date. Interest is recorded on the accrual basis. Following

is a description of the valuation methodologiesdifor assets measured at fair value.

BCPSSinvestments are cagonised of money market fundgixed income securities, commercial paper and U.S.
government securities and are \eduat their Fair Market Valu&-MVs) or amortized cost.

Debt and equitgearrities classified in Level bf the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices quoted in active markets
for those securities. Debt securities classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using a matrix pricing
technique.

Matrix pricingi s used to value securities based on the securit

and residetial mortgagebacked securitieglassified in Level 3 are value using discounted cash tieehniques
Collateralizeddebt obligations cladfied in Level 3 are valued using consensus pgci
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City Schools had the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2018:

Balance
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 June 30, 201!

Investments by fair value level:
Debt Securities:

Equi ty Funds E€ééééééééeéeéeéééééereéesdroe. . $ 526

Uus Government Obligations éééééééésarasseeéeé 274,350

US Treasury Obligations éééééééééééeleeoseeé. 19,993
Tot al De bt Securities EEééééééceéééé bBeeEeDEIUR & 294,869
Equity Securities:

Fi xed I nc o me ééééééceceeceeeececeéecrie é 614

Commer ci al Paper éééééécéceceeéeeceéeeééééé é él13541 13,541
Tot al Equity Securities éééécéeécéeeeeelace éé azxhdle é é . 14,155
Investments carried at amortized cost:

Deposits éééeééééecécééeececeeeeceeeeceeeceé (105)

Mo ney Mar ket Mut ual Funds eééeéceéeeececececéce. . 87,471
Tot al Il nvest ment s at amortized cost eééééeéeeeeceéeéeéeéeéé . 87366
Tot al l hvest ment s Eéééeééééééééé e éled0é é ¢ 80&,884 $ $ 396,390

Investment RatingsRatings apply to all Money Marké&inds,Checking, Commercial Paper, Repurchase agreenaams,
U.S. Government Agencigslollar amounts expressed in thousands)

Moody Percent Fair Value S&P Percent Fair Value
Aaa éééééééeéééeééceée 692% $ 274,350 AAA ééééééééééééceéée. . 215% $ 85,123
Aaa éééééééeéééeééééé. . 215 85,123 AA+ éééééééééécéééeéée 692 274,350
P-1 ééééééééééécéééééé. 34 13,541 A-1+ éééééééééééécééééé 16 6,471
Not rated ééééééééééééénsy. . 23,481 A-1 ééééééééééécéééééé. 18 7,070

100.0% $ 396,495 Not rated ééééééééééééedseé 23,481

100.0% $ 396,495

Interest Rate Rigk Interest rate risk is the risk that changemirrest rates of debt investments will adversely affect the

fair value of investment3.he BCPSS limits its interest rate risk in accordance with their policy by maintaining a minimum

of 20% of the BCPSS&s i nvest menmlude U.6. Gbvernnikst Sacurities, Ovemnightd i n
Repurchase Agreements and Money Market Mutual Funds.

Credit Risld Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligation.

As stated above, the BCPSS limitgestments to highly rated investments in the categories discussed above.

Cash and cash equivalents include Money Market deposits and other types of investments.

Baltimore Hotel Corporation

The Baltimore Hotel Corporation (BHC) pursues a casimagement and investment program to achieve the maximum
financial return on available funds. Investments consist of private debt obligations and money market funds with varying
maturity dates. Certain portions of the investments are used to fund opadiwitges of the entity and other portions are

used for debt repayment. These investments are stated at marketAddional disclosures required by GASB 74 are
available in the separately issued BHC financial statements.

50



CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
(Continued)

The BHC has no formadolicy for limiting risk associated with these investments. The City of Baltimore Department of
Finance directs the selection of investment funds. At-gadrBHC held investments in the amount d#% 77000
consistingof repurchase agreements with various financial institutions and government money market funds.

. Receivablesnet

Receivable atyeeend of the Cityds major individual government al
(including internakervice and fiduciary funds) weas follows (expressed in thousands):

Grants Capital Non-major

General Revenue Projects Enterprise and Other
Receivables Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Total
Property taxesééééééééééééééééée $ 12483 $ 12483
Service billingsééééééééééééééééééeééeéééeé. . $ 132,462 132,462
Due from other governmentsééééééééemaané éy é38H2é&. 17,982 331,169 $ 2,891 464,382
Notes and mortgages receivabl eéééb@rreeééceééecéé. . 35,934 305,876
Ot her éééééééééééééééééeééeéeééééé: 24,281 325 1,360 2,945 28,911

Total éééééééééééééééeééééeéééééése385939 $ 33107 $ 18307 $ 500925 $ 5836 $ 944114

Unavailable property taxes include prepaid property te&esrice billing are reported net of an allowance for doubtful
accounts of $2,537000. Bad debt expense for fiscal year Z0as £3,128000

Adjustments unrelated to consumption that resulteéddunctions to income on Water, Wastewater, and Stormwater Utility
Fund customer accounts were recorded in the Water Utility.Fund

. Capital Assets
Capital assets activitider the year ended June 30, 3Dtvereas follows (expressed in thousands):

Governmental Activitie€apital Assets:

Balance Balance
Class June 30, 201 Additions Deductions June 30, 201
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land ééééééééééécéééécécécééececéecéeéecs 248215 $ 248,215
Ot her ¢ééééééeééécééécééecééeceéeceééee. 117141 $ 2927 $ 2383 117,685
Construction in progress ééééééééééeclBEaTR é¢ééé8608L . 69,683 202,275

Total capital assets, not being 854283 eci a89608 ééééROEEEEéé é568175
Capital assets, being depreciated

Building and improvements ééééééécééqrir3narecéédssus . 2,156,480
Equipment ¢éééééééééééééééééeéeéééésd 477,469 20,409 11,486 486,392
Infrastructure éééééééééécééceééesd 2,882,991 39,114 2,922,105
Library books ééééééééééééééééééééééeénnms. . 2,881 35,039 37,097

Total capital assets, being depr556855at ed WOHéeéeéédeREéé 5602074
Less: accumulated depreciation for:

Building and improvements ééééééééééaprlorerééééapso . 1,280,680
Equipment éééééééééééééééééééceééésé 369,281 21,230 9,207 381,304
Infrastructure éééééééééécéccééééé 1,303,732 71,182 1,374,914
Library books éééééééééééééééééécééééésndrn. . 3,566 35,039 21,506

Total accumulated depreciation 6éX966:B63 ¢é¢éé aBmMeEréééé. 44,246 3,058,404

Total capital assets, being depreciat2g@®39net (AP EEEEEBNEEEEEXE3670
Governmental activities capital asséetXl53632et $68XBFK 66 &6 674,846 6 é 6% §111,845
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Businesgype Activities Capital Assets:
Balance Balance
Class June 30, 201 Additions Deductions June 30, 201
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land éé6éééééééécebébéécceéecceééeceeéésd. 36920 $ 36920
Construction in progress €éé666666666d56BARNEEEKBIBES. . $ 873387 1,213,031

Total capital assets, not beingl6d2@reci3186d ¢é¢é e8rEIBE € ¢ é é 5249951
Capital assets, being depreciated

Building and improvements éééééééééexleonnaééée dadgd. | 3,897,094
Equipment éé66é6ééé666é6é6é6ééééeeéeeéeesBEI 28,768 366,091
Infrastructure éé6é6é6éééééééééééééeeéedAmaRBedé 119833 1,221,616

Total capital assets, being dep46083i0at ed87&8MEééééééééééé 5484801

Less: accumulated depreciation for:

Building and improvements ééééééééeéelelt3ndoc ééééabssl. . 1,178,860
Equipment ééééééééééécéééecééééeéeééeerass 10,931 181,286
Infrastructure ééééééééééééééécéeééeepmameceé 19871 222,997

Total accumulated depreciation &486E8eceeORIBTEEEE 1,583,143

Total capital assets, being depreciatXl#ls30net 78®IeEEEEEEEEEEEEESEANLESS
Business-type activities capital as $ef726,742n e 1288284 é¢é$% é&/838¢ é é &¢é 51,609

Depreciation expensgas charged to functions/programs of the City for the fiscal year ended June 8(ar201ints
expressed in thousands):

Governmental activities

Gener al government éééééeécééecééecéeecééeecéeecéeececcr éecs@me
Public safety and regul ation ééééééécéééeceéeeceeéceéceésgrs
Conservation of health éééééééééeééééeéeeéeeeeeeéeeecececee s8I
Soci al services ééééécéececececeecceececeececeececeececeeceeeceeeeeecee
Education éééééééééécéééeéeécéeécecéeéeeceeceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeééééaxress
Public library éééééééééeééééécéeéééeéceéececeeeceeecececeeeoArE:
Recreation and par ks eééeééeéeceéeeeceeeeceeeceeececee 8,678
Hi ghways and streets ééééééééécéécécéeécéeéeecéeéeecéeeeeeeééeéarrar
Sanitation and waste removal eééééééeeeeéeeeéeeéeé 2,387
Public service €ééééeééecéeéeececeeeceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeas®d
Economic devel opment eéééeecéeeeceeeceeeceeeceecec 881
I nt ernal service funds €ééééeéééecééeéecéeecéeeééécece éé BE3R&c

Tot al €éééééééééécééécéécééécceééeéeééeééeecéeeééecéécecéeé épe éls497

Wat er éééeééeecééeeceécecééeecéceeééececeeéeeceeéeeceééeeceeéeeéeéedsed. 34457
Wast ewat er ééééééééeééeeeceéeeéecéeéeeeececeeceeeeeeeeecec 53,067

St or mwat er eeeéeécecececeeececeececeeeececeecececeececeececececee 4,881
Parking ééééééééécéééeéééeeééeecééeecééeeeéeeéeéeeeéeeece 2,801
Conduits éééééeecécecéececééeecéceéeéeeceéceeeééeceeceeeeeeéeeecéceceellsy

Tot al eééééeécécééeceecceeceececeeceeeceeeceeeceeeé ééé 9,363

At June 30, 208, the outstanding commitments relating to projedtthe City of Baltimore amouatto approximately
$147,117000 for governmental activities and1#.39,043000 for businesdype activities. Interest is capitalized on
businesgype capital assets acquired with -exempt debt. The amount of interest ® ¢apitalized is calculated by
offsetting interest cost incurred from the date of borrowing until completion of the project, with interest earned ah investe
proceeds over the perioburing fiscal year 208, net interest cost of4#,498000 (net of interst income of $,063000

was capitalized.
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6. Interfund Balances and Activity

A. BALANCE DUE TO/FROM OTHER FUNDS

Balances due to/from other funds at June 3082@&re as follow (amounts expressed in thousands):

Interfund

Fund Receivable Payable
Gener al éééécécéécéécééececéeceeecéecéeceeececeéeeceeéesdesssb26 $ 21,749
Capital project s ééééécécéééeéececeéeeceeeceeceeermmmecéecé
Nonmaj or government al éééeeeceeecéeeeéececeé 8,455 1,844
Proprietary ééééécécééceéecéceceececeeeeceéeeceéeéééeénson
Nonmaj or proprietary eééééecéeeééeeeéecééc 32,509
I nt ernal service €éééééééececéeéeeceecéeceeceececececeéeédnd
Agency éééécéééeéecéecéeceeececeeceeeceeeeeeececeéecé 347

Tot al s Eééécéécééééecééceeceececeeeeceéeeéee$eénss821r $ 66,821

The Interffundb al ances ar e pr i ma rpolicynottoheflectrcasts deficits in dsfindividhfandsCi t y 6 s
Also, at June 30, 2@] certain transactions between funds had not been completed.

B. TRANSFERS T@FROM OTHER FUNDS

Transfes to/from other funds at June 30, B)vere as follow (amounts expressed in thousands):

Grants Capital Nonmajor Internal Total
Fund General Revenue Projects Governmenta Parking Service Transfer To
General éééééeééééééé $ 104901 $ 23249 $ 4,462 $ 52,923 $ 185535
Grants revenues ¢ééé 21,229 6,372 27,601
Capital projects ééééé&aeeééeééses $ 17,790 $ 250 39,032
I nternal service ¢éé 1,842 1,842

Total transfers fr® m484Deée 623814 .5. 4462 $ 17,790 $ 59,295 $ 250 $ 254,010

Transfes were primarily to the Gener&undto provide funds for debt service and to transfer excess revenue from
the Proprietary Funds to the General Fund.

C. DEFICITS

The following funds haa deficit fund balance/net positiah June 30, 2@l (amounts expresséa thousands):

Special revenue funds:

CDBG ¢éééééééeecééééiéecbééiéceeceéeéicceecdeecceecées | 4,

Table Game éééééééééécééééééeceeéééeeeééeeeeeeééeeeedny
Internal service funds:

Municipal telephone exchange éééééééééééécécécécémp

[N

Deficits in the above funds are temporary and are not expected to continue.
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7. Long-term Obligations

A. LONG-TERM OBLIGATION ACTIVITY

The City does not have a debt limit; however, the Constitution of Maryland requires-atdpgeocedure for the
creation of debt:

A Act of the General Assembly of Maryland or resolution of the majofi§altimore City delegates

A Ordinance of the Mayor and City Council

A Ratification by the voters of Baltimore City

Changes in longerm obligations for the year ended June 3082@te as follows (amounts expressed in thousands):

Due
New Debt  Debt Within
June 30, 2017 Issued  Retired June 30, 20180ne Year

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES*

General Obligation Bonds:

Hi ghways ééééééééécéécéééécééeééddéé 1311 $ 140 $ 1171 $ 168
Health éééééééééeééécéceéeéeéeeéeeée.1897 $ 801 1,080 1,618 160
Public safety éééecééééééécéceéééécéecépde. 824 1,190 1,882 240
Of f-street parking ééééécéééééeécécexdrcéce. 141 5,373 157
Recreation and parks ééééééééééééer3mibeédsld83 . 8806 31,213 2,070
Public buildings and facilitid:¢ 53449 42,100 24,497 71,052 4,682

School ééééééeéécééeécécéceéeécéeeéeélrl3se 83,600 71,511 183,445 11,677
Urban renewal éééééééééééééééecéeééemgad. . 81572 57,550 226,751 17,471
Unallocated éééééééécécéééécécécééedpnl 75 584 4,052 628

Total general obligation bonds46608léeX8Es ¢ 46549¢é . 526557 37,253

Bond Anticipation Notes éééééééécéééeécenldrréeééécé. nnlss

Special Obligation Bonds

Special Obligation Bonds ééééc¢ 199,876 1,700 198,176 2,003
Long-term financing with the Federal Government:
Federal economic development | oan237RéécéécéééedFHEeé. 20,320 3,613
Total Governmental Activitie$ HBAESEDASPEB0BERS 745053 $ 42,869
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIMTIES

General Obligation Bonds:
Stormwater ééééééééécéécéééécéée § 2440 $ 1404 $ 255 $ 3589 $ 349
Bond Anticipation Notes:
Stormwater ééééééééécééééééécééd 852 852
Total Business-Type Activitifs 32®éxéerO0L 88026, 358 $ 349

COMPONENT UNIT - BALTIMORE CITY PUBLIC
SCHOOL SYSTEM
Bonds:
Schools éééééééééééééééééeéééééééééélnsro $ 11,735 $ 96,985 $ 12,838

*Included in the Statement of Net Position for Governmental Activities is a remaining unamortized premium of $26,292,000
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Fixed Rate General Obligation Bonds

On November 15, 201%he City issued general obligation bonds, Series 2012017B, 2017#C, and 201D, in the

amounts of $76,020,000, $108,295,000, $33,675,000, and $8,570,000, respectively, and totaling $226,560,000. Of this
amount, $109,695,000 were issued for varioapital project, and $116,865,000 were refunding bonds that current
refunded certain outstanding maturities totaling $46,760,000, and advanced refunded certain outstanding maturities
totaling $84,560,000. Interest on the bonds is due each April 15th dode®d5th, and mature between 2019 and 2037
depending on the particular series.

The Series 2017 general obligation refunding bonds were issued for a net present value economic gain of $15,437,000.
This amount was used toviceeastse.ce the Cityds future debt s

Variable Rate General Obligation Bonds

At June 30, 208, the City had $7,935000 of taxable variable rate demand Consolidated Public Improvement Bonds 2003
Series C and D outstanding, to construct various capital projects through@ityth€he bonds mature on October 15,
2020 and 2022, respectively.

The bonds bear interest at a variable rate that is reset by the Remarketing Agent on a weekly basis. Under terms of the
remarketing agreemerthe City at its option may change the bongk it a monthly or longerm rate at any time until
maturity upon notification of bondholders.

In conjunction with the bonds, State Street Bank and Trust Company issued an irrevocable letter of credit with a current
value of $8,318000in favor of the City and Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company as Tender Agent. The agreement
expiresOctober 15, 2022The existing Agreement permits the fiscal agent to draw certain amounts to pay the principal
portion and related accrued interesttio@ bonds tendered for purchase and not remarketed.

The interest rate on draws made under this agreement includes a base rate defined as the greater of prime rate plus 1.00%
federa funds rate plus 2.00% @&5%. The City is required to pay tiBea n keé throughout the term of the Agreement

equal to 0.65% per annum of the average daily amount of the available commitment. During fiscal year 2018, the City
made nadrawsunder the Agreement, and there were no amounts drawn against the Agreement outstahaiag30,

2018.

Compensated Absences

Compensated absences at June 308,201aled $56,628000for governmental activities andL$,160,000for business
type activities, of which45,656000and %,447,000, respectivelywere due within one year. For the Baltimore City Public
Schml System, compensated absences and early retirement incentive plan aotaletts#7,273,000

Changes in compensated absences during fiscal@d8rare as follows (amounts expressed in thousands):

Governmenta Business-type

Activities Activities Total
Bal ance June 30, 2017 eéeeéeececeche erlbrre 8¢ € €1435 $ 160,010
Leave earned éééééééecceéeeceeeceeéeéeéesbg@. 6,172 62,881
Leave us ed ééééééeééécéeeéeeééééééééé é4b@dso) (5,447) (51,103)
Bal ance, June 30, 2018 eééééeéeHeereme §é & &1B,0 $ 171,788
Due in one year $ 45,626 $ 5477 $ 51,103

Parking Facilities Fund Revenugharing Agreement
The Parking Facilities Fund entered into two revenues sharing arrangements with the State of Maryland in 2001 and 2003

for the development of two parking garages. In exchange for a $9,000,000 investment fBiaiehthe City agreed to
shareb% interest annually on the investment, payable to the State when the garages began to generate positive cash flow.
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In fiscal year 208, the Parking Facilities Fund reflected3p,000 of interest expense and pat&b4726 of interest part
of this ageement.

B. DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

Debt service requirements on loteym debt at June 30, 28lare as follow (amounts expressed in thousands):

Governmental Activities

Long-Term Financing

with Federal Special Obligation
General Obligation Bonds Government Bonds
Interest
Rate Swar

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Net(@) Principal Interest Principal Interest
2019 . ...... ... ... $ 37,253 $ 22,786 $ 507 $ 3,613 $ 859 $ 2,003 $ 11,056
2020 . ... ... 41,255 21,188 474 2,788 734 2,615 10,952
2021 ... ..o 46,437 19,301 387 2,901 612 3,102 10,816
2022 ... 49,904 17,182 252 3,023 483 3,560 10,652
2023 ... ... 52,604 14,906 86 2,329 356 4,107 10,487
2024-2028 . ... .. 153,679 49,999 5,666 373 29,330 48,284
2029-2033 ... ... 100,270 19,126 42,495 38,628
2034-2038 ...... 45,155 4,673 57,078 26,337
2039-2043 . ... .. 44,378 8,307
2044-2048 ... .. .. 9,508 810
Totals .. .... $ 526,557 $ 169,161 $ 1,706 $ 20,320 $ 3,417 $ 198,176 $ 176,329

(a) InterestRateSwapNet paymentgepresenéestimatedadditionalinterestpayableto counterpartiefor
additionalinterestresultingfrom swapagreementsT he additionalpay mentswerecomputedusingrates
as of June30, 2018,assumingcurrentinterestratesremainthe samefor the remainingtermof theswap
As rates vary, variable rate bond interest payments and net swap payments will vary.

Business-type Activities

General Obligation Bonds

Fiscal Year Principal Interest
200 . e e $. .. 349 $ 169
2020 . e e e 380 152
2020 e e e e 433 126
2022 e e 461 104
2023-2027 . . i e e e 486 81
2028-2032 . . e e e 576 262
20332037 o it e e e e e e 410 164
2037-2041 . . . . e e e e 494 60
TOtalS . o e e e e e e $. .. 3,589 $ 1,118

A summary of general obligation bonds outstanding bondanticipation notes outstandingnd bonds authorized but
unissued (amounts expredsa thousands) at June 30, 30&re as follow:

Authorized
Outstanding But Unissued
Purpose Due Dates Interest Rates Amount Amount
Fire, police, and public protection é é @18 b e03® & E@cte @08 &¢é & é1é882¢ $ 147
Of f -street par ki ng éééééécééeécéecéeééceéééééBEBEEAOIBE &% to 5.5% 5,373 345
Recreation and par ks eéééééceéééeéeeéeééécé é éé éosSenee3s é aawrto6.0% 31,213 17,539
Public buil di ngs and facilities € é é é ¢é é éWEBE0E2035 € % tb&.8% € é é €78,052 112,899
School s éééééééeécécéeéeceéececeéeeéeéeéeéeéé éeéexnrto2035 1.0% to 5.8% 183,445 86,994
Ur ban renewal and devel opment eééééééé éeWEBEE2035¢ €lH% &% & . . 226,751 118,324
Hi ghways ééééééeééécéececeéecéeécéeececeéeééceééé éa29¥10.2026 1.0% to 5.5% 1,171 220
Fi nance ééééééeééécéeéceceecéecéeeéeceeceeceeceece. 20,000
Heal t h ééééééééécééececeéeceececéeececeeceéeecéceécéée éPor8to 2032 1.0% to 6.0% 1,618 4,070
St or mwat er ééééééééeécééeéceceéecceceééeéecécééeéé éedBe026 1.0% to 5.5% 3,589
Unall ocat ed éééééééceécéecéeceécéeecececeéeeceecéceéceée&arsmdenzs 1.0% to 5.0% 4,052
Tot al s éééécééééecéecéecécéeecéecéeeeeecéeeececeéee. . $ 530,146 $ 360,538
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Baltimore City Public School Sgsn (BCPSS) Bonds

BCPSS has issued the City Schools Qualified School Construction Bonds Seriegh2088ries 2009 Construction
Bonds) in the amount of5®,800,000 maturing through the year ending June 3@=20he net proceeds Series 209
Construction Bonds were used to fund various capital improvements to existingsseitioiol BCPSS.

As BCPSS enters into capital project contracts with one or more contractors, funds are to be drawn from the Series 2009
Construction Bonds escrow accounmftind capital expenditures. The interest rates on the bonds include a Tax Credit rate

of 5.90% and an interest rate bf2%%, and interest is payable quarterly on March 15, June 15, September 15, and December
15 of each year. Principal sinking fund paymstarted on December 15, 2014. As of June 308201 outstanding

balance of the Series 2009 Construction Bondg4s135000.

BCPSS has issued the City School Refunding Bonds Series 2009 (the Series 2009 Refunding Bonds) in the amount of
$32,335,000maturing through the year ending June 30, 2018. The proceeds of the Series 2009 Refunding Bonds were
used to refund a portion of the Series 2000 and Series 2003A Bonds. The interest rate ranges from 4.00% to 5.00% and
interest is payable semiannually oral and November 1f each year. As of June 30, R)1he Series 2009 Refunding
Bondsare fully paid

In January 2011, BCPSS issued the City Schools Qualified School Construction Bonds Series 2011 in the amount of
$60,825,000 maturing throgh the year mding June 30, 2026 he net proceeds of the Series 2011 Bonds were used to
fund various capital improvements to existing schools within BCPSS.

As BCPSS enters into capital project contracts with one or more contractors, funds are drawn from tB@13efiends

escrow account to fund capital expenditures. The interest rates on the Bonds is 5.692% and interest is payable semi
annually on June 15 and December 15 of each year. As of June 80tH&0dutstanding balance on the Series 2011 Bonds

is $52,89,000

Future minimum bond payments are as follows at fiscal gding June 30, 2@ amounts expressed in thousands):

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total

2019 €ééééééceéceécécécéécecéeeeeeeeeeeeseée12838 $ 4097 $ 16,935
2020 ééééééeécecececeecceeéeeeeeeeeeeeéé 12,723 4,097 16,820
2021 éééééééceceécecececceéééeéeéeeeeeeeeééé 12608 4,097 16,705
2022 ééééééééééeéééeééeceeeeeeeeeeeéé 13373 4,097 17,470
2023 ééééééééééécéééeééeceeeeeeeeececéecé 16156 4,097 20,253
2024 - 2026 ééééééééééececééeéééeééeecee®Werye. 9608 38,895

C. CAPITAL LEASES

Primary Government

The City has enterethto various conditional purchase agreements to construct and purchase certain facilities and
equipment to be used by municipal agencies. These conditional purchase agreements do not constitute a pledge of the full
faith and credit or taxing power of thétand are subject to termination if sufficient funds are not appropriated by the

City Council. Since termination of these agreements is not foreseen, the agreements have been capitalized. During fiscal
year20B, t he Ci t y 6 §gatiorsfprigaverimeritabaativitiemonebsed by $139000 (which is net of new

leases in the amount 02%055000and lease principal paymeritsthe amounof $17,915000 from the fiscal year 201

total of $6,534000.During fiscalyear 20Bt he Ci t y 6 s c¢ a psifot badineskypeaastigitieoifréased layt i o n
$7,636000(which isnet of new leases in the amount of $22,708 &@dlease principal paymentg $15,070,00@mount

of the lease paymentom the fiscal year 204 total of$79,522000,
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Future minimum lease payments at June 30828tk as follow (amounts expressed in thousands):

Business-type Activities
Governmental Enterprise  Internal Service

Fiscal Year Fund Fund Fund Total
2019 ééééééééééeéééeéecéeécéeeececéeeeeeceécéeéeed. . 16660 $ 207 $ 18,408 $ 35275
2020 éééééééééééééeééééeééeéeeéeeeééeeééeeeééééé. . 14833 120 16,098 31,051
2021 ééééééééééééééééeééeéeéééeecééeeéeeeeéééecéeé 10,833 123 14,418 25,374
2022 ééééééééééééééééeécéeéeééébecéeeeceeecééeecéeé 8,262 130 12,480 20,872
2023-2034 é666666666666E6666606666666660666666666666663B,578 335 33,275 69,188
Total minimum |l ease paymentsééééééééééééééééééBRIER éé6¢é 6% 94,679 181,760
Less: interestééééééééééééécéééécéééccéeecéééec@non. . (89) (8,346) (20,927)

Present value minimum |lease paymentséééRééaBareeReééé e é® é¢686333 $ 160,833

The following is a schedule of leasptbperty under capital leases by major class at June 38, (20bunt expressed in

thousands):

Business-type Activities

Classes of Property Govemnmental .
Activities Internal Service
Enterprise Fund Fund Total
Buildingsééééééééééééédeééééeéédeeéééceédééé 19362 $ 193,620
Equipment ééééééééééécéééécééééeééééeéécéeeéé. 2707140 $ 3187 $ 134,996 408,923
Total éé6ééééééééééééeéédeéépécéélbnoresé 3187 $ 134,996 $ 602,543

Amortization of assets recorded under capital leases is included in depreciation expense.

Baltimore City Public School System (BCPSS)

In November 2011, BCPSS entered into leases with two finaimsiutions to refinance the 2006 Energy Lease. The
2011 Refunding Leaskey Government Finance, Inini the amount of $22,341,000 (at an interest rate of 2.755% for 11
years) and the 2011 Refunding Le#4&T in the amount of $24,217,000 (at an interestierof 2.582% for 11 years)
refunded £2,30Q000 in 2006 leases. BCPSS had no gains or losses as a result of ghése n a AsofiJung 3D s2@

the outstanding balances on the 1st Niagara and M&T Refunding hease=$3,309000and $,87Q000 respctively.

On August8, 2014,BCPSS entered into a $3,926,0t4pital lease agreement (the Master Equipment Lease) with TD
Equipment Finance, Inc., for the acquisition28f busesThe lease wassued at an interest rate of 1%3or a term of
five years At June 30, 208, the outstanding balance on the 20daster Lease wa943000

On January 16, 2017 City School entered a $0.7 million capital lease agreement (the Master Equipment Lease) with M&T
Bank, for the purchase of computers. The leaseisgagd at a rate of 2.284% for a term of three years. At June 3), 201
the outstanding balance on the Z0daster Lease was3¥3000.

Future minimum lease payments as of June 308,2&r¢ as follow (expressed in thousands):

Capital

Leases

Fiscal Year Principal
2019 ééééeéeecééecéeececeeceeeececeeeeeceeeeeceeeeececcece $ 4,687
2020 éééeeeceééeeececececeeeceeceeceeeeeceeeeceeeeececcece 3,938
2021 ééééeéeecééeéeececeeceeeececeeeeeceeeeceeeeececece 3,694
2022 ¢ééééeeéeecééeeececeeceeceeceeceeeeeceeeeceeeeeccecece 2,877
Tot al mi ni mum | eas e pay ment s eééééeeeecécécééelsad
Les s: def erred int erest eééeéeeéeeeceeeeecece (701)
Present val ue mi ni mum | eas e pay ment s$ é 4448
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The following is a schedulef leased property under BCPSS capital leases by major class at June 80, 201
(amouns expressedh thousands):

Classes of Property
Buildings ééééééécéécééééecécéécéééécéecécéécécéecéecéécédréeérnnrs

Equi pment 6éééééééceééeéceéceceececeececeéececeeceeececeeeceéeéeéxne

Total ééééeééééececéééeecéééeecéééeeccéédécceééecceééeeceeés®é. 74004

. Revenue Bonds
Water, Wastewateand StormwateRevenue Bonds

The City has issued revenue bonds, the proceeds of which were used to provide funds for capital improweatents to
and wastewater facilities. Assets with a carrying values@@35,010000at June 30, 2@, and revenues of the Water and
Wastewater Funds are pledged as collateral for the bonds. Bonds outstanding as of Jung @hs&dlof (amounts
expressed ithousands):

Water Utlity ~ Wastewater ~ Stormwater
Fund Utiity Fund  Utility Fund
Term bonds series 1993-A with interest at 5.65%, payable ssemilbnusal | §600 due Ju
Term bonds series 1994-A with interest at 5.00% payable semiannuall§320due Ju
Term bonds series 1994-A with interest at 5.00% payable semi@®nually, due Ju
Serial bonds series 1998-A maturing in annual installments of $213,000 through February 1, 2019,
with interest at 2.87% payable semiannually éééééééééebébebeéedeceerpcecede
Serial bonds series 1999-A maturing in annual installments of $161,023 through February 1, 2019,
with interest rate at 2.52%, payable semiannually éééééééédebeédededpleddededc
Serial bonds series 1999-B maturing in annual installments from $92,000 to $636,000 through February 1, 2021,
with interest rate at 2.61%, payable semiannually 6666666666866 68¢E08¢EIRMIREEEEEE¢C
Serial bonds series 2001-A maturing in annual installments from $632,000 to $800,000 through February 1, 2022,
with interest rate at 2.30% payable semiannually é6é6é666666¢66¢66662008RE6¢E666¢
Auction rate notes series 2002-B, payable monthly, due July 128002037 éééééééééé
Auction rate notes series 2002-C, payable monthly, due July B0002037 éééééééééé
Serial bonds series, 2003-B maturing in annual instaliments from $38,626 to $73,094 through February 1, 2031
with interest rates at 0.40% payable semi annually éé6é6é6e@Eeéébcbededeceed:
Serial bonds series, 2003-B maturing in annual installments from $287,000 to $328,000 through February 1, 2023,
with interest rate at 0.40% payable semiannually ééé6é66é6cebeededelBrecededc
Serial bonds series, 2004-A maturing in annual installments from $207,015 to $218,042 through February 1, 2032,

with interest rate at 0.40%, payable semiannuallyééééébéeéérBrecébéetébéededéc
Serial bonds series 2004A maturing in annual installments from $340,000 to $369,000 through February 1, 2022,

with interest at 0.40%, payable semiannuallyééééééééécéebébededececbededecesd
Serial bonds series, 2004-B maturing in annual installments from $547,000 to $972,000 through February 1, 2022,

with interest rate at 0.45%, payable semiannuallyéééééeéeéodiéiééeebréesctééce
Serial bonds series, 2004-C maturing in annual installments from $886,000 to $907,000 through February 1, 2024,

with interest rate at 0.25%, payable semiannually ééé6é6é6éeéeeébednnpleeeedede
Serial bonds series, 2005-A maturing in annual installments from $104,000 to $1,102,000 through February 1, 2024,

with interest rate at 0.25% payable semiannually 6666666666666 6¢E08¢E55EIEEE6E66E6¢
Serial bonds series, 2006-A maturing in annual installments from $495,000 to $1,548,000 through February 1, 2025,

with interest rate at 0.40% payable semiannually éé6666¢8¢EEEEEECEGUNAYEEELERY
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Water Utilty =~ Wastewater ~ Stormwater
Fund Utility Fund ~ Utility Fund

Serial bonds series, 2006-B maturing in annual installments from $185,000 to $361,000 through February 1, 2026,

with interest rate at 0.40%, payable semiannually éééé6éééééééééséceroBréceéeéde
Serial bonds series, 2007-A maturing in annual installments from $6,541 to $78,574 through February 1, 2037,

with interest rate at 0.40%, payable semiannually ééééé86E6ERBECEEE6E6E66666¢
Serial bonds series, 2007-A maturing in annual installments from $1,704,000 to $2,174,000 through February 1, 2026,

with interest rate at 0.40%, payable semiannually ééé6é6é6é6666¢666A4RTAREEEEE6¢
Serial bonds series, 2007-B maturing in annual installments from $156,000 to $161,000 through February 1, 2027,

with interest rate at 0.40%, payable semiannually ééééééécéééééécécliprréécceéé
Serial bonds series, 2008-A maturing in annual installments from $650,000 to $670,000 through July 1, 2019,

with interest rates of 2.00% to 4.50%, payable semiannuall y6/@ééééééééééeéeéésé
Serial bonds series, 2008-A maturing in annual installments from $1,270,000 to $1,335,000 through July 1, 2018,

with interest rates of 2.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ééééééeBBeeéééésé
Serial bonds series 2009 maturing in annual installments from $80,342 to $124,415 through June 15, 2024,

with interest at 4.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ééééééééééééééeéecsééend
Serial bonds series, 2009-A maturing in annual installments from $465,000 to $500,000 through July 1, 2019,

with interest rates of 2.00% to 4.50%, payable semiannually®géécééééééccééééésd
Serial bonds series, 2009-A maturing in annual installments of $426,167 through February 1, 2029,

with an interest rate at 0.00% ééééééééééééédeeébéééiéébeéébbéeeccécapanecés. .
Serial bonds series, 2009-B maturing in annual installments of $91,149 through February 1, 2030,

with an interest rate at 0.00% ééééééééeéebééééébédedeéeéeededeecécedapredcés.

with an interest rate at 0.00% éééé6éé66ééeeéébeéébéecébecéerIpmMbcecécceéecéée.
Serial bonds series, 2009-C maturing in annual installments from $665,000 to $715,000 through July 1, 2019,

with interest rates of 2.00% to 4.50%, payable semiannually éééééceMpécécéésé
Serial bonds series, 2009-E maturing in annual installments of $157,842 through February 1, 2032,

with an interest rate at 0.00% ééééééééééééeéébeéébecebecébeececeécarmwecéés.
Serial bonds series, 2011-A maturing in annual installments of $1,145,000 to $2,000,000 through February 1, 2031,

with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00% é6éé66éé6ééébééébéédlemBecééeeééecéédded
Serial bonds series, 2011-A maturing in annual installments of $2,030,000 to $3,940,000 through February 1, 2031,

with interest rates from 4.00% to 5.00% é666¢6666¢666¢66668¢E66E6¢E6606¢E6062046MREEEEEEE
Term bond series 2011-A with interest at 4.50%, payable semidhdually, due Jul
Term bond series 2011-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semid4dually, due Jul
Term bond series 2011-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually228@ue Jul
Term bond series 2011-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually2918ue Jul
Serial bonds series, 2011-B maturing in annual installments of $134,138 to $172,023 through February 1, 2043,

with interest rates of 1.00% éééé6é¢é66EE6EéééiéébeeébieeieeedBantecéécceééce.
Serial bonds series, 2011-B maturing in annual installments of $175,167 to $203,363 through February 1, 2033,

with interest rates of 1.00% é6ééé6ééébééébéébbéébbcébecbgeebbececcearndpecde.
Serial bonds series 2012 maturing in annual installments from $169,950 to $256,850 through October 1, 2027,

with interest rates of 2.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ééééééééééeéerws
Serial bonds series, 2013-A maturing in annual installments of $1,583,518 to $1,798,836 through February 1, 2034,

with interest rate at 0.80%, payable semiannually ééééééécécéééceerRrRIBBéécedét
Serial bonds series, 2013-A maturing in annual installments of $2,280,000 to $4,980,000 through July 1, 2033,

with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannuad6blp éééééééééééééé
Term bond series 2013-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semi 288wuwally, due Jul
Term bond series 2013-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semi 8368wually, due Jul
Serial bonds series, 2013-B maturing in annual installments of $2,985,000 to $6,815,000 through July 1, 2033,

with interest rates from 2.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannuadl5) éééééééééééééé

Term bond series 2013-B with interest at 5.00%, payable 26,705
Term bond series 2013-B with interest at 4.50%, payable 1,115
Term bond series 2013-B with interest at 5.00%, payahbhle 36,900

Serial bonds series, 2013-C maturing in annual installments of $1,210,000 to $2,540,000 through July 1, 2032,

with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannua2BPly) éééééééééééééé
Serial bonds series, 2013-C maturing in annual installments of $2,205,000 to $4,725,000 through July 1, 2033,

with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ééé&aaeécécééeé
Term bond series 2013-C with interest at 5.00%, payable 27,420
Term bond series 2013-C with interest at 5.00%, payable 35,000
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Water Utility Wastewater ~ Stormwater
Fund Utility Fund Utility Fund
Serial bonds series, 2013-D maturing in annual installments of $3,065,000 to $3,640,000 through July 1, 2033
with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually &ééé&Baoécééeééé
Term bond series 2013-D with interest at 5.00%, payable 14,835
Term bond series 2013-D with interest at 5.00%, payable 15,845
Serial bonds series, 2013-E maturing in annual installments of $1,690,000 to $3,030,000 through July 1, 2026,
with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually éééé&p@geééécééécé
Serial bonds series, 2014-A maturing in annual installments of $2,081,200 to $2,464,774 through February 1, 2035
with interest rates at 1.00% payable semiannually ééééécééééécééééce8rOFrecééceét
Serial bonds series, 2014-A maturing in annual installments of $1,715,000 to $3,785,000 through July 1, 2034
with interest rates from 2.00% to 5.00%, payable semianfiuad4BRh éééééééééééééé
Term bond series 2014-A with interest at 5.00%, payable 12,535
Term bond series 2014-A with interest at 5.00%, payable 9,430
Term bond series 2014-A with interest at 5.00%, payable 28,040
Serial bonds series, 2014-B maturing in annual installments of $960,000 to $4,825,000 through July 1, 2034,
with interest rates of 5.00% payable semiannually ¢ééééééééBEWEEECEEEEééédééédé

Term bond series 2014-B with interest at 5.00%, payable semiand®ually, due Jul)
Serial bonds series, 2014-C maturing in annual installments of $675,000 to $3,905,000 through July 1, 2034

with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannua2ly) éééééééééééééé
Term bond series 2014-C with interest at 5.00%, payable semia62ually, due Jul)
Serial bonds series, 2014-C maturing in annual installments of $1,520,000 to $3,350,000 through July 1, 2034

with interest rates from 2.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually éééeé&prbBécéccéeéésé
Term bond series 2014-C with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannuallyl9448ue Jul)
Term bond series 2014-C with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannuall y2488ue Jul)
Serial bonds series, 2014-D maturing in annual installments of $1,125,000 to $5,650,000 through July 1, 2034

with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ééérldBmBécécécééeé
Serial bonds series, 2014-E maturing in annual installments of $165,000 to $3,935,000 through July 1, 2032

with interest rates from 2.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ¢ééé&agaééééeééeé
Serial bonds series, 2015-A maturing in annual installments of $964,000 to $1,122,000 through February 1, 2035

with interest rates of 0.90%, payable semiannually ¢éééééééééééééeeanizréécecééc
Serial bonds series, 2015-B maturing in annual installments of $3,306,561 to $3,920,216 through February 1, 2037

with interest rates of 0.90%, payable semiannually éééééééééécéeééécermoeceeééce
Series bonds series, 2016-A maturing in annual instaliments of $1,000 to $903,935 through February 1, 2047 through

with interest rates of 0.70%, payable semiannually ééééééééééééécééaxsaréeéécéé
Serial bonds series 2016 maturing in annual instaliments from $908,658 to $1,996,701 through April 1, 2031,

with interest rates of 2.75% to 5.00%, payable semiannually éééééééééé &éénased
Serial bonds series 2017-A maturing in annual installments from $2,525,000 to $6,080,000 through July 1, 2036,

with interest rates at 5.00% payable semiannually éééééééédrl@Bécééééééeéeééés
Term bond series 2017-A with interest at 5. 00 %, payable 35,270
Term bond series 2017-A with interest at 5.00%, payable 45,010
Serial bonds series 2017-B maturing in annual installments from $1,250,000 to $1,680,000 through July 1, 2028,

with interest rates at 5.00% payable semiannually ¢ééééééécédBlOREéEéééécééééécéée
Serial bonds series 2017-C maturing in annual installments from $90,000 to $2,825,000 through July 1, 2038,

with interest rates of 5.00%, payable semiannually ¢éééééééRruaréééééééééécéééc
Serial bonds series 2017-D maturing in annual installments from $170,000 to $5,800,000 through July 1, 2035,

with interest rates at 5.00% payable semiannually éééééééédzA®éééécééééeééééét
Serial bonds series 2017-E maturing in annual installments from $2,474,024 to $3,092,422 through February 1, 2050,

with interest rates at 0.80% payable semiannually ¢ééééééécedRNEEEééééééeééeééd
Serial bonds series 2017-A maturing in annual installments from $635,000 to $3,940,000 through July 1, 2036,

with interest rates at 5.00% payable semiannually éééééééééééeééécedrBrecééceét
Term bond series 2017-A with interest at 5.00%, payable 22,845
Term bond series 2017-A with interest at 5. 00 %, payable 29,165
Serial bonds series 2017-B maturing in annual installments from $285,000 to $10,500,000 through July 1, 2036,

with interest rates of 5.00%, payable semiannually ééééécéééécéeééécaxietecééécce
Term bond series 2017-A with interest at 5.00%, payable 17,595
Serial bonds series 2017-C maturing in annual installments from $565,000 to $6,835,000 through July 1, 2036,

with interest rates at 5.00% payable semiannually ¢ééééééééééééééceédrireéecéecét
Serial bonds series 2017-D maturing in annual installments from $137,315 to $175,375 through February 1, 2040,

with interest rates at 0.80% payable semiannually éééééééééééeééécceésoBreeééceét
Serial bonds series 2018-A maturing in annual installments from $4,613,248 to $5,812,490 through February 1, 2051,

with interest rates at 0.80% payable semiannually ¢éééééééééééééécélbRmapeécécéééé
Serial bonds series 2018-C maturing in annual installments from $521,314 to $606,526 through February 1, 2040,

with interest rates at 0.80% payable semiannually ééééécééééécéééécéed¥nrecéécét

893,969 1,188,939 9,916
Unamortized bond premiums éééééééééééééééééééééééééecéeécéecéBMgécéémael? 615

$ 972416 $ 1276851 $ 10,531
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Variable Rate Water and Wastewater Utility Bonds

At June 30, 2018, the Water Utility fund had $20,800,000 of auction rate notes outstanding. Interest rates for these notes
are determined every 7 days. In the event of a failed auction, the auction agent assesses the failed auction ragesto the issu
of the notes. Interest paid under these conditions is currently limited to 150% of tfieararial commercial paper rate
depending on the rating of each bond issue. The failed auction rate on these notes during the fiscal year was less than
2.91%.

On June2l, 2018, the City entered into a Water Quality Loan Agreement with the Maryland Water Quality Financing
Administration Water Quality Revolving Loan in the amount of $168,475,809 of which $1,500,000 is forgivable if the
City complies with the terms of tlegreement. The rate on interest is set at .080%, maturing February 1, 2051.

Variable RateParking Facilities Revenue Bonds

The City has issuetkvenue bondshe proceeds of which were used to finance construction of parkingiéacdihd
refinance existing deluf the Parking Facilities Fund. Assets with a carrying value28f419000 at June 30, 2@, and
revenues of the Parking Facilities Fund are pledged as collateral for the bonds. Bonds outstanding as of Jéhe 30, 201
consis of (amounts expressed in thousands):

Term bond series 1997-A with interest at 6. 00 %, payabl e $ e@dds
Term bond series 1998-A with interest at 5. 25 %, payabl e s e3R00e
Term bond series 2005 with interest at 5. 27 %, payabl e s emi B&i0r
Term bond series 2005 with int erest at 5. 30 %, payable s e mila47ar
Term bond series 2005 with interest at 5. 62 %, payabl e s emiBOooor
Variable rate demand bonds series 2008, payable monthly, & 71040
Term bond series 2010 with int erest at 5. 225 %, payable s e m3,0d5
Term bond series 2010 with interest at 6. 10 %, payabl e s emid&a2is
Term bond series 2010 with interest at 7. 00 %, payabl e s e mil4ad2s

$ 111,530

The City had $7,04Q000 of Series 2008 refunding taxable variable rate demand revenue bonds outstanding as of June 30,
2018. The Series 2008 Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at any time, at a redemption price of 100% of the
principal amount plus interest aced to the redemption date. The Series 2008 Bonds annual principal amounts starting
on July 1, 207 through July 1, 2032 range from $20,000 to $7,965,000.

The bonds bear interest at a variable rate that is reset by the Remarketing Agent on abasigklnitially, the

Remar keting Agent wil|l use a fADutch Auctiond to set the
terms of the indenture, the City at its options may change the bond rate to a monthlyterdongte at any timantil

maturity upon notification of the bondholders.

In conjunction wih the bonds, Bank of Amerigssued an irrevocable letter of credit with a current value in the amount of
$68,142,027 in favor of the City and Manufacturers and Traders Trust Compdmnder Agent. The agreement expires
December 1, 2020. The existing Agreement permits the fiscal agent to draw certain amounts to pay the principal portion
and related accrued interest on the bonds tendered for purchase and not remarketed. Theténterdsaws made under

this agreemat is a defined base rate plup to an additional 2.00% depending on the terms of the draw. The City is
required to pay the letter of credit fee throughout the effectiveness of the Agreement equal to 0.42% pef tieum o
average daily amount of the available commitment. During fiscal year 2018, the City made no draws under the letter of
credit and there were no amounts drawn against the letter of credit outstanding at June.30, 2018
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Convention Center Refunding Reue Bonds

The Convention Center Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 1998 were issued as special limited obligations of the City to
refund the Mayor and City Council Convention Center Revenue Bonds Series 1994. The bonds are payable solely from
the revenuesvhich consist of certain hotel taxes and certain receipts derived from the ownership and operation of the
Baltimore Convention Center. At June 30, 2018, the balance outstanding on the Series 1998 bonds was $8,645,000 of 5.0%
term bonds due to mature on 8apber 1, 2019. Interest on the bonds is peyan March 1 and September leafch

year. The bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at redemption prices ranging from 102% to 100% of the
principal amount. The term bonds due September 1, 2018ubject to redemption at par prior to maturity by operation

of a sinking fund on or after September 1, 2017, at annual principal amounts ranging from $4,220,000 to $4,425,000. These
revenue bonds have been recorded in governmental activities becausestbryected to be paid by general revenues

Stormwater Special Revenue Bond

The City has issued a Stormwater Special Revenue Bond, Series 2004 WitB,$460utstanding This bond funded
various City stormwater capital projects associated with roadscob r uct i on. The bond is secur
share of state highway user revenues.

County Transportation Revenue Bonds

The City has entered into agreements with the State of Maryland to borrow County Transportation Revenue Bonds with
$81,035000 outstandingThe proceeds from these bonds will be used to fund certain highway improvements and
stor mwater projects throughout the City. These bonds a
revenues.

Convention Center Hot&evenue Bonds

The City issued Convention Center Hotel Revenue Bonds in the amouB®@®40000. The proceeds of these bonds

were used to finance the acquisition, demolition, construction and equipping of a convention center hotel in the City. The
bondsare secured by pledges of revenues from the operation of the hotel, certain City hotel taxes and limited guarantees
from the hotel operator. Bonds outstanding at June 3@, 20hsist of (amounts expressed in thousands):

Serial bond series 2017, maturing in installments from $1,450,000 to $10,775,000 through

September 2036, with interest rates ranging fr o#:ll336D
Term bonds series 2017 with interest at 5. 00% due S&®a5
Term bonds series 2017 with interest at 5. 00% due S41280

Term bonds series 2017 with interest at 5.00% due__Seé&gss

Tot al s éeeceeeéececeeceeeceeececeeceeeceeceeeceeceeeceeeceeeeeceeeeececect $ 268,755

Changes in revenue bond obligations for the yeaingriline 30, 204, are as follow (amounts expressed in thousands):

Due within One

June 30, 2017 New Debt Issues Debt Retired June 30, 2018 Year
Governmental Activities*
Convention Center and Hote $ 281,415 $ 4,015 $ 277,400 $ 5,670
Transportation éééééééeéééééééééer@se.s. 14,924 10,340 81,835 11,632
Tot al Government al Activ$ 358,666 $ 14,924 $ 14,355 $ 359,235 $ 17,302
Business - Type Activities**
Wat er ééééééééééééeééééeéééééééré 912410 $ 18441 $ 893,969 $ 21,058
Waste Water ééééééééééééeéééééeépdesl $ 166,976 42,582 1,188,945 40,805
Storm Water ééééééééeéeéeéeeeéé 25,897 15,981 9,916 1,092
Parking Facilities éééééééééééélexopneééécé. 11,490 111,530 12,270
Tot al Business-Type Acti¥ialP588 $eEéé¥64E6¢H 88494 $ 2204360 $ 75,225

* Included in the Statement of Net Position for Governmental Activities is a remaining unamortized portion of bond premium of $44,895,000.
** Included in the Statement of Net Position for Business Type Activities is a remaining unamortized portion of bond premium of $166,974,00
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Principal maturities anohterest of revenue bondshown at gross, are as folls@mounts expressed in thousands):

Governmental Activities

Transportation Revenu

Hotel Revenue Bonds Convention Center Bonds

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest
2019 ééeeeéeéeéeéeéeeéeéeeeeeée.$ 1450 $ 13,366 $ 4,220 $ 327 $ 11,632 $ 3,231
2020 ééééééééééeééééééeé. 2,100 13,302 4,425 110 12,174 2,774
2021 ééééééeeeeéeéeeeeeeée. 2,500 13,198 9,867 2,295
2022 ééééééééééeééééééeé. 2,950 13,061 10,364 1,862
2023 éé6666666666666666. 3,485 12,901 7,987 1,435
2024-2028 éééééééééééééé &5170 61,165 26,544 3,276
2029-2033 ééééééeéeeeééééé 89600 53,091 3,267 451
2034-2038 éééééééééééééé &l 41,698
2039-2043 éééééééeeeeéeééeé &65625 27,137
2044-2048 éé&éééééééééééé a455 8,995

Totals éééééééééééé &.26875 $257914 $ 8645 $ 437 $ 81,835 $ 15,324

Business-type Activities
Water Utility Wastewater Utility Stormwater Utility Parking Facilities
Swap Swap
Interest Interest

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Rate Net(a  Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal  Interest Rate Net(a
2019 ééééééeééées21,058 $38,415 $792 $40,805 $40,387 $1,092 $378 $12,270 $6,398 $2,619
2020 éééééeéeéé 21876 37,771 792 41,385 39,656 1,130 344 4,410 5,921 2,550
2021 éééééééééé 25373 36,855 792 43,122 38,815 1,171 307 4,735 5,663 2,471
2022 éééééééééé 25436 35,754 792 45,668 37,808 1,178 268 4,980 5,386 2,386
2023 éééééééééé 26323 34,628 792 45,601 36,398 874 231 5,210 5,088 2,277
2024-2028 ¢éé¢éeldx62s 155,090 3,960 232,817 159,532 3,942 645 31,675 20,169 9,137
2029-2033 éé¢ééewxEe1s 119,542 3,961 261,115 115,713 529 103 42,550 8,901 3,683
2034-2038 é¢ééEéelvaEs2s 76,098 2,228 224,203 67,953 5,700 608
2039-2043 é¢éééélFasl2 35,394 (20) 162,319 29,056
2044-2048 ¢ééééégxis 5,223 74,604 4,643
2049-2053 ¢éé¢ééééio. 75 17,300 278

$ 893969 $ 574845 $ 14089 $ 1188939 $ 570239 $ 9916 $ 2276 $ 111530 $ 58,134 $ 25123

(a) InterestRate Swap Net paymentsrepresentestimatedpaymentsfor additionalinterest resultingfrom swap agreementso counterpartiesThe additional pay mentswere
computedusingratesasof June30, 2017,assumingurrentinterestratesremainthe samefor theirterm. As ratesvary, variableratebond interestpay mentsandnet swappay ment:
will vary.

. Pledged Revenue
The Water, Wastewater and Stormwater Utility Funds

The Water, Wastewater and Stormwater Utility Funds have pledged future customer revenue t@98B69300,
$1,188,93,000, and $,916000 of revenue bondebt, respectively. Proceeds from these revenue bonds were used to
build and i mprove vari ous a snpgStanmwterdfiity systeaIhe bands ars paysble e r ,
solely from the revenues of the Water and Wastewater Utility Fandsare payable through 208ayments for the
Stor mwater Utility Fundés bonds have been madmwatei t h Ge
Utility Fund revenuesAnnual principal and interest payments on these revenue bonds are expeegdr¢ 66% of

pledged revenue3.otal principal and interest remaining to be paid on the revenue bonds for the Water, Wastewater and
Stormwater Utility Funds arel$82,903000, $,759,178000, and $3,664000, respectively. Principal and interest paid

for the current year and pledged revenue for the Water Utility Fund ve&d&5000 and 84,53Q000, respectively.
Principal and interest paid for the current year and pledged revenue for the Wastewater Utility Furi® 86960 and
$116,738000, respectively. Principal and interest paid for the current year and pledged revenue for the Stormwater Utility
Fund were %,216000 and 8,819000, respectively.
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The Parking Facility Fund

The Parking BEcility Fund has pledged future revenue from parkégsg and fines to repay $1,530000 of revenue bond

debt. Proceeds from these revenue bonds were used to construct various garages throughout the City. The bonds are
payable solely from the pledged revenue and are payable through 2035. Annual pandipalerest payents are

expected to requird4.2% of pledged revenue. Total principal and interest remaining to be paid on these revenue bonds is
$194,787000. For the current year, principal and interest payments and current pledged revenus y@2£0 and
$76,242000, respectively

Tax Increment Revenue Pledges

The City has pledged a portion of future property tax revenues to rép8y1$6000 in incremental property taxes bonds
issued to financ&arious development projectBhe pledged revenus limited to the incremental taxes on the projects
financed by the bond. Should the incremental taxes fail to generate sufficient revenue to pay the required principal and
interest, the City has established special taxing districts to generate adithtk@sasufficient to pay principal and interest

on the bonds. Total principal and interest remaining to be paid on these boB8dg,804000. For the current year,
principal and interest payments and current pledged revenue Wei8$00 and $2,136,000, respectively.

Baltimore Hotel Corporation

The City has pledged a portion of its hotel occupancy tax as security for revenue bonds, the proceeds of which were used
to buil d t hienCeénter Heéddguar@rs Roféthnet Ci t y 6 s haris ané of several pledged eyenue
sources the City used to issu#68,755000in Convention Center Headquarters Hotel Bonds. Following the net operating
income and the property tax increment for the Hotel, the site specific occupancy tax is plemyegriocipal and interest
payments on the bonds. If these sources are insuffieig@attion of the citywide occupancy tax is also pledged up to 25%

of maximum annual debt servic&he Hotel opened August 22, 2008. Total principal and interest rermgaimibe paid

on these bonds i586,670,000. For the current year, principal and interest payments We263000

Baltimore Convention Center

The City has pledged a portion of future revenue from Convention Center operations t8;6g&p&0 of revaue bond

debt. Proceeds from these revenue bonds were used to expand the Baltimore Convention Center. The bonds are payable
solely from pledged revenaend are payable through 202nual principal and interest payments on these revenue bonds
areexpected to mguire 100% of pledged revenukotal principal and interest remaining to be paid on these revenue bonds

is $9,082,000. For the current year, principal and interest payments and current pledged revenut548@08 and
$4,58Q000, respectiely.

10. Prior -Year Defeasance of Debt

Primary Government

In prior years, the City defeased certain revenue bonds and other obligations by placing the proceeds of new debt issues in
an irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service paymentiseoald debt. Accordingly, the trust account assets

and the liability for the defeased debt ar & $263205000nc | ud e
of debt outstanding is considered defeased.

11. Interest Rate Swaps

Obijectives of the swapghe City has entered into swaps for three reasons: first, the majority of its swaps have been used

to create synthetic fixed rate financing (by issuing floatimig bonds and swapping them to fixed) as a way to provide
lowercostf i xed rate financing to meet the Citybs capital ne
help the City manage its balance sheet for an appropriate mix of fixed and floating rate exposure. And, third, the City has
used basis swaps &mnend the floating rate on certain of its existing synthetic fixed rate swaps in order to provide a better
hedge on the underlying floating rate bonds.
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Terms, fair value and credit riskhe terms, fair values and credit rating of the outstanding sweapf.une 30, 2@l

were as follows. The notional amounts of the swaps mat
agreements contain scheduled reductions to outstanding notional amounts that are designed to track the scheduled or
at i ci pated reductions in the associated fAibonds payabl eod

Hedged Derivative Instruments

At June 30, 208, the City had deferred liabilities for various hedged derivative instruments with the total fair values of
these mstruments in the amounts ¢$1,228,437 and ($24,475,72), for governmental and businelspe activities,
respectively. The notional amounts for these hedged derivative instruments at June83Qye26147,935000 and
$87,20Q000, for governmental and businesge activities, rgsectively. During fiscal year 2@] the fair values of these
instrumentsincreased$l,946,696for governmentatype and decreased by %678,063for busines-type activities.All

hedges are cash flow hedges. The following schedule provides a detailed analysis of derivative instruments held at June
30, 20B:

MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF BALTIMORE
SWAP PROFILE as of June 30, 2018

Effective Termination Interest Rat¢ Interest Rate  Notional Counterparty
Outstanding Bonds Date Date Paid by City Received Amount Fair Value Credit Rating

Hedged Derivative Instruments - Governmental Activities
General Obligation Bonds
Floating to Fixed Swaps

2003 Bonds 5/14/2003 10/15/2020 4.215% 1M LIBOR $ 780,000 $ (15,502) A-/Baa2
2003 Bonds 5/14/2003 10/15/2022 4.970% 1M LIBOR 17,155,000 (1,212,935) A-/Baa2
Total Governmental Activities $ 17,935,000 $ (1,228,437)

Hedged Derivative Instruments - Business-type Activities
Water Utility Fund Revenue Bonds Series
Floating to Fixed Swaps
2002 Revenue Bonds 5/7/2002 7/1/2037 4.555% 67% LIBOR $ 20,800,000 $ (7,289,816) BBB+/A3
Total Water Utility Fund 20,800,000 (7,289,816)

Parking Revenue Bonds Series
Floating to Fixed Swaps

2008 Bonds 6/19/2002 7/1/2032 6.098% 1M LIBOR 60,700,000 (16,521,527) A+/Al
2008 Bonds 6/19/2002 7/1/2025 5.915% 1M LIBOR 5,700,000 (664,377) A+/Al
Total Parking Facilities Fund 66,400,000 (17,185,904)
Total Business-type Activities $ 87,200,000 $ (24,475,720)

Credit riskd As of June 30, 2@, the City is not exposed to credit risk on any of the outstanding swaps because the swaps
have negative fair value. All fair values were calculated usingndméto-market or par value method. However, should

interest rates change and the fair values of the swaps become positive, the City would be exposed to credit risk in the
amount of the derivativesd fair v al ageemenisiwigh ceunterparties.gnr € e me
general, these agreements require full coll ateralgi zati o
fall bel ow Baa as issued by Moodyobs or llsB@8maglseinitrefonmed by
of cash or U. S. government securities held by the City. Although the City executes transactions with various c@snterparti
oneswapsor approximately20% of the notionaamount of swaps outstanding hisld counterpaty that is currently rated

BBB+/A3. Of the remaining swaps, the City holds two swaps with a counterpartyAdi@aia2 approximately 1% of

the outstanding notional value, and two ss&ith one counterparty ratedtAd1, approximately63% of the outstandig

notional value.

Basisriskd T h e Grariabjedase bonds are of twypes: remarketed variable rate demand bonds (VRBB}uction

rate bouls (ARBs).For those swaps associated with the VRDBs and ARBSs, the City receives a floating rate based on one
month LIBOR.Fortwo of the swaps, the City will receive a percentLBOR or a percent of LIBOR plus a basis point
spread, each rate was chosen to cloaefyp r o x i mat e -exerhpt var@@bld rgted lond tpaymerBecause these
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swas are LIBORbased, there is an additional degree of basis risk. For four of the swaps, the City receives the one month
LI BOR, chosen to appr oxiraahbomd payments. Bs of Jurée 80, 204BOR fod thee priom r i a b |
52 weeks ranged from036t01.98, wher eas the Cityosl2®acdd®Bol e mar ket r an

Interest rate risk For those swaps for which the City pays a floating rate and receivesréiteegayments, the City is
exposed to interest rate risk. As floating rates incre
however, benefit from offsetting increases in its earnings on-gontinvestments, whose return would bgected to

go up in a higher interest rate environment.

Termination riskd The City or the counterparty may terminate a swap if the other party fails to perform under the terms
of the contract. If at the time of termination the swap contract has a refmtiwalue, the City would be liable to the
counterparty for that payment.

Investment Derivative Instruments

The fair value balance and notional amounts of derivative instruments outstanding are classified by type, and the changes
in fair value of suclderivative instruments for the year ended June 308 264 as follows:

Investment Derivative Instruments

Changes in Fair Value Fair Value at June 30, 2018
Classification Amount Classification Amount Notional
Business-Type Activities
Water Utility Fund
Floating to Floating é&éééduéstneitRéveruéd. 85874 Debt $ (3619528) $ (71,455,000
Total Business-Type Activities égéasxéce. $ (3619528) $ (71,455,000

Credit Risk- At June 30, 208, thegovernments not exposed to credit risk on the interest rate swaps, because they are in
a negative fair value or liability position. However, if interest rates change and the fair values become positive, the City
would have exposure to credit risk. The coumptary ratingfor the Water Utility Fund was A#Aa2. The change in the

fair value of invesnent swapsn the amount of a gaiof $85,874is netted and reported within the investment revenue
classification.

Interest rate risk For those swaps for which the City pays a floating rate, the City is exposed to interest rate risk. As
floating rates increase, the Cityds expected savings ¢
increases in its earnings on shtmtm investments, whose return would be expected to go up in a higher interest rate
environment.

Fiduciary Fund Types

Forward Currency Contracts

The Citybds Retirement Systems entered into forovegm d cur
currency exchange rates on portfolio holdings. They also entered into forward exchange contracts to settle future
obligations. A forward exchange contract is a commitment to purchase (payable) or sell (receivable) a foreign currency at
a future da¢ at a negotiated forward rate. Risk associated with such contracts includes movement in the value of a foreign
currency relative to the U.S. dollar. Unrealized gains or losses on forward currency contracts are the difference between
the contract and thdasing market value of such contract and is included in the statement of changes in fiduciary net
position as net appreciation/depreciation in the fair value of investments.
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The table below summarizes the market value of foreign currency contractiuae &0, 208:

Forward Foreign  Forward Foreign Forward Foreign Forward Foreign Unrealized Net
Contracts Cost Contracts Cost Contracts Fair Contracts Fair Gain/(Loss)

Currency Receivable (a) Payable (b) Value Receivable (c)  Value Payable (d) (c-a) + (b-d)

Australian Dollar ééRééeEmBERES. . 2632927 $ 2,632,927 $ 2,535,367 $ 97,560
Brazilian Real ééééééeééééemenn. 970,000 970,000 962,174 7,826
British Pound Sterling éB8I8B668¢é¢éééé. 313568 313,865 313,568 297
Canadian Dollar éééééééééereme 423,792 423,336 424,956 (1,620)
Chinese Yuan Renminbi é¢é148ipaoé éé . . 1,091,000 1,091,000 1,064,118 26,882
Danish Krone éééééééééééé3r3% 432,396 432,396 431,231 1,165
Euro Currency Unit ééééésaBEeBEE. . 4330631 4,313,354 4,351,223 (37,869)
Hong Kong Dollar éééééééélezwr 152,901 152,901 152,933 (32)
Japanese Yen ¢ééééééééééééergd 707,959 707,959 706,662 1,297
Mexi can New Peso éééééééglbrar . 1,355,977 1,355,977 1,399,272 (43,295)
New Zealand Dollar ¢ééeéééaiBz®%ge. 6,132,958 6,132,958 5,890,845 242,113
Pound Sterling éééééééééérigaas . 419,618 419,618 415,982 3,636
Singapore Dollar éééééééérras. . 122,335 122,335 119,813 2,522
Swedish Krona ééééééééééérigdes 113,468 113,468 113,957 (489)
Swiss Franc éééééééé 264,064 264,064 264,064 265,640 (1,576)
U.S. Dollar éééééééééééééxnpsnoes 5,650,967 5,632,928 5,650,967 (18,039)
Total ééééééééééééée s 25,114,561 $ 25,114,561 $ 25,079,086 $ 24,798,708 $ 280,378

Pension Plans

All City employees, other than thofessional employees of the Enoch Pratt Free Library and the Baltimore City Public
School System (BCPSS), who are members of the Maryland State Retirement and Pension Systems to which the City and
the BCPSS make no contributions, are covered under dhe @dllowing Public Employees Retirement Systems (PERS)

or the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System

The City contributes to two singemp |l oyer defined benefit pension plans,
System (F&P Plan), estalise d Jul y 1, 1962 and the Elected Officials
December 5, 1983 he City also contributesto twansts har i ng mul ti pl e empl oyer define
Retirement System (ERS Plaestablished January 1926 and the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System (the

State System)he F&P Plan, th&OS Plan, and the ERS Plan (the Gtgns) are each managed by a Board of Trustees

in accordance with Article 22 of the Baltimore City Code. Plan benefitgigions may be amended only by the City

Council. TheCityPl ans are considered part of the Citybés reporti:
Citybés basic financi al st ity Plarnsand the State Syereisssei separatet finamcat fun
statements which may be obtairfeaim the following websites:

For Employeesd Retiremdmtd Ryestie mwearickrs.Byesctteent Of f i ci a
ForFireand Poti e E mp | o ymeatSysterRvevi.lhcipers.org
For the Maryland State Retirement and Pension Systemu.sra.state.md.us

The financial statements for the CiBlansand the State Systeare prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.
Employer and member contributions are recognized in the period that the contributions are due. Employer contributions
are recognized when due and the employer has made a formal commitment to provide ithetioostrBenefits and

refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with terms of the Plan

A. PLAN DESCRIPTIONSSINGLE EMPLOYER PLANS
Fire & Police Employeesd Retirement System
The F&P Plan covers all uniformed personnel of the Baltimore City Fire and Police Departments. Based on criteria

established by theASB, t he F&P Pl an is a component wunit of the Cit
report as a pensidrust fund.
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At June 30, 201, the measurement date, the F&P membership consisted of;

Retirees and beneficiaries current|l y6,309

Acti ve pl an me mber s eééécéééeéeeeeéeeeceeeedor

Tot al eéééceéecéeececeeeeceeeeeeeceeceeeeeececéé e dns33

The F&P Plan provides normal service retirement benefitsyedl as death and disability benefits. Membership in the
F&P Plan is mandatory upon employment. The F&P Retirement System does not have a vested benefit plan; however,
members have vested rights to their contributions and interest.

F&P members were reqed to contribute 10% of their regular compensation through payroll deduction. The employer
contributions are determined through an actuarial valuation. According to plan provisions, contribution requirements of
the plan members and the City are establishnd may be amended by the Mayor and City Council. The valuation method

is stipulated in the plan provisions. An expense load of 1.5% is included in the annual employer contribution requirement
to cover administrative costs.

Members are eligible for aonmal service retirement if they acquire 25 or more service credit years with at least 15 years

of services credit as an F&P contributing member regardless pbaiehe member is age 55 and acquires 15 or more

years of service credit as an F&P conitibhg member. Normal service retirement benefits are calculated at 2.5% of the
average final compensation for the first 20 years plus 2% of the average final compensation for each year over 20 years of
service. Members are eligible for early servicereatient which is a reduced retirement benefit. To be eligible for early
retirement, members must acquire 20 years of service credit with at least 10 years of service credit as an F&P contributing
member regardless of age or attain age 50 with at leastak® gf service credit as an F&P contributing member.

Members are also eligible for a deferred retirement option program, DROP and DR@Bers with more than 20

years of service on or before December 31, 2009 can elect to participate in DROPt at ang . A member 6
participation period can be for one to three years. If a member retires during the DROP participation period, the benefit
shall equal:

1. The retirement benefit that would have been paid had the member retired at the time he/dtis/hegan
DROP participation, plus

22 A lump sum equal to the memberés DROP account .
payments the member would have received had the member retired, plus the member contributions paid
during the members DROP partiatpn period, plus interest at 8.25%.

Members with more than 20 years of service on or after January 1, 2010 can elect to participate in DROP 2. On July 1,
2010, this requirement was changed to members with more than 25 years of servicegi@naéetheed members. A
member 6s DROP 2 participation period can be for one to
period, the benefit shall equal:

1. The retirement benefit that would have been paid had the member retired at the timeenther began
his/her DROP 2 participation, plus

22 A lump sum equal t ®acdounte Thim equeisghe dccumila®idn f the annuity
payments the member would have received had the member retired, plus the member costpiéidtio
during the memérs DROR2 participationperiod, plus interest at 5.50/4r grandfathered members and
3.0% for norgrandfathered participants.

Postretirement benefit increases are provided to retirees and beneficiaries based on age, type of retirement and having
received benefits for two or more years as of each June 30 eligibility determination date.
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Elected Official§ Retirement System

The EOS Plan covers the Mayor, the Comptroller, and the President and all members of the City Council. Based on criteria
established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, the EOS Plalusaay fundof the City of Baltimore
andisincludedi t he Ci ty 6s fensioa tustifuad report as a

At June 30, 207, the measurement date, the EOS Plan membership consisted of:
Retirees and beneficiaries currently 28¢

Active plan members ééééééeééeééecéeéeéeceéld
Il nactive members eligible to but not y2€

Tot al eééeéceceececececeeceeceeeeeceeeeceeeeeeeece. 46

The EOS Plan provides retirement benefits as well as death and disability benefits and the reduction of benefits is precluded
by the City Code. Membership in the EOS Plama&ndatory upon taking the oath of office, unless the elected official is
already a member of the Employees6é Retirement System of

EOS plan members were required to contribute 5% of their regular contribution through payroll dedubtien. Ci t y 6 s
annual employer contribution is determined through an actuarial valuation. Baltimore City Code grants the authority to
establish and amend the contributions of the active plan members to the Mayor and City Council of Baltimore.
Administrativecosts of th&aOSPlan are paid from investment earnings.

Members are eligible to retire after the earlier of acquiring at least 16 years of service credit or attaining age 50 with at
least 12 years of service creditmember shall be entitled to receivenaximum service retirement allowance which shall
consist of:

1. An annuity which shall be the actuarial equivalent of accumulated contributions at the time of retirement,

2. A pension, in addition to the annuity, which together shall be equal to 2.5% ofrteataannual earnable
compensation applicable to the office multiplied by the number of years of membership credit.

Postretirement benefit increases are indexed to future increases in the compensation for the position held by the elected
official prior to retirement.

B. PLAN DESCRIPTIONSMULTIPLE EMPLOYER PLANS
Employees Retirement System

ERS is a cost sharing multiple plan teatrers City employees and the Baltimore City Public School System employees

with the exception of those required to join the Maryland State Retirement System, or the two other Baltimore City
retirement systems, t he Fir et eammdanPdo|tihcee EElnmepd toeyde e@fof iRceit
Based on criteria established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, the ERS Plan is a component unit of the
City of Baltimore and is included i.n the Cityés financi

At June 30, 201,2he measurement date, the ERS Plan membership consisted of:

Acti ve pl an me mb er s ééééééeeeééeéeéeéeeéee 8043
Ret ir ees and beneficiaries current |l y9ilade
Il nacti ve pl an me mb er s el i gible t o b u 1,045

Tot al eééécéceecceececececeeeceeeeceeeececececeéé a3

The ERS Plan provides service retirement benefitelisagdeath and disability benefits. Only the Mayor and City Council
may amend the ERS Plan Provisions. The reduction of benefits is precluded by the City Code.

The ERS Plan is divided into three Classes: A, C and D for amendment of membership andhsemgds of th&ERS
Plan Provisions.
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Class f@B3Aembaess. The AAO contributory class consists of
electto transferto Class C,thempront r i but ory <cl ass. Me mb e r s hongannvarsaryma n d a

of employment. However, the member could voluntarily enroll within the first two years of employment.

Cl ass fiCo0 of%223ememberofthe HRS membership and consists of all employees hired on or after July 1,
1979 who automaticallbecome members on the first anniversary of employment, and all members hired prior to July 1,
1979 who elected to transfer from the Class fAiA0O contrib

Effective July 1, 2013, Ordinance-134 was enacted by the Mayor and City Council intraalyciontributions for active

ERS Plan noftontributory members and eliminating the post retirement variable benefit increase. The Ordinance provides
that effective July 1, 2013nembers will contribute 1% of pay, to continue each year at 1% increments provided that 2%
compensation is received for each year of contribution until employee contribution reach 5% of compensation.

The ERS defined benefit mhearsss dinCoJ umaes X0 ,0s2@1 4 ot sn eevs timee
Retirement Saving Plan (RSP)he RSP consist of a 401a contributory #yorid and a hybrid contributory defined
benefit ADO Pl an. The RSP i s not xigingERJpéan, d theeempldyee chosed ut i
to belong to the hybrid defined benefit f Bhwbrigpplaaisl80 The
days. The hybrid contributory defined benefan waiting period is one year. Employeesetias of July 1, 2014 have 150

days of emplognent to select between the twiams. Employees who do not selegilan after 150 days of employment

wi || automatically defaul't into t he@l ahsysbrii @0 cloandThed G Ut e
mandatory contribution to each oftbb ands i s 5 %. Me mb e r glanshoacentdribute o the Rityiofo n i n
Baltimor e 6s 457 Def er lareadd will ;coejveearb8% ratclo an the first two percent of their contributions.

The contribtions required by the ERS Plan provisions for each membership class are as follows:

Membership classes Percentage of compensation
A 4.0%
C 1.0-5.0%*

* Class C contributionsemained at 3%or the fiscal yeaendingJune 30, 204

Members ofClasses A and B are eligible to retire at age 60 with 5 years of service or 30 years of membershjp service
regardless of ageMembers of Classes C and D are eligible to retire at age 65 with 5 years of service or 30 years of service,
regardless of ageEarly retirement is allowed at age 55 with 5 years of service payable at age 65 or reduced for payment
before age 65. Benefits for service retirement are paid as follows:

Classes A and B The sum of:

1. An annuity of the actuarial equivalent of a membeuawlated contributionsnd,

2. A pension, which together with the annuity shall equal 1.935% (Class A) or 1.785% (Class B) of
average final compensation times years of service.

Class C:
A pensionof (1) 1.6% of average final compensation times yearsrofcgeup to 30 years, plus (2) .25% of
average final compensation in excess of covered compensation, times years of service up to 30 years, plus
(3) 1.85% of average final compensation, times years of service in excess of 30 years.

Class D:

A pension ofL.00% of average final compensation, times years of service. If the member retires at or after
age 62 with at least 20 years of service the member receives an enhanced benefit of 1.10% of average final
compensation times years of service.
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Maryland State Retirement and Pension System

Certain city employees are covered by the Maryland Rateement andPension Systenprimarily employees of the

Sheri ffDlke O$Stfatce.system i s comprised of the g&aRdteir sédm&
and Pension System (ERPS), and L @dEOPEMliecCitycemplogeed cur@rtly i c er
participate in the Employeesd Retirement and Pewthi on Sy
the majoritypatticipating intheLEOPS PlanThe State System was established by the State Personnel and Pension Article

of the Annotated Code of Maryland to provide retirement allowances and other benefits to State employees, teachers,
police, judges, legislators, andnployees of pdicipating governmental unit§he State Plans are administered by the
State Retirement Agency. Responsibility f emembehBoarGy st en
of Trustees.

Membership inthe LEOPSiscaondi ti on of empl oyment of the Balistsomore C
two separate componenasretirement plan (closed to hew members Jania 2005) and a pension plaMembers

contribute either 5%, 6% or 7% of annual earnable compensatepending on whether the member elected to receive

Il imited or unlimited COLAS6s or whether the member is su
required contributions during the year ended June 3@ 2@%$3,370000

LEOPS members are eligible for full service retirement allowances upon attaining age 50 or upon accumulating 25 years
of eligibility service. For members subjeotretirement plan provisions, full service retirement allowances equal 2.3% of
average final copensation AFC) for the first 30 years of creditable service, plus 1.0% of AFC for each additional year.

For membersubject to the pesion system provisions who bawa members of LEOPS on or before June 30, 2fdll

service pension allowances equal 2.0% of AFC for the three highest consecutive years as an employee. For members
subject to pension system provisions on or after JuA011, full service pension allowances equal 2.0% of AFC for the

five highest casecutive years as an employee. LEOPS members are not eligible for early service retirement allowances,
but are eligible for disability and death benefits if certain conditions are met.

LEOPS members are eligible to participate in a Deferred Retirenmintn@rogram (DROP). To participate, the LEOPS
members must have at least 25 years of creditable service, but less than 30 years. Depending on the entry date of the
member into DROP, the retirement allowance is placed into an account earning eithet%C%ntarest.

At June 30, 208, the City reported a liability of3,520000for its proportionate share of the net pension liability of the

State System. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30a@dhe total pension liability useddalculate

the net pension liability was determined by an acligaluation as ofthatdatt.the Ci t yés proportionat
liability was based on actual employer contributions billed to participating governmentaurthe fyear ending Jer30,

2017. The contributions were increased to adjust for differences between actuarial determined contributions and actual
contributions by the State of Maryland. Asof June 30820lhe Ci tyds prod@t®ae i onate share

C. NET PENSION LIABILITY (ASSET)

The measurement date tiwe City Plansand the State SysteisiJune 30, 204 Measurements are based on the fair value
of assets as of June 30, Z0The following schedules are the net pension liability (NPL) or the net pension asset (NPA)
andthe sensitivity of the NPL or NPA to the discount rate.

The component of the net pension liability (assethefCity Plans is as follows:

(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

Fire and Police Employee Elected Officials’
Retirement System Retirement Syster

Tot al pension liability éééééééééééécécéécééééécééecéeeceensenandes. . 14,946
Les s: pl an fiduciary net position ééééééécééécéeééééééenrsdeéééééédacs
Net pension liability (asset) éééééééecéecéééépeécéece e e elasrgaésre é é é é(10,020)

Pl an fiduciary net position as a percentage of t ot ab689%ens i o167.0%
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The actuarial ssumptions and the current year contributiongieCity Plans are:

(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)
Fire and Police Employees  Elected Officials’ Retirement

Retirement System System Employees' Retirement Syster
Contributions required éééécéeécééecéééréééééécecin639. $ 84,474
% of Contribution made ééééééééééééééééééédéséememn 100.00%
Covered payroll ¢ééééééééééééécéééééécéhééééééé. 29,357 $ 391,083
Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return:
Pre-retirement éééééééééécéééécécéé. . 7.50% 7.00% 7.50%
Post retirement éééééééééééééééééée. 7.50% 7.00% 6.50%
Projected salary increases éééééééééééééééési%n 2.5% 2.65%
Includes inflation rate at ééééééééééééé&adn 2.5% 2.65%
Cost-of-living adjustment ééééééééééééééélonw 2.5% 1.5-2.0%
Mortality éééééééééééécéééééééééééé RP-2014Blue Collar RP 2000 Health Mortality RP 2000 Health Mortality
Mortality Table using the  with projections using 50% with projections using 50%
RPEC_2014 Model of Scale AA projected 15 of Scale AA projected 15
years with a 2 year set years with a 2 year set

forward for males and females  forward for males and females
Last Experience Study Covered éééééauyd@e-géne 80 215 July 1, 2010 -June 30, 2014 July 1, 2010 - June 30, 2014

The actuarial assumptions and the current year cotitiitsufor the State System are:

(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

Maryland State Retirement anc
Pension System

Contributions made éééééééééeééeéééeéeééeéeéeéeéeée s 3,370
Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return: 7.50%
Projected salary increases €éééééééeeeéééééeeéeééexln oo toeocirck dingdndatic
Inflation rate éééééécééeéeééécceeéééceeceeééécéceeeéé 265%general,3.15% wage
Mortality éééécéécééééééécéécéécéecéeééecéécééeééé RP-2014 Mortality Tables

with generational mortality
improvement based on the
MP-2014 2-dimensional mortality
improvement scale

Last Experience Study Covered ééééééééééééeeéeéééé 2010-2014

D. EXPECTED RETURNSDISCOUNT RATE AND DEFERRED INFLOWS/OUTFLOWS

The longterm expected rate of return on pension plan investnfi@ntise City Plans and the State Systeas determined

using a building block method in which besttimate ranges of expected future real rates (expected returns, net of pension
plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produ
the longterm expected rate or return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation
percentage and by adding expected inflation.

Best estimates of arithmetic real rate of return for @aajor asset class included hetCity Pl ans 6 t ar get ass:¢
are summarized in the following table:

Long-Term Expected Real Rate of Return/Target Allocation

Fire and Police Employee Elected Officials’ Employees’

Asset Class Retirement System Retirement System Retirement Systel
Uu. s. equi ties e€éééééceéeeeeeééééééé &28%225% 7.3%/39% 3.3%/30.0%
I nt ernational equities ééééééééé HOWEREHe & . 7.6%/21% 7.6%/17.0%
Private equities ééééééeeéeéecécéééé éér8sdleo0% 11.1%/13.0%
Fi xed i ncome ééééééeécéecéééeééééééééé é2%/17.0% 2.8%/25% 2.8%/22.0%
Re al estat e ééééceceéécecéeéééeéeéeééééééé &.0%/10.0% 7.4%/10% 7.4%/13.0%
He d g e funds Eééeceéeceéeeeeéeeéeéeééeééeéééééé 45%/50% 5.0%/2.0%
Ener gy MLP éééééecececeecececeeeéeeéeeéeeééé. 7.0%/7.0%

Private ener gy ééééééééééééééééé é éB5%50%

Cas h Eééééeececececeeceeeeeeeeeeeee. 1.0%0/1.0%

Def ensi v e Equi ti es eééééeéeéeecéeéeeéeeeéeeéeeéeé. 6.8%0/5% 6.8%0/3.0%
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The F&P Plan The projection of the cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member
contributions and employer contributions will continue to be madeeatates specified in the City Code and the written
contribution policy. Based on these assumptions, the Fire and Police Plan retirement contribution was projected to be
available to make all projected future benefit payments for current members uladtthayment for the current covered
populationis made as of the June 30, Z0ieasurement date. The discount rate used to determine the total pension liability
as of June 30, 20lis 7.50%.

The EOS PlanThe projection of the cash flows used to deiee discount rate assumed that plan member contributions

will continue to be made at the rates specified in the City Code. Employer contributions were assumed to be made in
accordance with the contributionsligy in effect for July 1, 2016ctuarial valation. As of June 30, 2@1the plan is fully

funded and the amortization of the surplus is greater than the normal costs resulting in a required contribution amount of
zero. The discount rate at June 30, 20100%, is the assumed lostgrm expected rate of return on EOS investments.

The ERS PlanThe projection of the cash flows used to determine discount rate assumed that plan member contributions
will continue to be made at the rates specified in the City Code. Expected memibkutons for FYE 20X were4%

of pay increasing t&% of pay for FYE 208 will continue to increase annually up 5% of compensation thereafter.
Employer contributions were assumed to be made in accordance with the contribution policy in effect for the
July1,206actuarial valwuati on. Based on these assumptions,
available to make all projected future benefit payments for current members until the last payment for the current covered
population ismade as of the June 30, Z0heasurement date. The discount rate at June 3@,i2@150% for active and
terminated vested participants a®80% for in-pay participants. Thassumed longerm expected rate of return on ERS
investmentss 7.50%.

Themajor asset classincluded in the StateySs t e mé's t ar g eahd redum@re sumraakizedirc thetfoilosving
table:

Maryland State Retiremen

Asset Class and Pension System
Public equity éééééeéééééeéééeéeeééceeéeéeeeééeééé. b3%36%
Private equities ééééééééééecééééceééeééeééecééédon/llx

Rate sensitive ééééééééééeéécécéeéécéeeéecéeééceéd2%n221%

Credit opportunity ééééééééééécééeééécééééééeééeésnw/In

Re al assets ééééeécéeceéeceeeeeceeeceeeeeeeeeeee. .57%/15%
Absolute return éééééeééécécécecéeéececceeecéeeceeeéeecéeéeldln/sn

The State Systefirhe projection of cash flows used to determine discount rate assumed that plan member contributions
will be made at the current contribution rate and émaployer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference
bet ween actuarially determined contribution rates and
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make akqej future benefit yanents of current plan members.

The discount rate at June 30, Z071.50%, is the expected lonterm rate of return on State System investments.

The sensitivity of the net pension liability (asset) presents thpamesion liability(asset) oftte City Plansand the State

Systemcalculated using the currediscount rates as well as whaemnet pension liability (asset) would be if it were
calculated using aistount rate that is-frercentge-point lower or 1 percentaggoint higher than the current rate.
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Sensitivity of the pensidiability (asset) to changes in the discount rate

(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)
1% Decrease  Current Discount Rat 1% Increase
Fire and Police Employees' Retirement System 6.50% 7.50% 8.50%
Net pension liability éééééééeeéééeBbeciermeResee. 11577429 803,454
Plan fiduciary net position as a percent6Glf§® of tot689% pensi o/6l%

(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)
1% Decrease  Current Discount Rat 1% Increase
Elected Officials' Retirement System 6% 7% 8%
Net pension (asset) ééééééééééeeebbgecccedaonmts. . (10,020) $ (11,269)
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentl®d% of t of6d0% pensi B8BA3%

(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)
1% Decrease  Current DiscountRat 1% Increase
6.50% Active Part. 7.50% Active Part. 8.50% Active Part.
Employees' Retirement System (City of Baltimore Portion) 5.50% Retired Part  6.50% Retired Part. 7.50% Retired Part
Net pension liability éééééééeeeeeedbesecoDrNracée. 597,470 $ 421,241
Plan fiduciary net position as a percent@g® of tot6d0% pensi o/Rd%

(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)
1% Decrease  Current Discount Rat 1% Increase

Maryland State Retirement and Pension System 6.50% 7.50% 8.50%
LEOPS . ¢éééfppiiiéééééeeebeipppecccdicres 38,359 $ 28519 $ 19,733
ERPS . éééééfffppppeecéééécceppepppecece. . 10202 7,001 4,342

(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)
Total City Plans and State (exclude Baltimore City Public School Portion) 1% Decrease  Current Discount Rate 1% Increase
Net pension liability éééé6E6E666666EEdeeeerlEmESEE. 1773711 § 1,233,159

(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)
1% Decrease  Current DiscountRat 1% Increase
6.75% Active Part. 7.75% Active Part. 8.75% Active Part.
Employees' Retirement System (Baltimore City Public Schools Portion)  5.55% Retired Part  6.55% Retired Part. 7.55% Retired Part
Net pension liability éééééeéééeeeedpecceeBEAREEE. 135109 $ 95,257
Plan fiduciary net position as a percent@g® of tot6B0% pensi o/h%
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DeferredInflows and Deferred Outflows he reported deferred dlaws/inflows of resources associated with the City
Plans and the State System is as follows:

( BExpressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows oi Deferred Inflows of

Fire and Police Employees' Retirement System Resources Resources

Pension contributions subsequent $ 136,832

Di fferences bet ween actual and expected el2pd82 $i en c 43,166

Assumption change ééééééeéééééeecéeéeeéeeécéecééeras

Di fferences bet ween actual and projected 58%% nings ¢éé
Tot al éééééééeééecécéeécécéeééecéeéeecéececse. 212,145 $ 13,106

Deferred Outflows oi Deferred Inflows of

Elected Officials' Retirement System Resources Resources

Di fferences bet ween actual and expekted exferience é¢

Di fferences bet ween actual and projected el nings ¢ééi
Tot al éééééééeéécécéecécéeééecéeéecéecse. 682

Deferred Outflows oi Deferred Inflows of

Employees' Retirement System (City of Baltimore Portion) Resources Resources
Pension contributions subsequent $ 71,141

Di fferences bet ween actual and expected e5ple $i enc eq?2e2
Change in proportionate share éééc 7,955 17,588
Assumption change éééééééééééeécééeéeééeééeeééeeeqgsn 781
Di fferences bet ween actual and projected 2239 ni ngs €éé:

Tot al ééééecéééeceeceééeeeeeéeceeeeeeese. 117,137 $ 22,571

Deferred Outflows oi Deferred Inflows of

Employees' Retirement System (Baltimore City Public Schools Portion) Resources Resources

Pension contributions subsequent $ 15,730

Di fferences bet ween actual and expected egp62 i ence 9%0¢
Change in proportionate share éééc 17,588 7,955
Assumption change ééééééééééécéeécécéeeéceececééerxrs 176
Di fferences bet ween actual and projected BETnNings ééi

Tot al éééééeéeééecéeéeecéeéeéeeceéeéeeceeéese. 41,920 $ 9,081

Deferred Outflows oi Deferred Inflows of

Total City Plans and State (exclude Baltimore City Public School Portion) Resources Resources

Pension contributions subsequent $ 211,343

Di fferences bet ween actual and expected el8gse $i en c d9,7é4

Change in proportionate share éééc 7,955 17,588

Assumption change éééééééééééeéeééeéeééeééeéeéeedgms 781

Di fferences bet ween actual and projected 8%7T ni ngs 221
Tot al éééééééeééeécéeéceécéecéeéecéeceecéeese. 339,001 $ 40,356

Deferred Outflows oi Deferred Inflows of

Maryland State Retirement and Pension System Resources Resources

Pension contributions subsequent $ 3,370

Di fferences bet ween actual and expected expe®i enc e2466¢

Assumption change ééééééeéééeééceéeécéeeéeececéeéerasy

Di fferences bet ween actual and projected 4380 ni ngs 22¥
Tot al ééééécééeééecécéecécéeééecéeéeecéese. 9,037 $ 4,679
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A summary of the net deferred outflows/(inflows)re§ources to be recognized in pension expense in futurefgess
City Plars and the State Systampresented below:
(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

Employees'
Retirement Systerr
Fire and Police Employees' Retremer  (Baltimore City
Employees' Retremer Elected Officials' System (City of Public Schools
Deferred outflows (inflows) for years ended June 30: System Retirement Syster  Baltimore Portion) Portion)
2019 ééééééeéeeéeeéceéceécke 29071 $ 3B7 $ 12279 $ 10,308
2020 éééeéeéeéeeéeeéceéceeces 41,554 357 12,641 10,390
2021 éééeééeééeéeeéceéeeéceed 11,461 147 6,357 (1,815)
2022 éééeééeééeéeeéceéeeeécee (19,879) (179) (7,852) (1,774)
Total ééééééééééééeéééééés 62,207 $ 682 $ 23425 $ 17,109
(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

Maryland State

Retrement and
Deferred outflows (inflows) for years ended June 30: Pension System
2019 éééecéééécéééeccbéeéeccéeeeccbeecceeecceeeecdhe. 462
2020 éééeééééeécééééecbeéeccéééeceééecceééecceéée. 1,153
2021 éééééceéééeccbébéecebééecceebéecebeééecceeéeceeede. 376
2022 éééécebééecpééecebeééeceeeecepbeéeceeeeceeede. (752)
2023 ééécéééecébéeccbéeeecéeeecceeececeeececeeeeceed. (251)
Total éééécéééééeééééecécéééecéééécceééeceééceceded 988

In addition to the amounts disclosed abow11%343,000 in deferred outflows of resources related to contribution
subsequento the measurement date Wik recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended June
30, 20B.

E. PENSION EXPENSE AND CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY (ASSET)
Pension expense (income) includes charges in the net pension liability (asset), projected earpi@gsioonplan
investments, and the amortization of deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources for the current period.

The components of pension expensetfi@City Plans are as follow

(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

Employees' Retirement Systi
Fire and Police Employee  Elected Officials' Employees' Retirement Syste (Baltimore City Public School
Retirement System  Retirement Systen  (City of Battimore Portion) Portion)
Pension expense (income) 6666666666686 66¢EEIK\RS. (1,424) $ 62,361 $ 21,634
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The hedule of thechanges innet pensioni&bility (asset)and related atios for the City Plangor the year ended
June 30, 201is as follows:
(amounts expressed in thousands)

Fire and Police Employee  Elected Officials' Retiremer

Retirement System System

Total pension liability

Interest (included interest on service&é cost) HeREéEHEEEéEéééééeénnbé.

Service cost éééééééééééééééééééééeéeéeéeeeeéeé 70,987 250

Changes in proportionate shareéééééééééééécécéécééeéeéeéceéeceé. .

Changes in assumptionséééécéécéééééécécécéeéecéeceéece. .

Differences between expected and actual exper i(lF46)eécééééecécéecéaprec

Benefit payments, including refunds of member (2450680t ri buti onéé@3gé
Net change in total pension liability éééééééécécécridgreéécéeécécecéééée 944
Total pension liability - beginning éééééééécécelpbpibéééécééééé. 14,002
Tot al pension liability - ending ééééé $ 3,720,307 $ 14,946
Plan fiduciary net position:

Net investment income éééééééééééécécéeéecpécéééeéRunors $ 3,116

Contributions - employerééééééécéééééécécécéecéecéi068. .

Contributions - member éééééééééééééééééééééééeéeedOR 90

Changes in proportionate shareééécéécéééééécécécééeééeécéecéc

Benefit payments, including refunds of member (2450688)t ri but i on é(@3&)¢¢é

Administrative expense ééééééééééééééeécéceceééééé@dns). (55)
Net change in plan fiduciary net positionééééééénxieléééccééécecéééénzly
Pl an fiduciary net position - beginning ééééééecrIBIecécéeéeécécecénrri
Pl an fiduciary net position - ending ééééééécécérbrRrbBebéccécéecééé. 24966
Net pension liability (asset) - ending é¥ééccééptoemBecreééééééé o)

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of 688%t ot al pen $67.0%

Covered employee payroll ééééééééécécécécécpééecéecécewmawe $ 1,297

Net pension liability (asset) as a percentage 039066%vered e mpl7262%) e

F. ALLOCATION OF PLANS

ERS talances have been allocated between the government activities, btygieesstivities (Enterprise fundsand
discretely presented component units as follows:

(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

Component
Employee RetirementSystem e ENterprise FUNQS-------s-----r--s-r---- Unit
Employees' Nonmajor
Retirement  Governmente Proprietary  Baltimore City

System Activities Water Wastewater  Stormwater Fund Public Schools
Net pension liability (asset), $end259 $y d78900 §éEHFIEEREEEBEB § 6871 $ 3406 $ 135,109
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The total of all retirement plan balandes City (City Plans and State Plans) are shd&low:

(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)
City Plans and State of Maryland

Employees'
Fire and Police ~ Elected  Retirement Maryland State
Employees'  Officials'  System(City  Retirement Primary

Retirement  Retirement  of Baltimore System Government
System System Portion (LEOP/ERPS) Total
Net pension liability (asset), end of $§edlsr/drgédBompy é0rEEHeceds $§ 1780713

G. THE UNFUNDEDPOLICE DEPARTMENT RETIREMENT PLAN

Additionally, the Citybds Police Depar t mapoyer definedtodnefit a d mi
|l ocal retirement pl an. The plan is managed by the Cityd¢
All employees elidile for this plan were hired prior to January 1, 1947.12Imembers of this plan are currently retired

and the City plans to pay benefits on ajaayou-go basis until all obligations have been fulfilled. The unfunded accrued
liability represents the &aearial present value of future benefits based on assumed annual salary increasesafB#®%

discount rate of $2%. There is no covered payroll for the plan.
benefits paid under the terms oftheplarhe Ci t yés empl oyer contri butsions for

Three - Year Trend Information
(Expressed in thousands)
Employer Contribution Net Pension Liability

June 30, 2018 éeéeéeéeéeéeégéeéecec2dr s 763
June 30, 2017 éececéeceeceéecéecéeceetl 941

é 328 1,203

D
D
D
[}
D
D~
D
[}
[}
oD
D
[}
[}
D~
D
[}
[}
D~

June 30, 2016

H. THE MARYLAND STATE RETIREMENT AND PENSION SYSTEM$ BCPSS

The BCPSS empl oyees, who are not covered under the Cit:
Pension System.

Under Maryland law, the Baltimore City Public School System (BCPSS) is not required to make any contributions to the
State System<City Schools and covered members are required by State statute to contribute to theNsgstbes of

the Teachersd Pension System are required to contribute
required to contribute-3% annudy, depending on the retirement option selected. The contribution requirements of the
System memberss well as the State and participating governmental employers are established and may be amended by
City Schools of Trustees forthe Syst&etnont r i buti ons are deducted from partic
remitted to the State on a regulperiodic basis.

The State of Maryland pays, on behalf of the BCPSS, th
Systems for teachers and related positions. During the fiscal year ended Jun&3he26tate paid@s.0million in such

costs. This amount has beeecorded by the BCPSS as both revenue expkenditure in the General Fund in the
accompanying Statement of Activitihe Special Funding arrangement between BCPSS and the State is disclosed in the

BCPSSo6s finmsaci al stat eme

The State also makes contributions on behalf of the Enoc
fiscal year ended June 30, 3)was £,138000 This amount has also been recognized as both revenue and expenditure
in theaccompanying Statement of Activities.
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|. DEFERRED COMPENSATION

The City offers its employees a deferred compensation plan in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section
457. The plan, available to all employees, permits them to defer a poftibeir salary until future years. The deferred
compensation is not available to employees or other beneficiaries until termination, retirement, death, or unforeseeable

emergency.

The City has no administrative involvement and does not perform thetimydgnction. The City has no fiduciary
accountability for the plan and, accordingly, the plan assets and related liabilities to plan participants are notrincluded i

the basic financial statements.

13.0ther Postemployment Benefits
A. PLAN DESCRIPTION

The City of Baltimore provides other postemployment benefits (OPEB) to all qualified City and BCPSS employees. The
Plan is a contributorgost sharing multiplemployer defined benefit plan. The benefit and contribution provisions of the
Plan are establishetid may be amended by the City. The Plan provides postemployment healthcare and prescription drug
benefits to retirees and their beneficiaries. Retirees may choose from two health plan options and four levels of coverage.

The following schedule outlineseteligibility requirements to participants in the Plan by employee group:

Post Retirement Medical Benefit Eligibilty Requirement*
Employee Group Requirement
Maryland State Retirement and P dfhiedbefore JBnuaryt 1e1680: Aged@ ar 80¢éatséobservice
If hired on or after January 1, 1980: Based on age at retirement and years of service
Fire and Police Employees' Ret i rlthmee heforeSuyd,2003mgé B0Miiatlenstd@years of service or 20 years of service
If hired after July 1, 2003: Age 55 with al least 15 years of service or 25 years of service
Employees' Retirement System & Elfhged befort JuQfl, 1972 Age B0with aReadt b ye@awéd service Snaisy age mith@@years of service
If hired after July 1, 1979: Age 55 with at least 5 years of service or any age with 30 years of service

*Allemployees are eligible for disability benefits depending on years of service and reasons for disability.

In order to effectively manage the Plan, the City established an OPEB Trust Fund. All retiree and City contributions are
deposited into the Trust Furaohd all retiree related health and life insurance benefits are paid from the Trust Fund. The

City also contracted with the Board of Trustees of the
Trust Fund. BNY Mellon Bank Asset Savingi t he Tr ust Fundbés asset custodi an.
financial statements; however, the OPEB Tfiducgatyfulrdund i s i

The number of participants in the Plan aswfe)30 2016, per actuary repofas as follows:

Number of Participants

Baltimore
City Public
City School Total
Active empl oyees eééécéécécececeeeeeeeeeéédarrse é é 41,806 23,945

Il nactive empl oyees or beneficiaries ©,d07 r e n5{9%3y 156660
Il nactive empl oyees entitled to but n ©012 y e t r ec d,01¢

Tot al s eééééééééécéeéeéceeceeéeceeéééérrsss 17,759 40,617

B. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES OF THE OPEB TRUST FUND

Basisof Accounting The financial statements for the OPEB Trust Fund are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.
Plan member contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. Ecapltimurtions are
recognized when due and the employer has made a formal commitment to provide the contributions. Benefits and refunds
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the Plan.
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Method Used to Value InvestmenBlan investments are reported at fair value. Securities traded on national and
international exchanges are valued at the last reported sale price at the current exchange rates.

C. FUNDING POLICY

The Cityds policy i-asyotrgp basis plugnake addittofal contributions campiisimg/the federal

retiree drug subsidy payments and an additional annual appropriation. Retirees are required to contribute at various rates
ranging from approximatelydl to $2,008on a monthly basis, depending on thaltteplan and level of coverage elected

and whether Medicare supplemental coverage is present. In addition, retirees contribute 20% toward the prescription plan
coverage. Administrative costs of the Plan are covered by the City.

D. ACTUARIAL METHOD AND ASSUMPTIONS

Data waobtained from an actuarial valuation prepared by an independent actuary madenas3@f 2016, using census
data collected as of July 2016 and health care costs for 2016.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposeshbased on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the
employer and the plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical
pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and plan nsetabi@at point. The actuarial methods and
assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effectstefrshanatility in actuarial accrued
liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with thetéwngperspective dhe calculations.

The actuarial method usedisthe EMxge Nor mal ( EAN) . Under the EAN cost me
¢ o sthatocan be expected to fund projected benefits at retirement for a new entrant into the plan. The normal cost of
benefits are calculated as a level percentage of covered payroll. The unfunded actuarial liability is being amortized over 30
years on a level dollar basis.

The discount rate is based on the rate of return expectasl éarned by the assets usegdy D benefits, if the plan is

appropriately funded. The Iliability discount rate is ba
the City has shown to fully fund the plan, and our determination that current assets plus future icmstritilltbe
sufficient to cover all/l future benefit payments. The pl

Assets are valued at fair value. Past service costs are calculated using the level dollar method with a clasdgtbamorti
period of 30 years. The valuation also assumes a 5.9% healthcare trend for fiscal year 2016, reduced by decrements to a
rate of 3.9% in 2075. Salary increases were not considered as OPEB benefits and OPEB benefits are not based on pay.

Inflation éééééééééééééé 2.30%
Wage inflation éééééééééécéeéeeeéé. . 3.00%
Salary increases, including wag €5.3%-85%

Long term rate of return ééééééééédand
Municipal bond rate
Prior measurement date ééééééééxrhin
Measurement date éééééééééééé. 38
Year FNP is projected to be depleted
Prior measurement date éééééééééevA
Measurement date ééééééééééce. N/A
Single equivalent interest rate, net of OPEB
plan investment expense, including price inflation
Prior measurement date ééééééééeridnw
Measurement date ééééeéééééééé. 7.00%
Health care cost trends
Pre-Medicare ¢ééééééeééé b.atdodZ08.decreasingto
Medicare éééééééceéécééébosfe 2016 decreasingto
ultimate rate of 3.94% by 2075

81



CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
(Continued)
E. NET OPEB LIABILITY (NOL) AND DISCOUNT RATE
Beginning with the plan year endidgne 30, 204, the City has implemented GASB Statement NofiXccounting and

Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other than Pedisidnis requires the City taccount
for those benefits on a full accrual fnarsidldatementd. t h e

The measurement date for OPEability is June 30, 208.and the valuation date & of June 30, 2016. Thefal OPEB
Liability (TOL), the Plan Fiduciary Net Position (i.e. fatarket value of the Plan asset)d the Net OPEB Liabilitgs
of June 30, 2(d.is as follows:

(Expressed in Thousands)

BCPSS
City Portion Portion Total
Tot al OPEB liability éééééééééééééécéeeéeéeéééprisrad s 416,808 &. 1,450,708
Les s: pl an fiduciary net position eéééééééédlo4dor é aleddeR é 5858606
Net OPEB liability éééééécéécéécéécécécécécécéee $ERIEDESRHIHE. S 862,102

Pl an fiduciary net position as a percent agedo®dh t 6wt ot a40.6%

Changes in the discount and healthcare trend rate affect theremaastiof the total OPERability (TOL). Because the

net

trend rates do not affect the measurement of assets, the percentage change in the NOL can be very significant fpr a relativel

small change in theend rates. The table below shtve sensitivity of the NOL to the discount rate and trend.

(Expressed in Thousands)

Current
1% Discount
Increase Rate 1% Decreas:
Health Care Cost Trend Rates 8.00% 7.00% 6.00%

1% decrease ¢ééééécéééeccééecééecééeccééeecéeéed 675217
Current eééééééceéeéceeéeeeceeeéececééé &opdsadl 862,102 $ 1,025,416
1% increase éééééécecécéceecéeéceececeeeeceeeeeeceeéeé 1055773

(Expressed in Thousands)

Current
1% Discount
Increase Rate 1% Decreas
Health Care Cost Trend Rates (City Portion) 8.00% 7.00% 6.00%
1% decrease ééééécécééécecéééecééécéeééceéééeéés 481,173
Current eéééeéééeecééeeceéeececeééeeééeceéé saman0 614,351 $ 730,732
1% increase éééééééééeéééecéééecééeceéééeeéééeée 752365
(Expressed in Thousands)
Current
1% Discount
Increase Rate 1% Decreas
Health Care Cost Trend Rates (BCPSS Portion) 8.00% 7.00% 6.00%
1% decrease éééééééééccéééecééécéééceéééeeéésd 194044
Current €éééeééeecéééecécééeecééeeééeceéé &agopsl 247,751 $ 294,684
1% increase ééééeééééceééécecéééeceééceéééeeééée 303408
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F. DEFERRED INFLOWS AND OUTFLOWS

The reported deferred outflows/inflows of resourassociatedavith the plan are as follows
(Expressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows ol Deferred Inflows of

OPEB Resources Resources
Differences bet ween actual and expekted e2pl8ri ence éc¢
Tot al ééééeéééececééceceéécecééeceeééecesé. 29,213

( Bxpressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows oi Deferred Inflows of

OPEB (City of Baltimore Portion) Resources Resources

Di fferences between actual and expekted eRpl&8ri ence éc

Change in proportionate share éééc¢ 348 $ 1,146
Tot al éééeééécecéécececéécecééecececéeceseé. 21,166 $ 1,146

( Bxpressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows ol Deferred Inflows of

OPEB (Baltimore City Public School Portion) Resources Resources
Di fferences between actual and expekted eRPPerience éc¢
Change in proportionate share éééc¢ 798

Tot al Eééeéééceccééceccéécecééeececeéeeccseé. 9,193

The net deferred outflows/inflows of resources to bege@ed inOPEBexpense in future years is presented below:

(BExpressed in Thousands)

Baltimore City Public

Deferred outflows (inflows) for years ended June 30: City Portion Schools Portion Total
2019 ¢éééééécéeéécéecéecécéeceré 4130 $ 1,896 $ 6,026
2020 éééééééeééeéceeceéececeeceesé 4,130 1,896 6,026
2021 ¢ééééééééééceeeececeeeesé 4,130 1,896 6,026
2022 ¢ééééééeééeééeéeéecécéeéée 4,130 1,896 6,026
2023 ¢ééééécééeééecéecéeceeéecéeecece 3,500 1,609 5,109
Total ééééééééeéécéeéécéeécs 20,020 $ 9,193 $ 29,213

G. OPEB EXPENSE

The OPEB expense includes charges imiteOPEB liability and projected earnings on plan investment and is presented
as follows:
(Expressed in Thousands)

Baltimore City Public

City Portion School Portion Total

Service Cost éééééééééééééeéeéeéeéedéeedpeéeded 21839 % 8949 $ 30,838
Interest on total OPEB liability ééééééééeééarigbéééééééend 94,514
BExpensed portion of current-period difference between expected

and actual return on investment éééééééédmeécéééééée 207 919
Expected investment return net of investmenB62BxpenseslABBeéeééeéeeéeéexion
Projected earnings on plan investments éééqbeFpécéééedloamesc. (37,528)
OPEB expense June 30, 2018éééééééccceéRrééeeccnbels s 27,236 $ 93,850
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H. COMPONENT ALLOCATION

OPEBbalances havbeen allocated between the goveantal activities, the businesgpe activities (Enterprise Funds),
and the discretely presented component unit as follows:

(Expressed in Thousands)

Component
-------------------------- R — Unit
Govemnmental Nonmajor Proprietary ~ Battimare City Public
OPEB Activities Water ~ Wastewater  Stormwater Fund Schools
Net OPEB Liability, Beginning of Year 8%4805¢5¢6¢&E086 . 25608 § 515 $ 3710 $ 1945 $ 253,004
OPEB Expense 66¢8eeaeecebecbeccedccde. . 9380 61,127 2555 2281 49 216 223
Employer Contributions éééeéeéededededymasmas (91,035 (5824) (5,648) (836) (441) (41,682
Deferred Outflows/(Inflows) E6666¢EEEECRNEREEEE 1925 492 (12) 198 86 9193
Net OPEB Liability, End of Year$éeecécopEEREEeerMmls 281 $ 78§ 3501 § 1806 $ 241,151

14.Risk Management

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts: theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and
omissions; injuries to employees; civil rights violations;andt ur al di sasters. The Cityo6s r
a combination of risk retention through se$urance and risk transfer through the purehEsommercial insurance. The

risk management prograservices all claims for risk of loss, inclmd gener al l'iability, prope
compensation, unemployment compensation, automobile physical damage and bodily injury, and sundry other risks.
Beginning in fiscal year 2@l the City has included the accounting for violationsofamem 6 s ci vi | ri ghts.
liability is recorded within the General Fund. Commercial insurance coverage is provided for each property damage claim

in excess of $500,000 with a cap of5300,000. Settled claims have not exceeded this commeosiatage in any of

the past three years. The City also provides medical insurance coverage for all employees and retirees. Employees are
required to pay a percentage of the annual cost of the medical plans and the remaining costs are paid by teeviogernal s
program

All funds of the City and the Baltimore City Public School System participate and make paymentsstortia@agement
programbased on actuarial estimates and historical cost information of the amounts needed to pay prior and current year
claims. As of June 30, 281the City has determined that the range of potential claims liability foprigramto be
betweer$358,505000and $895,541000 Liabilities include an amount for claims that have been incurred but not reported
(IBNRs). This liability, which has been discounted3ai?o at June 30, 2@] does not include the effects of inflation,
incremental or other allocated omallocated claim adjustment expenses, salvage, or subrogation, as such factors are not
considered material.

Changes in the Risk Management Progreaims liability in fiscal years 2@land 20¥ were @mounts expressed in
thousands)

2018 2017
Unpaid claims, beginning éééééééééééééééSeRNERE §eE0MIOK
Claims incurred éééééécécééééeccécééecceéeecdeeDEDE ééxns,186

///////////////////////////////

Claims paid ééééeééééécéééééceeéééceeéééedéé@ey,sm). (286,156
Unpaid claims, ending ééééééééééééééééééér 88608 e &8 0e

The City estimates thaB8,9010000f the estimated claimgbility is due within one year.
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15. Operating Leases

The City has entered into a number of operating leases for rental of office facilities and equipment, some of which provide
for increased rentals based upon increases in real estate taxes and @eanoaintenance fees. As of June 308201
future minimum lease payments are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands):

2019 éééééecéééecééeecééeeceéeeceéeeceeeeeeeeeéeer. 4981
2020 éééééééeééécéecééeééeéeééeécéeéeéeéeeécéeéeéeéeéée. 4483
2021 éééééééééécéeééeéeéeééeécéecéeéeéeecééeéeéeéeée. 4240
2022 éééééééééecéeééeééeééeééecéeééeéeéeeceecéeeéeeéeéeéeeée. 3879
2023 ¢éééééééééécéceééeééeéeééecéeecéeéeéeeéeéeéeéeeéeéeée. (7113
2024-2028 ééééeééececééeeceééeceééeeceeeeecéeéeeeeeeeeessla
2029-2033 éééecééececééececeéececeéeeceeééeeeéeeeéececéédédso

Tot al céééécéécécécéecéeéeeececeececeeececeeeéé sé 69690

All leases contain cancellation provisions and are subject to annual appropriations by the City Council. During fiscal year

2018, rent expenditures approximated7$63Q000for all types of leases. These expenditures were made primarily from
the General Fund.

The BCPSS has entered into a lease for rental of office equipment. During the year ended Jurg; @ht20iease
expenditures approximated £0Q000.These expenditures were made primarily from the General Fund. Amef30,

2018, future minimum lease payments approxima2e289000 which relates to July 1, 28%hroughJuly 1, 2022vhen
the leases expire.

16. Landfill Closure and Postclosure CareCosts

State and federal laws and regulations require that the City place a final cover on its landfill site and perform certain
maintenance and monitoring functions at the landfill site for a minimum of thirty years after closure. In addition to
operatirg expenses related to current activities of the landfill site, an expense provision and related liability are being
recognized based on the future closure and postclosure care costs that will be incurred near or after the date the landfill n
longer accept wasteThe recognition of these landfill closure and postclosure care costs is based on the amount of the
landfill used during the yeaf.he estimated liability for landfill closure and postclosure care costd59%2,000 as of

June 30, 208, which isbased or82.926 usage (fled capacity) of the landfillThis is anincrease in the liability of
$5,329000, andanincrease in the usage 40, since June 30, 201 It is estimated that an additiond,$51,000 will be
recognized as closure apastclosure care expenses between the date of the balance sheet and the date the landfill is
expected to be filled to capacity (the year @072 he estimated total current cost of the landfill closure and postclosure
care, 81,323000, is based on the ammitthat would be paid if all equipment, facilities, and services required to close,
monitor, and maintain the landfill were acquired as of June 3@. 2atwever, the actual cost of closure and postclosure

care may be higher due to inflation, changesdhrelogy, or changes in the landfill laws and regulations. The City does

not expect to pay any closure and postclosure care costs during fiscal y&ar 201

In addition, the City is required by State and federal laws and regulations to make annualtoamgrtb finance closure

and postclosure care. The City is in compliance with these requirements, and at Jun&,3@sk0dnd cash equivalents

of $23495 000 wer e held in the Citybés General Fundpriatelyl n ad ¢
reserved. Itis anticipated that future inflation costs will be financed in part from earnings on investments helday the Ci

The remaining portion of anticipated future inflation costs (including inadequate earnings on investments, ifl any) an
additional costs that might arise from changes in closure and postclosure requirements (due to changes in technology or
more rigorous environmental regulations, for example) may need to be covered by charges to future landfill users,
taxpayers, or both
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17. Notes and Mortgages Receivable
Notes and mortgages receivable as of June 3@, 20hsist of the following:

A. The General Fund has notes receivable of $269,942,000 net of a $1,000,000 allowance for losses. A note receivable
from the Baltimore HoteCorporation for 65,721000 bears interest at rates ranging from 3% to 5% and mature over
30 years. A portion of this note receivable totaling4387000 is scheduled to be collected in 2019 through 2046.
The other portion of the notes receivablealated to the Baltimore Hotel Corporation is for notes totaling $1,187,000
net of a $1,000,000 allowance for loss@fiese notes bear interest rates ranging from 1.0% to 12.0% over 30 years

B. The Parking Facilities Fund has mortgages receivable of $3B@Bdollateralized by real property. These notes bear

interest at rates ranging from 6.1% to 6.9% and mature over 30 years. A portioa pbtehireceivable totaling
$33,474000 is scheduled to be collected in 2020 through 2036

18. Fund Balance

The composition of the fund balances of the governmental funds for fiscal year ended June83@ye@ks follows
(amounts expressed in thousands):

Capital Governmente
General Grants  Projects Other Funds  Funds

Fund Balances

Nonspendable:
Reserved for other assets ééééééééééépééroeééééeé $ 2,210
Restricted:
Education ééééééééééééééééeééeeeééééeded $ 6,167 6,167
Highways and streets ééééééééééééééééeécééécéd. $ 8448 8,448
Sanitation and waste removal éééééééécécaB8IBéécéeééeé. 43,393
Debt serviceééééé...ééééééééééééééééééééé3nn2s 380,280
Public library ééééééééééééééééééééééeccéé. 2,267 2,267
Recreation and culture éééééééééécéécécéécéécése 6,254 6,254
Total restricted éé6é6ééééééééééééecéééédners 8,448 14,688 446,809
Assigned to:
General government ééééééééééécééééécécéecson. 5,064 3,764 52,900
Public safety and regulation ééééééééécémdOegdecéeeée. . 79,796
Conservation of health éééééééééééééééééexDrreéé. 2449 7,466
Social services ééééééééééééécéééeeéeéééeaasr 3,187
Education éééééééééécéééééceeéeecéeééeced 38,000 5,030 43,030
Public library ééééééééééééééééééééééeééééélisd 1,786
Recreation and culture éééééééééécéccécéexrwréée 3,296
Hi ghways and streets éééééécéécéécécéécéedrmxe. 40,033
Sanitation and waste removal éééééécéécééRdréécéécé. 2,422
Public service éééééééééééééééeceeééeéeeéérsn 2,604
Economic development éééééééééééééécééééécesps. . 1,445
Total assigned éééééééééééééééééééééérnepss 2,449 5,064 8,794 237,965
Unassigned 163,604 (1,819 161,785

Total fund balances éééééééééééééééceeckeRleMBS 2449 $ 13512 $ 21663 $ 848,769

* General fund unassigned fund balance includes $139,170,000 for the budget stabilization reserve.
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19. Commitments and Contingencies

The City is party to legal proceedings whiohrmally occur in governmental operations. The City provides for the
estimated losses on certain outstanding claims as discussed in Note 14. The City has detercomsultation with

outside counsel thaertain claims are in too early of a stagetkma a r easonabl e assessment
City vigorously contests such claims as a matter of policy and will fully assert albldearemedies, including the

$400,000 ceiling per individual claim. It is the opinion of City managementonswtation with outside legal counsel,

t hat any additional l'iability for remaining |litigation
operations.

The Wastewater Utility has received Federal and State grants. Entitlementtteegaaurces is generally conditioned upon
compliance with terms and conditions of the grant agreements and applicable Federal and State regulations, including the
expenditure of the resources for eligible purposes. Substantially all grants are subjaottal and compliance audits in
accordance with grantorsé requirements. Any disall owanc
Utility. As of June 30, 208, the Wastewater Utility estimates that no material liabilities walit from such audits.

The Northeast Maryland Waste Disposal Authority Act was enacted by the Maryland General Assembly to assist in the
provision of waste disposal facilities for the Northeast Maryland area, including the facilities for the dispesitofiter
treatment residue. The City agreed to perform the obligations of the Authority. The current agreement, approved in March
2008, provided that the Authority and Mayanrd City Council of Baltimordthe Cityo entered into a service agreement,
through June 30, 2013, with Veolia Water North Amer@antral, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, which now

owns and operates the faciliffhe agreement has now been extended through June 30, T2@l&greement allows the
Wastewater Utility tadeliver up to approximately 2,167 wet tons of sewerage sludge per month and to pay a tipping fee
comparable to alternative methods of sludge disposal currently being used by the Wastewater Utility. The debt service on
variable rate bondsas been satisfiegind is nolongera o mponent of the tipping fee. Tl
tipping fee expense per wet ton for delivering sewerage sludge a26knd $4.92up to the guaranteed and excess
tonnage amounts, respectively. Payments under the agméemfiscal year 208 were $2.5 million. The maximum
commitment by the City i26,004wet tons per year.

The Wastewater Utility also has an agreement with SyrBgtimore, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Synagro
Technologies for processing biosolidst t he Cityb6s Back River and Patapsco
agreements, the Wastewater Utility delivers approximét8|900dry tons of biosolids per year at each facility and pays
base and service tipping fees. The debt service orotimiskis a component of the tipping feEke base tipping fee at the
Patapsco Wastewat@&reatment Planterminated in fiscal year 282with the completion of debt service paymehhe
averageservice tipping fees wered81.45and $111.77per ton for the Back River and Patapsco Wastewater Treatment
Plants, respectively. Payments under the agreements in fiscal ye&aw@ 34.2 million. The agreements extend to
2025for the Back River an@027 for thePatapsco Wastewater Treatment Plants

In 2002, the City voluntarily entered into a Consent Decree to rehabilitate its sanitary sewer system and address sanitary
sewer overflows (SSOs)The 2002 Consent Decree expired on January 1, 20b60ctober 6, 2017, the U.S. District

Court approveé Modified Consent Decree (MCDJ.he Modified Consent Decree supersedes the 2002 Consent Decree
and provides a revised schedule to address SSOs through a hybrid level of prodwtidviodified Consent Decree is

one of many that the U.S. Departmentia$tice has negotiated with major cities with aging sewer infrastructinese

efforts are ambitious and the costs are esttch at $2.8illion, which is comprised of $1.6 billion in costeurred through

June 2018; $18aillion projected for completion of Phase | through January 1, 2021 (capital only); $720 million projected

for completion of Phase Il through December 313@Qcapital only); and $3 million projected for related costs,
including program management,flanonitoring, asset management, and preventative maintenance

The MCD is composed of two (2) phaseBhase | provides the greatest environmental benefits and constructs the
Headworks Project at the Backv@r Wastewater Treatment PlaRhase Il furthemicreases hydraulic capacity to achieve

the hybrid level of protection against SSOEhe City will continue to address sewage backups and sanitary discharges of
unknown origin (SDUQOs), while performing proactive maintenance throughout the sanitary seesr. 3yse City will

also implement an Expedited Reimbursement Program that budgets up to $2 million per year from the Wastewater Utility
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to reimburse City homeowners up to $2,500 per dwelling, per incident for reasonable, verified disinfection and cleanup
costs arising from verified sewage backups resulting from surcharging in the sanitary sewer systdrbycagt weather.
Applicants must exhaust applicable insurance coverage before seeking reimbursement, and applications must be filed
within 90 days aftethe incidenti historical backups are not eligiblén exchange for reimbursement of reasonable,
verified expenses, applicants must sign a waiver for any claim to compensation for cleanup or disinfection arising from the
incident.Eligibility under the Epedited Reimbursement Program is not premised on a determination of liability, and the
program is limited to City homeowners and renters who meet the above crifsfiactively, the MCD extends the
deadline to address SSOs to December 31, 283flose-out report is due by July 31, 2033

Several Baltimore Police Departmarificers have filed a complaint against the City of Baltimore and the Baltimore Police
Department, alleging violations of the Fair Labor Standard Act. The matter has been calygitientified by the Court
as a collective action. Discovery has just begun, and there is currently no estimate of the amount of the damages claimed.

20. Beginning Balance Adjustments

During fiscal year 2018, the City implement Government Accour8iagdards Board StatementNo5, A Account i n
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions". Under the provisions of this statement, the City
must report the net OPEB liability (NQbn its financial statement§herefore, the€City has rstatedhe fiscal yeaended

June 30, 2017, net position totals based on the effetttiothange The restated net position total resulting from this
accounting are as follows for governmental activities and the applicable proprietary figetisdafamounts expressed in
thousands):

Restated
June 30, 2017 GASB 75 OPEE June 30, 2017
Net Position Adjustments Net Position

Governmental Funds

Government al Activitiesééé. éééééécéécééeeéeécécénéééaresrase éé @Gaes,750)% 407,774
Proprietary Funds

Wat er ut i Iity FundéééééééeécééecéecéeéeeéeceéeceeeecéeéeerBEOEE. . (25608) 705,450
Wast ewat er ut i Iity FundéééééééécéeceéeééeeceéceéeéeeéeRODOIME é é é @5,155) 2,033,894
St or mwat er ut i | ity Fundéééééeéeeéeeéeeeeeécééééé &83BaE e é é é(3,710) 279,620
Nonmajor Proprietary Funds

Condui t Fundéééééeéécecéecéecéeceéeceeecéeceeeéeeeéeceéeééééorsnn (1,946) 90,355
Component Unit

Bal t i mor e Ci t vy Public School (BCPSS) e é é e é é é5460141¢ € € & RESOMEWE é é é £83,137

Discretely Presented Componéhiits

As of and for year endedf June 30, 2018 and 201ithe BCPSS did not record its proportionate share of the pension
l'iability and rel ated amountcstshaihgadtirendentiplan; aaogid poarecord c i p a't
its proportionate share of net OPEB Iliability postd r el a
employmentbenefits (OPEB)As of and for the year endelline 30, 2018, the City made adjustments to the BCPSS
financi als statements to correct the BCPSS6s financi al st a
after adjustments, in the accompanying financials statements. The auditors for the City have audited the adjustments made
to the BCPSS fineacial statements as listed below. The adjustments to the BCPSS financial statements were to include the
BCPSS proportionate share of the net pension Iliability
City of Baltimore (ERS) and the BZSS proportionate share of the net OPEB liability for employees eligible for other
postemploymenbenefits as of June 30, 2QEd related deferred outflows, deferred inflows and expense. Additionally,

the required footnote disclosure for such balances have also been added to the notes to the financial statements.

The adjustments recorded are listed below

Adjustments for recordation Adjustments for recordation Restated per City's

As reported by BCPSS of Net Pension Liability of Net OPEB Liability Financial Statements
Deferred outflows ééééééééééééééééé. . $ 41920 $ 9193 $ 51,113
Net pension liability ééééééééécéééééécéé 135,109 135,109
Net OPEB liability ééééééééécééeéééééé 247,751 247,751
Deferred inflows éééééééééééécéééééé. 9,081 9,081
Expenses éééééééééééccééecerée. . 1,399,615 (38,152) 27,235 1,388,698
Net position, June 30, 2018 ééécécdgrpaBecéeéce (102,269) (238,558) 447,121

88



CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
(Continued)
21.Tax Abatement

As of June 30, 2@, the City approves Tax Abatements and Paymeritidn of Taxes (PILOT) for the purpose of
encouraging economic development and to provide better residential housing for the disabled and senior citizens:

1 The economic development program provides PILOTs to businesses, landowners and deveytestitite
payment folannual real estate taxes with negotiated payment called PILOTSs for a specific period of time. PILOTs
are granted on qualifying projects which would not otherwise be undertakei t hout t h&heCi t y 0 ¢
program is administered underetlauthority of the Property Tax Article of the State Annotated Code Title 7
Property TaxesSubtitle 5SExemptions Abatements are obtained by application to the Baltimore Development
Corporations (BDC) with final approval by the Cityd

1 The disable and senior residential housing program provides PILOTSs to developersfangmydit organization
who provide housing for disabled and senior citizens to replace their annual real estate taxes with a negotiated
payment for a specific pericaf time. PILOTs are granted on qualifying projects which would not otherwise be
undertake wi t hout t h &he @rogray Gssadnsnistpredounder. the authority of the Property Tax
Article of the State Annotated Code TitlePfoperty TaxesSubtitle 5Exemptions Abatements are obtain by
application directly to the Cityds Department .of Ho

Additionally, the State of Maryland makes PILOT payments tdihefor various port facilities thatra operated by the
State.

Amount of
Taxes Abated

Tax Abatement Program (in thousands’
Economic development
Mar ket based housing ééééééecéceececececeeececeeceeédchece e S&BE
Busi ness devel opment éééééééééééééeéeéeeeeeceeeéééééé é roaese

Gar ages éééééeéccéecececéeececeeceececeececeeceececeeceeceeceeeceeceeeeceeeeccee 331
Af fordabl e housing ééééééécéééceeéeceéeeceeececeeeceeeceeceeegmme
St at e o f Mar yl and Por t Aut hority ééééécéecéeéeéeeéeéééééé eFsase

Tot al eéééécécécéccéccécceceécecccecececececcececceceececeeeceeeceecececeeeeceéeese. 27,953

22. Subsequent Events

On August 28, 2018, theity entered into two Master/Lease Purchase Agreements with Grant Capital Management Inc.
totaling $23,491,000 to be used to purchase motor vehicles and heavy equipment for the Department of General
Services. One agreement was for $3,331,000 with a tefré years and an interest rate of 3.39%he other agreement

was for $20,160,000 with a term of 10 years and an interest rate of 3.89%.

On December 13, 2018, the City entered into an agreement with the State of Maryland to borrow $43,580,000 in County
Transportation Revenue Bonds, Series 2018, with a 20 year t€he City received an interest rate on the bonds ranging

from 3.50% to 5.00% or a true interest of 3.09%h ese bonds are secured by a pl edge
user revenues

On December 20, 2018, the City entered into a Wastewater Loan agreement with the Environment Protection Agency,

Water Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act Revolving Loan in the amount of $202,000(@0¢ate of interest on
the loan is set at 2886, with a final maturity on July 1, 2052.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Encumbrances,

and Changes i n Fund Bal ances T Budget and A
General Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Thousands)
Variance with
Final Budget
Positive
Original Budget Final Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
Taxes - l ocal éééééééééééééeecééeeéeééécseddarxpll.$s 1424511 $ 1,406,403 $ (18,108)
St at e s har ed revenueéééeéeceéeéeeeeeéeeéeéé é r46saé é él14a6,251 146,174 77)
Li censes and permitséééééééceéeécéeéeeéeéeééeée3xyosse éé . 37086 41,043 3,957
Fines and forfeitureséééééécéééééeécéééélaga3de e é &es33 27,085 9,252
I nterest, rent al s and ot her i nvest meomlié i n 2lie é é é B7dPelé é é é &,655
Feder al grant s ééééécéceecééééeéeéeeceeééécéeéee & 220 79 (141)
St at e grant s ééééééééeécecécéeéééeceeééééééerwgras 103,748 102,506 (1,242)
Ot her grant s ééééééééeécéééééeéececeéeeeéeéeeéeeceéé27 27 27
Char ges f or current S erviceseéééééeécéeshdMeceéeéenbexye é 43,026 (12,671)
Mi scell aneous ééééééééééeécéceéceeéééecéeéééeéé gxEa3l (9,391) 9,391
Tot al revenues éééééééééééééééééé élreanss 1,796,098 1,793,414 (2,684)
BExpenditures and Encumbrances:
Bal ti mor e City Public School Sy st e mdR¥ré é é @393,895 &€ é é 882,349 10,948
Board o f Li guor Li cense Commi s si oner 258 é é é eE55% é é é €16688 920
City Council éééeeééééeeceeeéeééeceeceeeéécececeé 241 7,241 6,951 290
Ci vi |l Service Commi S si oneééééécéeéeceéeeéeceéerteme é é él4,694 6,091 8,603
Comptroll er éééééééééeéeécécéeéeééeeeeéeéeéééééé 8006 8,006 7,447 559
Courtsééééééécééeecéeecéececeeeeeeeeceeeeeece 16,416 16,416 15,708 708
Depart ment o f Financeééééééééeéeeceéeeéééexyeayeé éé ée27,287 23,906 3,381
Depart ment o f Fireééééééeeééeeceéecéeécéécééé éexsasegse e .236,874 234,064 2,810
Depart ment o f Gener al Services . éééééErPee éé errdOxReé é é é11,763 6,169
Depart ment o f Heal t hééeééééééeéeeeéééééexbaxwééé. 33552 43,047 (9,495)
Depart ment o f Housi ng and Communi ty 508% el 059,826 nt é 802083 é é é .9,792
Depart ment of Lawéééééeeéeéeeeceeeeeééééé é éeansm . 8,930 8,058 872
Depart ment of Legisl ative Ref erenceéa?ZBReécéeépraseeécéé eéeroes 276
Depart ment o f Muni ci pal and Zoning A pofbe al s €GB & & & é é5e8: ¢é é . 118
Depart ment o f Pl anningéééééééecéeécééeceéececeegdlaceéeceésa 5,393 1,018
Depart ment o f Pol i ceééééécééééééécéééé a18ee éé 485876 484,894 982
Depart ment o f Public Wor ks ééééééééééeBEewe éé éla®@el 100,060 10,111
Depart ment o f Recreati on and Par ks é é42,218 é é é &R X8 é é é 8101 5,117
Depart ment of Transportati onééééeééé éesEde é é azxé41¢é . 110,408 16,236
Enoch Pratt Fr ee Li braryeééééééécéécécééégexeceéeaedExl 22,446 4,575
Mayoraltyéééééeéééeéeéééeeéeéeeeéeéeeeeéeééééeé 227081 227,081 226,914 167
of fice o f Ci vil Ri ght s é ééééééééeéeéecedqdpabeéececéé b e 1,572 373
Oof fice of Financi al Reviewééééééééeéceéeecemaeéeeeernsz. 702 51
Oof fice of Sherifféééééééééeecéeéééeéeéeececeery@eéee 22470 20,778 1,692
of fi ce o f St at e' s At torneyéééééééeéécéé 86280 éc¢é é aeesoé . 34,922 1,328
Supervisor o f El ections éééééééécééécéecgrmeeéééeérrob 4,763 2,943
Tot al expenditures and encumbr a 8286 é 18231 e6e é Elg42662 80,544
Exces s o f revenues over e xpen @vQall r e s(27,608)d e BO@B52 mb r &MH860¢
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers inéééééééeéeééeeceeceeééeeceéeééééé 302 36,302 162,286 125,984
Transfers oOout éééééécécéééééeeecéeééééécécéé (eKr30 (121,304) (155,046) (33,742)
Tot al ot her financing sources (U B%062) € é €85,602)¢ é é é ge & 92,242
Ne t changes in fund bal ances é&¥la@sdeé é a208@ é é 58,092 170,102
Fund bal ances - beginning € é éééé éé érpaBae3e é é gm@Ese . 714,803
Fund bal ances - endi ngéééééeeééécéé e é@pioe &e éad2,793 772,895 $ 170,102

Adjustments to reconcile to GAAP basis:
Residual Equity Transfer In
Additi on o f encumbr ances
Less: Accounts payable not recorded for budgetary purposes
. and ot her GAAP adjust ment s
Fund bal ance June 30, 2018 ( GA

out st andi

ng

A P

é

é

)

é

é

e

e

e

é é é é &9.634

é. . (41,389

eéeéeee & 8EIAd4LE € é

(1) Annual budgetsare adoptedfor the GeneralFund and all Sp ecialRevenueFunds,exceptfor GrantsRevenueCommunity Develop menBlock GrantFunds
andthe ScholarshipFund, on a basisconsistentwith Generally AcceptedAccountingPrinciples,exceptfor certainmiscellaneougienerakexp endituresvhich are

not budgeted and encumbrances which are recognized as expenditures for budgetary

purposes.

(2) Thebudgetof the City is adetailedop eratingp lan, which identifies estimatedcostsandresultsin relation to estimatedrevenuesT he budgetincludes:(1) the
programs projects services andactivitiesto be providedduringthefiscal y ear,(2) theestimatedresourceginflow) andamountsavailablefor ap propriationand
(3) the estimatedchargesto appropriations.The budgetrepresentsa processthroughwhich policy decisionsare made,implementedand controlled.The City

Charter prohibits expending funds for which there is no legal appropriation.

(3) This scheduledoesnot include a non-budgetaryrevenueand expensdatem in the amountof $2,138,000which was paid by the Maryland StateRetiremen
System on behalf of the City of Baltimore for certain employees of the Enoch Pratt Free Library.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability
Employees' Retirement System Plan
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

2015 2016 2017 2018
City's share of the net pension liability é6é6é6é6é6é6¢66¢6EBBMMEEEEBHRINA 6 & 630.83806 ¢ 6 BLH6%
City's proportionate share of the net pension liabilit$y 6640008 ¢8éEKAWEEFHEITE 6 S6TEM
City's covered employee payroll|l ééééééééééécééeecebeeeecdeeddennéeeedmrose éeé 319693 318,999
City's proportionate share of the net pension liabili 177.2% 176.7% 201.5% 187.3%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total @783si on6300abi6bilmy é6dek

The reporting date is June 30, 2018 and the measurement date is June 30, 2017

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Employer Contributions
Employees' Retirement System Plan

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

Description 2015 2016 2017 2018
Actuarially determined contribution 6666666666666 E660E6CE00BCACEMBTEEHCATHAMBECRE 6BTA2 $ 688%
Contribution in relation to the actuarially determined co®1558 but B)780 €6 GEME ¢ é 6GBA®
Contribution deficiency (excess) Eé6E6e6E6E6EE6E6E6EeeeecedeéediRBESEEdBECHE (992 $ 9
Covered employee payroll 66é66é66¢666¢666666666666666666668666%4/K00%686847656 $319693 $31899

Contribution as a percentage of covered payroll ééééééééeerpHbceéR%eéeBIWe éé QEMY

The reporting date is June 30, 2018 and the measurement date is June 30, 2017
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liahility
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System-ERPS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

2016 2017 2018
City's share of the net pension liability ééééééééééééeééééecéNDBE EEEE 08286666 eEB®
City's proportionate share of the net pension liability $ééédBnoéeH éEnd é&éé &/dEL
City's covered employee payroll ééééééééééééébééiébebeéiéeeécéedneécéeedmpéceé. 1400
City's proportionate share of the net pension liability as d8percei834ge o 500.0%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pe®&2M% n | i6298% | i t \66.74%
Note: The reporting date is June 30, 2018 and the measurement date is June 30, 2017

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Employer Contributions
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System-ERPS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

Description 2016 2017 2018
Actuarially determined contribution éééé6éééééééeééééecéeeReéceerbBecdée Bt éBééées9
Contribution in relation to the actuarially determined contridffution 488ééééédHH

Contribution deficiency (excess) €é66666666666666666666666606666¢606cREEEEEEEHKE. .
Covered employee payroll| ééééééééééééééébééééeebeéééeéecécéreccéedrecreéedsn $ 1,400
Contribution as a percentage of covered payroll éé6é66666E66E6dRBWEEEETTARE 66 ¢ 647.6760
Note: The reporting date is June 30, 2018 and the measurement date is June 30, 2017

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System-LEOPS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

2016 2017 2018
City's share of the net pension liability éééééééééééééeéeéeéAng éééénE3meéééers®w
City's proportionate share of the net pension liability $ééénbRé R ¢ 8aAMeL ¢ &é & BOEK
City's covered employee payroll ééééé6éé6éééééééééiéedécéeeéceécedarmececeérideéceé. . 220
City's proportionate share of the net pension Iliability as #3708% r c e41652% e d79823%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pe6ls30% n | 5&3B% | it \62.80%
Note: The reporting date is June 30, 2018 and the measurement date is June 30, 2017

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Employer Contributions
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System-LEOPS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

Description 2016 2017 2018
Actuarially determined contribution é6ééé6éé6ééb6éééeééiéeeeeredénsoneds écrioreédeeéeaar
Contribution in relation to the actuarially determined contrR232tion?2408ééééexar
Covered employee payroll|l ééééééééééééééceééééeebebeéeéeeéedéeeecérpececéens 220
Contribution as a percentage of covered payroll ééééééééééédaDammmeé é érlB6BRA 6 ¢ 1435009
Note: The reporting date is June 30, 2018 and the measurement date is June 30, 2017
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule ofChanges in Net Pension Liability (Assets) and Related Ratios
Fire and Pol i ce EBystene Sigle EndployRePlan r e me n t
Pension Trust Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 208
(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

2015 2016 2017 2018

Total pension liability

Interest (includes interest on service c@dst) HBEBHEEEELH066&¢E¢E¢E e QE0DBIESE . . 296,220

Service cost éééééééééééééééébébbeeeeeeeeeeeééeeéosnss 66,199 70,730 70,987

Change in assumption ééééééééééééééécééécééécééeceééceé. 35,494

Differences between expected and actual experid8Be ééé&BEBEEEEEcHBBEééé. (17,476)

Benefit payments, including refunds of member (219808)t r i b ua23369% s ¢é é @B/AEE é é é é 2d4508C
Net change in total pension liability éééééééééééeOx76xrééééédadabéééééans sy 104,651
Tot al pension liability - beginning éééééééc 3,252,533 3,348,302 3,510,767 3,615,656
Total pension liability - ending éééééééééééBééé BBBRWGBEEEE3RNMERE. . 3615656 $ 3,720,307
Plan fiduciary net position:

Net investment income éééééééééééééééééeeetecee8RATEEES 53526 $ 2982 $ 291,978

Contribution - employer ééééééééééééééééééééééeamomeceééé 118190 120,279 129,689

Contribution - member ééééééééééééééééééééééeéééepsmBéeééé. 30130 30,339 29,902

Benefit payments, including refunds of member (219808)t r i b u 223369 s ¢é é RE/AYE é é é é ¢24508C

Administrative expense ééééééééééééééééééééééééeBapecééeé (4281 (4,377) (4,328)
Net change in plan fiduciary net position ééééééRadEIWecédé B ééééeé@ryE 202,161
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning éééééééér24oBIEceerP/LEB Eé ¢ éR448376 2,360,404
Plan fiduciary net position - ending éééééééeéeéraréry@ééééd48876¢é éé ¢ é2,360404 2,562,565
Net position liability (asset) - ending ééé$ 874,132 $ 1,062,391 $ 1,255,252 $ 1,157,742
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 73.89% 69.74% 65.28% 68.88%
Covered employee payroll ééééééééééééééééééccréceeronsBeaeéééé 32040893 298,779 $ 296,357
Net pension liability (asset) as a percenta 300.82% 33L.57% 420.13% 390.66%

The reporting date is June 30, 2018 and the measurement date is June 30, 2017

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability (Assets) and Related Ratios
El ected Offici al sSngliREmployer®lalre nt Sy st em
Pension TrustFunds
For the Year Ended June 30, 208
(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

2015 2016 2017 2018

Total pension liability

Interest (includes interest on service copst) EQEFEREECEEEKNRBEECEEEEEBES . 965

Service cost ééééééééééééééééééééééééeeééeééeééééésy 410 260 250

Change in assumption ééééééééééééééééééécéécéécééééécé. (3,523) 315

Differences between expected and actual experie@¢~6e ééécéc@apécceeegarece. 662

Benefit payments, including refunds of member c@®tributi(ths ééééeéEnééeééeééé o)
Net change in total pension liability éééééééééééééedDRéééécée@Bpapeecééeeé. 321 944
Total pension liability - beginning éééééééc 16,185 16,780 13,681 14,002
Total pension liability - ending ééééééééééeBHEEeeeepniranéRééééereEHHe. | 14,002 $ 14,946
Plan fiduciary net position:

Net investment income ééééééééééééééééeééedbbéécéecxonsgeéd 629 $ 45 $ 3,116

Contribution - employer éééééééééééééééééééééééeeqEééeeéee. . 85

Contribution - member éééééééééécéééééécééeéééééecécsreééé. 61 62 90

Benefit payments, including refunds of member c@®)tributi(Mhs éééééEca)eeéeeééeéeé sl

Administrative expense €éééééééééééééééécécééeéeeeqppécésé (33) (35) (55)
Net change in plan fiduciary net position éééééééé3iBbééécéécRPeéééééémal) 2,217
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning éééééééceRBIELEcceeerBARREEeééé@3440 22,749
Plan fiduciary net position - ending éééééééééééédéoBipBéééééépindneéééé. 22749 24,966
Net position liability (asset) - ending ¢ééé $ (6,683) $ (9,759) $ (8,747) $ (10,020)
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 139.83% 171.33% 162.47% 167.00%
Covered employee payroll| ééééééééééééééééeééepééceedpdérééé. 11298 $ 1334 $ 1,297
Net pension liability (asset) as a percenta (527.37)% (751.38)% (655.70)% (772.55)%

The reporting date is June 30, 2018 and the measurement date is June 30, 2017
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Employer ContributionsSingle Employer Plans
Ten-Year Trend Information
Pension Trust Funds
(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Fire and Police Employees' Retirement System:
Actuarially determined cc $09513 $4098 $107540 $107488 $107,779 $113843 $11902 $121,115 $129,689 $137,738
Contribution in relation to the actuarially
determined contribution éAIBEEHAMASWANMD 107488 104779 113843 11902 121115 129689 13773¢
Covered employee payroll 281424 276577 275648 284601 277524 292,739 322,667 300855 296,357 323,351
Contribution as a perceni 2470% 3402% 3901% 37.77% 3884% 388%% 363% 4026%  43.76% 42.60%

Elected Officials' Retirement System:
Actuarially determined cc $340  $957 $998 $419 $307 $85
Contribution in relation to the actuarially
determined contribution ééE8EEETBEEEAT 998 419 307 85
Covered employee payroll 1182 1206 1206 1,237 1,236 1267 1299 134 1297 1399
Contribution as a percent 000% 2819% 7935% 8068% 3390% 2423%  65% 000%  000% 0.00%

Source is individual Retirement Systems' stand-alone audit reports.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Scheduleof Changes inthe Net OPEB Liabilities and Related Ratios
OPEB Fund
For the Ended June 30, 2018
(Expressed ithousandps

2017 2018

Total OPEB Liability
Service Cost at end of year éééééééééeéééeéeésnéeéérunseeéééansax

I nterest éééééeééééceceééceceéééeceéééceeééceeécée 93,367 94,514

Changes of assumption éééeééeééceééceéeceéeééeééeééeéeeéeece 30644

Benefits payments ¢éééécéééecéécéééeééceééeceéceééecepandgpe. (106,352

Net changes in Total OPEB Liability éééééééééééelbadneéééésesd
Total OPEB Liability - beginning éééééeééecécé 1,384,925 1,401,064
Total OPEB Liability - ending (a) ééééééééé 3 1,401,064 $ 1,450,708

Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Contribution - Employer éééééééééééeéééécééée $ 138,931 $ 145,466
Net investment income ééééééééééééééééééééééééceclprobéééé. 32933
Benefit payments ééééééééééééécéeéeéeéeécéecécéced¢loomeny. . (106,352
Net change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position éééécmREceeécéceéerds
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - beginning ¢éé 438,342 516,559
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - ending (b) éégééeEhassers éé es85606
Net OPEB liability - ending (a) - (b) ééééc $ 884,505 $ 862,102

Note: This is the second year of presentation per GASB 74. This will build into a 10 year schedule.

2017 2018
Total OPEB liability éééééeécééeéééééééeééécéeé $ 1401064 $ 1,450,708
Plan fiduciary net position ééééééééééééécc 516,559 588,606
Net OPEB liability éééééééééééécécéeéééééécéedeeeasesdesé. 862102
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a percentage of 36B% Tot 4016%
Covered payroll éééééééééécééeéeééééiécéeécéeéeeerssams. 1,345,680
Net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered f0a%rol |l 6&B4

Average money weighted rate of returnéééééécééécéloprééceéében

Note: This is the second year of presentation per GASB 74. This will build into a 10 year schedule.

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of Net OPEB Liability
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

2017 2018

s share of the net OPEB liability ééééé66écbbé6becéebécéectldhééederdsn
City's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability éééé&één%lanéséensd
City's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability as a pe&&&nt agtdl%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total |ia3%ddity 406%

Note: The reporting date is June 30, 2018 and the measurement date is June 30, 2017
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to the Required Supplementary tnfation
(Unaudited)

1. Budgetary Data

Annualbudgets are adopted for the General Fund and all Special Revenue Funds, except for Grants Revenue, Community
Development Block Grant Funds and the Scholarship Fund, on a basis consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles, except for certain roisllaneous general expenditures which are not budgeted and encumbrances which are
recognized as expenditures for budgetary purposes.

The budget of the City is a detailed operating plan, which identifies estimated costs and results in relation td estimate
revenues. The budget includes: (1) the programs, projects, services, and activities to be provided during the fiscal year, (2
the estimated resources (inflows) and amounts available for appropriation, and (3) the estimated charges to appropriations.
Thebudget represents a process through which policy decisions are made, implemented, and controlled. The City Charter
prohibits expending funds for which there is no legal appropriation.

The following procedures establish the budgetary data reflected fiméineial statements:
Original Budget
(1) City agencies submit their anticipatasinual budget needs to the Department of Finance during December.

(2) From December through March, the Mayor and the Department of Finance analyze, review, and refine the budget
submittals.

(3) In April, the Director of Finance sends its recommended budget plan to the Board of Estimates. The Board then holds
hearings and the recommended budget is amended as necessary. Citizens have the opportunity to offer input before the
Board votesn the budget.

(4) In May, a majority vote of the Board of Estimates approves the total budget and sends it to the City Council. The Board
of Estimates must submit the proposed budget for the next fiscal year to the City Council at least 45 days before the
beginning of said fiscal year. The Board of Estimates prepares a proposed Ordinance of Estimates to be submitted to the
City Council. The Ordinance of Estimates is the legal authority for the enactment of the budget.

(5) The City Council then holds hearings the proposed Ordinance of Estimates, with additional citizen input before it
votes in June. The City Council shall adopt the budget at least five days before the beginning of the fiscal year. The City
Council then sends the approved Ordinance of Estiniathe Mayor.

(6) The Mayor then either approves the total Ordinance of Estimates, or disapproves some items and approves the rest of
the Ordinance of Estimates.

Final Budget
The final budgetary data presented in the basic financial statements refldotlothieg changes to the original budget:

(1) Appropriations for a particular program, purpose, activity, or project may, upon the recommendation of the head of the
municipal agency concerned and the Director of Finance, and with the approval of the Bestahafes, be carried over

to the subsequent fiscal year to carry out the initial appropriation objectives. All appropriations not carried over lapse at
the end of the fiscal year in which they were made. In addition, funds encumbered for contracdsepunaérs, approved
requisitions or other actual commitments, as well as funds dedicated to grant programs and capital improvements are
carried out over the ensuing fiscal year until utilized or cancelled.

(2) The adopted budget is prepared and appropriategh agency, program, activity, and object of expenditure basis by
fund. Purchase orders which result in an operating or capital overrun are not released until additional appropriations are
made available. Expenditures for each adopted operating budgebirlagally exceed appropriations at the agency level.
Administratively, the Department of Finance has the authority to move appropriations between activities of the same
program within the same agency. The Board of Estimates has the authority ta tappségriations between programs

within the same agency. Only the City Council can transfer appropriations between agencies.

(3) The City Charter permits further appropriations for programs included in the original Ordinance of Estimates made
necessary by nterial changes in circumstances and additional appropriations for new programs or grant awards which
could not reasonably be anticipated when formulating the original Ordinance of Estimates. These changes require
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to the Required Supplementary tnfation
(Unaudited)

supplemental appropriation ordinances. Dgriscal year 208, a supplemetal appropriation ordinance wasquired for
the general funih the amounbf $28,60Q000.

Budgetary data, as revised, is presented as required supplementary information for the general fund and the motor vehicle
fund.

2.Schedule of the Cityds Proportionate Share of SdketiuePensi
of Changes n Net Pension Liability (Asset)and Related Ratios

TheCity Plansar e consi dered part of the Cityds reporting enti
basic financial statements as pension trust funds. Each plan issues a publicly available financial report that includes
financial statements andehequired supplementary information for that plEime State System Plans are incldidie the
Cityobs b asatemerdinigovarmmentahdctivities and these plans also issue a publicly available financial report.
Financial statements for the Cians and the State Systemay be obtaineffom the following websites:

For Employeesd Retirement Systemweavibcersbrf ect ed Official sé
For Fireand Polie Empl oyees 6 Rewwbcimmergqt System
For the Maryland State Retirement and Pension Systemu.sra.state.md.us

3.Schedule of the Cityds Proportionat e GChangesiaNeat OPEB lhiabiittNet OP

The City of Baltimore provides otheostemploymenbenefits (OPEB) to all qualified City and BCPSS employees. The

OPEB Trust Fund does not i ssue separate finannsiaad st at
fiduciary trust fund. The City does not calculate #lotuarial determinedontribution so therefor such information is not
available for the Tot al Pl an or The Cityébés proportionat
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Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Special Revenue Funds

Special revenue funds are used to accounsgecific revenues that are legally restricted to expenditures for particular
purposes.

Community Development Block GtaBpecial Racetrack FundSchool Construction, d&timore Casi, State Video

Lottery Terminal Fundsand Table Games Fundlhesefunds account for revenues derived from certain State shared
taxes, governmental grants and other revenue sources that are restricted by law or administrative action to expenditures
for specific purposes.

Scholarship Fund This fund accounts for the caoifitutions received and related interest income. The fund can be used
to provide scholarships to City residents.

Permanent Funds

Permanent funds are used to report resources that are legally restricted to the extent that only earnings, not principal, may
be used for the purposes that fund and support the repo

Enoch Pratt Free Library FundThis fund accounts for principal trust amounts received and the related interest income.
The interest portion of the trust can be usedHeroperations of the Enoch Pratt Free Library.

Memorial Fund- This fund accounts for the principal trust amounts received and the related interest income. The interest
portion of the trust can be used by the City for memorials.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Govemmental Funds
June 30, 2018

(Expressed in Thousands)

Special Revenue Funds Permanent Funds
Community Enoch Total
Development  School State Videc Pratt Free Nonmajor
Block Grant  Constructior Baltimore  Lottery  Scholarship Library - Memorial Governmente
Fund Fund Casino  Terminal Fund  Table Game Total Fund  Fund  Total Funds
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalentséééc®éder $ 1382 $ 1874 § 5490 $11983 $ 2718 $ 295 $ 573 $ 12556
Investmentséééééeééééééécé. 761 761 1980 5859 7839 8,600
Other receivables, netééééééééédpan 3 1,278 9 13 22 1,300
Due from other goverr 518 1,792 63 $ 518 2891 2891
Due from other fund éé%é6é 68485 . 8455 8455
Total assetsééééééééeeems 5,030 3174 1937 6,254 518 25368 2267 6167 8434 33,802
Liabilties, deferred inflows of resources
and fund balances:
Liabiities:
Accounts payable and accrué&@ liabilitl2%éééeas 1 2111 2111
Due to other fundsééééééééééée. 1844 1844 1844
Due to other governmental égeBeééééé 4,654 4,654
Total liabilitieséééééeébhlgée 1299 48 1845 8609 8,609
Deferred inflows of resources:
Unavailable grants revenue3s8éééééée 3530 3530
Total deferred inflows 830 resources ééé 3530 3530
Total liabilities BMEEEEEEE. . 1299 48 1845 12139 12,139
Fund balances:
Restrictedééééééédécceeeésé 6,254 6,254 2267 6167 8434 14,688
Assignedéééééessseeessdé 5,030 1875 1,889 8,794 8,7%
Unassignedéééééééééééééée (49 (1,327) (1,819) (1,819)
Total fund balances ééé¢@2éé.5030 1875 1,889 6,254 (1,327) 13229 2267 6167 8434 21,663
Total liabiities, deferred inflows of
resources and fund dal aeles 6630 &6€3174 $ 1937 § 6254 $ 518 $25368 $ 2267 $ 6167 $ 8434 $ 33802
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Thousands)

Special Revenue Funds Permanent Funds
Communy
Developmen  School State Videc Enoch Pratl Total Nonmajor
Block Grant Construction Balimore  Lottery  Scholarship Free Library Memorial Governmental
Fund Fund  CasinoFun Terminal ~ Fund  Table Game Total Fund Fund  Total Funds
Revenues:
Taxes local ééééééééédée. 8. 12558 $ 12558 $ 12558
State shared revenue 2770 $ 12360 $ 6,856 $ 2080 24,066 24,066
Interest, rentals and other investment income$é. 105 105 $ % $ 74 % 850 955
Federal grantséééééééédedlesme. . 17,261 17,261
Other revenueéééééééééééééd. 1,250 1,250 1,250
Total revenueséééééééérpesdd. . 16578 12360 6,856 105 2080 55240 % 754 850 56,090
Expenditures:
Current:
General governmentéééeéééemeée. 16516 6,718 1219 26,756 26,756
Public safety and regulation éééééédgsl 1781 1,781
Educationééééééeeéeeééeée. k) 3 3
Public libraryéééééégessscéésd 3% 3% 27 27 63
Recreation and cultureééééééééééé. 489 9 1807 2305 191 191 24%
Highways and streets 66é¢éééééééé. 4 4 4
Sanitation and waste removal éééé66666373 373 373
Economic development éééééDeBHEEE 523 10,309 10,309
Total expenditureséééégd®dééél6576 9928 1264 35 1807 41639 27 191 218 41,857
Excess of revenues
over expendituresé®bpiRééééé2. 243 5592 70 273 13601 69 563 632 14,233
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers outééééééééééeé’na (3225  (6841) (2,000) (17,790) (17,790)
Total other financing ¢y ces (usdX2)5F é &6841) (2,000)  (17,790) (17,790)
Net change in fund bala(ReséééBéé. (793 (1,249 70 (L727)  (4189) 69 563 632 (3557)
Fund balances beginning é6666666B00% éé 2668 3138 6,184 400 17418 2198 5604 7802 25,220
Fund balances endingééBéé ¢BPE EEx0806% 1875 % 1889 $ 6254 § (1327)$ 13229 $ 2267 § 6167 $ 8434 § 21663
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Nonmajor Proprietary Funds

Enterprise Funds

Enterprise funds are used to account for the operating of various City activities that are provided to the public on a cost
reimbursement basis.

Industrial Development AuthoriyT hi s fund accounts for the activities of

ConduitFund Thi s fund accounts for the rental and maintenanc
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Net Position
Nonmajor Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Thousands)

Industrial
Developmen Conduit
Authority Fund Total

Assets:
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalentsééééeéééééééceceée&edarreéeceééésy 15227

Tot al current assetsééééeéeéeéeééeéeéec 15,227 15,227
Noncurrent assets:

Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalentsééééééééééeéeecéecéé

é é é% &4063¢ é 54,063

Capital assets, net of accumul ated depreciati on6dglé é é6del@
Capital assets not being depreciatedéééééééééé é3fme é éljk@s
Tot al noncurrent assetséééééééécéeeeeeeeéééééldaoase . 156,025
Tot al assetsééééééeécéeéeéecéceeeeeeeeceeééenpr. 156,025 171,252

Deferred outflows of resources

Deferred outflows related to pension ééééééééééearRreééeéert
Deferred outflows related to OPEB éééééééééééééégoeéééégbé
Tot al deferred outflows of resourceséééééeéééé e éé ér@se
Tot al assets and deferred outfl ows o f 1522¥ s 0166;783e s1&1€60

Liabilities and deferred inflows of resources:
Current liabilties:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilitieséééééééérsdécééihp
Due to other fundséééééééééééééééééééééééekbede é 80965 32,509
Compensated absencesééééééééééécééccéééééeeeceéeéééeé . 146 146
Other liabilitieséééééééééééééecécéceéeééeéececeeeeeéeeéeécédnn 4,601

Current liabilties payable from restricted assets:
Account s payable from restricted assetsééécéé éandbe é eahbabe

Tot al current liabilitieséééééééééééé é¥bdde é aAB653 é é14,197
Noncurrent liabilties:
Net pension liability ééééééééééecéééécécéeeeéeéeéécééé 846. 3,406
Net OPEB liability ééééééééééécécéeeecéeeéeeéeeeeéécééérse 1,806
Ot her liabilitieséééééééécééeéeéeéeéeéeéeéceeeeeeeceéeeeééeé. 188 188
Tot al noncurrent liabilitieséééééééecécééécéeéécééé s4ecécé 640
Tot al liabilitieséééééééééééeééééééééé érbdl éasos3 49,597
Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows related pension éééééééééééeeccepreéséeéeer
Tot al deferred inflows of resourcesééééééeééééeérBééééme
Tot al liabilities and deferred in 1,544 48,081 49,625
Net position:
Net invest ment in capital assets eééééeéééééééé rirgeé g
Unrestrictedéééééééééééééééééeéeéééeeééééééé azxods 6,690 20,373
Tot al net positionééééééééééééééééééé &é Ero8k® ¥8652 $ 122,335

108



CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses,
and Changes in Net Position
Nonmajor Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Thousands)

Industrial
Development  Conduit
Authority Fund Total
Operating revenues:
Rents, fees, and other incomeéééééééfééédéR éBEE §62552
Interest income on loanséééééééécééééccé®éceééé. . 87
Total operating revenuesééééécéé 88 28,551 28,639
Operating expenses:
Salaries and wagesééééééééééééééééééééééééé. 3754 3,754
Ot her personnel costséééééécéécéécéeééecéécéeécn6s 2,268
Program expensesééécééeéécéécéeecééct 1 795 796
Materials and supplieséééééeéécéééécéécéecécéérd. 174
Minor equipmentééééééééééééééééeééééééééé. . 268 268
Depreciationééééééééééééééééééééésé 1,157 1,157
Total operating expensesééééééecéécéeéécléeécédas. . 8417
Operating income ...ééééééeééécéeééecéécereéeénnlss 20,222

Capital contributions (reduction)éééééeeéééééeeéé@gsgeé flep

Changes in net positionéééeéééécéeeééécdrééasndgs . 18384
Total net position - beginning (as restat d35p6e é 699,856 é &@OH
Total net position - endingéééééééééééésdéaxroddéyr 408652 & 422335
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Cash Flows
Nonmajor Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Thousands)

Industrial
Developmen  Conduit
Authorty ~ Fund  Total

Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from customersééééééééééééecééededennsasds $28639
Payments to employeeséééééceééééécéebéeéééeeecedsss (6682
Payments to supplierséééééééééééécééeéeéééednnéésn 321
Net cash provided by operating activitieseé&QBOEéPEB
Cash flow from capital and related financing activities:
Acquisition and construction of capital asset s ¢8558 é©E3He9)
Due to other fundséééééééeééééeccéééececééecd(drsyésnss 26446
Net cash used by capital and related fi(A59 c(@2604) a27ixR)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalent: (4432)  (413) (4,845)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year é&X%¢é é54476 ¢ §418%
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year ééécéése émbaR $oe06% $ 692%
Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Operating income éééééééééecéébéccebécccbeecseéedrd 213 $20222
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation expenseéééececécééééceeeééd 1157 1157
Effect of changes in non cash operating asset and liabiities:

Deferred outflows - pension éééééécecéeéééééééééaléécsl
Deferred outflows - OPEB ééécéééécéééécécéécécédsec. (8
Accounts payable and accrued liabilitieséééééééédrécéceld:
Other liabilities éééééeééééecéécbécéédéeécdéeéeénssy 1537
Ot her noncurrent liabilities ééééééééé 23 23
Pension liability - current period ééeééééééééeedyéé g
OPEB liability ééééééeééééecéééccééée (139)  (139)
Deferred inflows - pensionééééééééeeé. (840)  (840)

Total adjustmentsééééééééééééécécécéeéééédeé.2056 205
Net cash provided by operating activitieséé®éeéeddeRn e Rres
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Internal Service Funds

Internal service funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services providedibyastraent or agency
to other departments or agencies of the government, and to other governmental units, on a cost reimbursement basis.

Energy Conservation FundT hi s fund accounts for the operation of the
Municipal Communication FundThi s fund accounts for the repair and mai

Mobile Equipment FundT hi s fund accounts for the service, repair,
fleet.

Reproduction and Printing FundThis f und accounts for the operation of t hi
Municipal Post Office FundThi s fund accounts for the operations of th

Municipal Telephone Exchange Funihi s f und accounts for the administratd.i
exchange.

Building Maintenance FundThis fund accounts for repairs and maintenance in@itged buildings.

Hardware and Software ReplacementFufdhi s f und accounts for the cost of ma
agreements and hardware refreshes.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Fund Net Position
Internal Service Funds
June 30, 2018

(Expressed in Thousands)

Municipal Hardware &
Energy Municipal Mobile  Reproduction Municipal Telephone Building Software
Conservatior Communicatior Equipment and Printing Post Office Exchange Maintenance Replacemer
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Total
Assets:
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalehts &*ks6éeéEés86.$ 6792 $ 646 $ 8450 $ 2516 $ 22,019
Accounts receivable, net:
Ot heréééééééééééééééé. 260 $ 66 $ 5 967 1,298
Inventoriesééééééééééééééééé 6,347 784 47 7,178
Total current assetséé&eréééésslkr 13,399 850 693 5 9,417 2,516 30,495
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cashééééééééeééééééé. 36,814 36,814
Capital assets, netéééééééééééééé 249 110332 110,581
Total noncurrent assetsééééééedd . 147,146 147,395
Total assetséééééééérEn 3,585 160,545 850 693 5 9,417 2516 177,890
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accr w4ld | i a8 i t4j7€8s é é é 580 109 359 1,936 178 8,494
Due to other fundsééééééééééééé. . 68 412 480
Leases payableéééééééééééécééd 16,266 16,266
Compensated absences ééééédBéééé. .11 683 56 11 66 177 1,019
Total current |I|iat 256 399 21,652 704 120 837 2,113 178 26,259
Noncurrent liabilities:
Leases payableéééééééécéééééésé. 70,067 70,067
Compensated absences ¢ééééé@géééé. .54 1,988 69 15 109 365 2,623
Total noncurrent |iabilPRXieséé®stééérgnss 69 15 109 365 72,690
Total liabilitieséééZBéééé 453 93,707 773 135 946 2,478 178 98,949
Net position:
Net investment in capital asset s &49¢éé&spe 24,248
Unrestricted (deficit)éééééééééééexsss 42,839 77 558 (941) 6,939 2,338 54,693
Total net position éééééédééeééécépééés3l32 $ 66838 $ 77 $ 558 $ (941) $ 6,939 $ 2,338 $ 78941
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position
Intenal Service Funds

Forthe Year Ended June 30, 2018
(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Hardware &

Energy Municipal ~ Mobile Municipal ~ Municipal  Building Software

Conservation Communicatior Equipment Reproduction ant Post Office  Telephone  Maintenance Replacement
Fund Fund Fund  PrintingFund ~ Fund  ExchangeFun  Fund Fund Total

Operating revenues:
Charges for servicesééééseeéedadoagee. 544 § 57,750 § 3495 8 2617 $ 9979 § 2677 $ 3170 § 106552
Operating expenses:

Salaries and wagesééééedbecbelbrés 455 121 730 289 1,127 333 18870
Other personnel costséééeéééabéeeéd. 161 557 2% 130 469 1,40 7,984
Contractual serviceseéééeeeeelamess. ™ 240 1,024 154 5,786 15,038 153 45666
Materials and supplieséééééédbéddes. 1642 1,368 5 622 3663
Minor equipmentéééeébéeéééeédedd. 2,736 v % 28 2430 5,285
Postage and delivery serviceééééeécdde. . 1,697 1,697
Depreciationééédeééecéeeddedsd. . 109 13178 13,287
Total operating expensesB@@éecdalpls 54590 3418 2312 7442 20,263 2583 96452
Operating income (loss)é@gaeeeeddlng 3160 7 305 2,531 3414 57 10100
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Loss on sale of equipmentéééééééééééé (1680 (1,680)
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses), net . (1,680) (1,680)
Other financing sources (uses):
Capital contribution (reduction) éé¢6ééé¢He) (4,000
Transfer in 86¢68Eedéeéd 1842 1842
Transfer out 6é6¢ééeedeédeeddedsd (250) (250)
Change in net positionééé@aéeééerad (250 m 305 2537 3,164 587 6,012
Total net position - beginning é6&¢(6m)eééeeERNT e E688 253 (3478) 3175 LBl 7299
Total net position - endingééepééecéehéceaene 6688 $ 78 558 $ (94) § 6,939 $ 2338 § 18941
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Cash Flows
Internal Services Funds
Forthe Year Ended June 30, 2018

(Expressed in Thousands)

Municipal Hardware &

Energy ~ Municipal ~ Moble  Reproductior Municipal Telephone Buiding  Software

Conservatior Communicatior Equipment and Printing Post Office Exchange Maintenance Replacemer
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Total

Cash flows from operating activties:
Receipts from customersééééééeeedééenm $ 581938 3130$ 2590 $ 7934 $ 2339 % 3170 $ 103770

Payments to employeesééééédséd@eeées. (9 (18212 (1,012) (412)  (1,590) (4,242) (26,348)
Payments to suppliersééééééeéflpapécéé®rd) (22419 (21190  (1864)  (6344) (15482  (2577) (55820)
Net cash provided (used) byl563eratlifly algi63vitieséé 314 3,605 503 21602
Cash flows from noncaptal financing actiities:
Transfers inééééeééedécdéedecdasn. 1842
Net cash provided by noncapi82l financing activitieséé 1842
Cash flows from capital and related financing activties:
Acquisition and construction of capital afkeB5)sééeéééé. . (250) (12,105)
Net cash (used) by captal and related financing
activitieségébéébéédéésd (11,855) (250) (12,105)
Net increase in cash and ca<m equilol enbneEé 34 335 593 11339
Cash and cash equivalents, b 2246 37899 332 5,095 1923 47495
Cash and cash equivalents, en§ of279 & ar é383HE% AR676E 6 6 $ 646 9% $ 8450 $ 2516 § 58834

Reconcilation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided (u:
by operating actiities:
Operating income (loss)éééééglamEseeésdrny $ 3160 $ 7% 305% 2537 $ 34148 587 $ 10100

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash prc
(used) by operating activities:

Depreciationééééédéébéésdésdéséé 109 13178 13287
Changes in noncash operating assets and liabilties:

Accounts receivableééééééééééerBédée 4 (4) 17 (348) (72)

Inventorieséééééeééedéedéedécédé. . 39 154 (21 526

Accounts payable and accrued |i6Bbilit(R4e)séé&eées 212 30 (500) 254 6 517

Other liabilitieséééébéebéébécéeédée. 12 152 16 6 8 285 485

Due to other fundséééééébéééééépecée (478) (2,162) (3.241)

Total adjustmentséééééééeééeéé@drdécéd (119 14403 (1 9 (2.537) 191 6 11502
Net cash provided (used) by $ (15638 1090 $ 17563 § $ 3 S $ 36058 593§ 21602
Noncash activity from capital and related financing activities:

New capital leases 666666666860 6E0CRERE $ 22,706 $ 22,706

Total noncash activity fromcapital and relat®d?2fnancing activities é. $ 22,706
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Fiduciary Funds

Fiduciary funds include the following funds, which account for assets held by the City as a trustew agast for
individuals.

Pension Trust FundsThese funds account for the receipt, investment, and distribution of retirement contributions made
for the benefit of police officers, firefighters, elected officials, and other City employees.

Agency Fund This fund accounts for assets held by the City as a custodian.

OPEB Trust Fund This fund accounts for the receipts of City and retiree contributions into the OPEB Trust Fund and
payment of all retiree related health and life insurance benefits.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Pension and OPEB Trust Funds
June 30, 2018
(Expressed In Thousands)

Elected  Fire and Police
Employees'  Officials'  Employees'  OPEB
Retirement  Retirement  Retirement Trust
System System System Fund Total
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ..........cooieeiieii e, $ 84370 $ 49 % 44930 $ 9463 $ 138812

Investments:

SOCKS e 1,020,086 17653 1,929,392 400549 3,367,680

BONAS .. 433,088 5,648 450,428 12667 1,021,831

REAIESIAME ...\ttt 157,097 2,509 263,578 49,623 472,807
Securities lending collateral ..o 118,686 26,213 144,899
Forward foreign CONtracts ........oveve e 23333 1732 25,065
OthBI ASSEES .. vttt et e 80,528 353 20,667 796 102,344

Total assets 1917,188 €. 26212 . 2736940. . 593098 . 5273438
Liabilties:
Obligations under securities lending program ..........ooovveivveiiiiiiiiiiiinnns 118,686 26,213 144,899
Forward foreign CONtracts .........ovvveriii 23119 1733 24,852
Accounts payable ... 61,130 15 17,325 4492 82,962
Pension benefits payable ... 367 367

Totalliabifties ........oove 202,935 15 45,638 4492 253,080
Net posttion:
Net position restricted for pensionS ........o.vvvvveii $§ 174253 % 26197 $ 2691302 $ 588606 $ 5,020,358
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Pension and OPEB Trust Funds
For the year Ended June 30, 2018
(Expressed In Thousands)

Elected  Fire and Police
Employees'  Officials’  Employees' OPEB
Retirement  Retirement  Retirement Trust

System System System Fund Total
Additions:
Contributions
o) § 8Tk $ 137738$ 145466 $ 370,746
IOy e 12943 $ 69 31,286 53,465 97,763
Total controutions ... 100,485 69 169,024 198,931 468,509
Investment income:
Net appreciation fair value of INVEStMENES ... 106,021 2,185 188,792 26,124 323122
Securities lending income, Net. ... 420 486 8,669 9575
Interest and dividend income ... 4711 184 31,646 79,541
TotaliNVeStMENtINCOME . ...\t e 148,152 2,369 226,924 34,793 412,238
LeSS: INVESHMENT EXDBNSE . .\ vv ettt et 8,640 5 15,257 1,860 25,816
Net inVESIMENTINCOME ... v e 139,512 2,310 211,667 32933 386,422
Totaladditions . .......v v 239,997 2,319 380,691 231,864 854,931
Deductions:
Retirement BENERS .. ... ..ve 148,219 1,110 243,204 392,533
Healthbenefits . ... ..o 159,817 159,817
Death henefits ... 497 223 720
AdMINISITAtVe BXPENSES . ... vttt 3,616 38 4,984 8,638
OBT 439 3542 391
Total deductions .........oooveivi 152,711 1,148 251,953 159,817 565,689
Changes N NEEPOSHION ... ...\t e 81,226 1231 128,738 72,047 289,242
Net position restricted for Pensions - beginning of the year. ..............ccoovviiiii e, 1,627,027 24,966 2,562,564 516,559 4731,116
Net position restricted for Pensions -end ofthe year..............ooocvviiiiinnn, $...1714253% 26197 § 26913025 588606 § 5020358
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Assets and Liahilities
Agency Funds
June 30, 2018
(Expressed in Thousands)

Unpresented Property
Stock and Sold for  Bid Deposit Waterloo Recreation

Coupon Bonds ~ Taxes Refunds ~ Summit Accessory  Total
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents$ 55 $ 86 $ 92 $ 233
I nvest mentséééecééééééccéééééééce. $ 53 53
Accounts receivableé. . éééééeééééééééeé. $ 347 347
Total assetséééééééééé 55 86 92 53 347 633
Liabilties:
Due to other fundséééééééééeéeéééééé. . 347 347
Ot herééééééééééééééééééééé. . 55 86 92 53 286
Total liabilitiesééééé $ 5 $ 86 $ 2 3% 53 $ 347 $ 633
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities
Agency Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
(BExpressed in Thousands)

Balance Balance
June 30, 201 Additions Deductions June 30, 201

Unpresented Stock and Coupon Bonds

Assets:
Cashéééééeééeécéceécécéceéeecececes. 55 $ 55
Total assetséééééééeééceéeéeéceceéeéer 55
Liabilties:
Otheréééécéééééécécééeécéceéecéeécésé 55 55
Total liabilitiesééééeééééeééeécéceéebeéce. 55
Property Sold for Taxes
Assets:
Cashééééééééééécéécéecéecéeééeecéeée. . 86 86
Total assetséééééééeéecécééeéeécécecer. 86
Liabilties:
Otheréééeéécééecééeéeéeéécéécéecéecééc. 86 86
Total liabilitieséééééééeéééeééé 86 86
Bid Deposit Refunds
Assets:
Cashééééeééeéeéeéécéécéecéecéecéeeéée. . 72 3 20 92
Total assetséééééééeééeécééeéeécécecéar. 20 92
Liabilties:
Otheréééééééeéécécééeéeéecéceéeeéecéceécd. 72 20 92
Total liabilitiesééééééééeééeéé 72 20 92
Waterloo Summit
Assets:
I nvestment sééééééééécééceéeéeécéeéeéeéeéns 53
Total assetséééécéécéécéecécéecéecédr 53
Liabilties:
Otherééééééeééeécééeéeéecéceéeeeecésé 53 53
Total liabilitiesééééééééeéeécécecéedecéece. 53
Recreation Accessory
Assets:
Cashéééeééeééeécécéceéeécéceéeéeece. 247 2848 $ 2948 347
Total assetsééééééeéeééceéeéeécéceceHdr. 2848 2,948 347
Liabilties:
Otherééééééééééécééécéécéecéecéeééceé 247 2,848 2,948 347
Total liabilitiesééééeéééécéeééeécéceééyeé erdss 2,948 347
Total All Agency Funds
Assets:
Cashéééééééééeéécéecéecéecéecéeéée. 460 2,868 2,948 580
I nvestment séééééeécécééeéeécéceéeéeéééns. 53
Total assetsééééééeééeééceéeéeéecéeceedzr. 2868 2,948 633
Liabilties:
Otherééééééééééécéécéécéecéecéeeéceé 513 2,868 2,948 433
Total liabilitiesééééééééeécécerecedBererdos $ 2948 $ 433
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statistical Section
(Unaudited)
Table of Contents

Page
Financial Trends
These schedules contain information to help the reade
well-being have changed over time. . . ... ... . e 126
Revenue Capacity
These schedules contain information to help the reade
SOUICE, the ProPertY taX. . . .ttt e e e 132

Debt Capacity
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help theuredelstand the environment
within which the Cityds financi al act.i.vi.t.i.e.s.3t ake pl

Demographic and Economic Information
These schedules offer demographic and ecémomdicators to help the reader understand the environment
within which the Cityés financial act.i.vi.t.i.e.sl42t ake pl

Operating Information

These schedules contaimgee and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the information in
the Citybds financi al report relates to the s46rvices

Source: Unless otherwise noted, thi®rmation in these tables is derived frone tannual financial reports fire
relevant year.
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Financial Trends

125



(THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)

126



CITY OF BALTIMORE
Net Position byComponent
Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)
(Expressed in Thousands)

Fiscal Year
2009 2010 2011 2012

Governmental activities
Invested in capital assets,
net of

Restrict

Unr

Total governmental activities

net

estri

posi

ed
ct

ti

rel ate$ 2121998 $ 2,681,668 $ 2,989,607 $ 2,739,761
666666 13,191 14,787 14,931 13,013
edéééé (475,903) (360,180) (595,687) (321,033)

onéééé¢s 165928 $ 2336275 $ 2,408,851 $ 2,431,741

Business-type activities
Invested in capital assets,

net of

Restrict

Unr

estri

ed
ct

Total business-type activities

net

posi

ti

relate$ 1371993 $ 1377641 $ 1461618 $ 1,646,769
éééééé 260,575 124,756 142,070 160,955
edéééé (27,495) 182,655 172,004 83,148

onééée¢$ 1605073 $ 1685052 $ 1,775692 $ 1,890,872

Primary government

Invested in capital assets,
net of

Restrict

Unr

estri

Total primary government

net

posi

ed
ct

ti

relate$ 3493991 $ 4,059,309 $ 4451225 $ 4,386,530
666666 273,766 139,543 157,001 173,968
edéééé (503,398) (177,525) (423,683) (237,885)

onéééé¢s 3264359 $ 4,021,327 $ 4,184,543 $ 4,322,613

Fiscal Year
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Governmental activities

Net investment in capital

asset

Restrict

Unr

Total governmental activities

net

estri

posi

S
ed
ct

toi

éééééééééedomB é éé 22598 15,946 24,669 400,063 483,623
edééééééqaEBIGE S &(@M2540)  (1,759,089)  (1,662,259)  (1,951,655) (2,771,072

ONnéeececp cRIEDR B € 2,849,289 $ 777,730 $ 827,372 $ 976,524 $ 287,191

Business-type activities

Net investment in capital,

asset

Restrict

Unr

estri

s
ed
ct

Total business-type activities

net

posi

ti

é€ééééeéééé e EoR ééé 180,965 157,613 165,076 162,084 161,308
edééééééer3gsae é é é 3976 136,251 413,302 85,565 (92,013)

onéécépePWEHE 86250825 $ 267309 $ 2965022 $ 3,229,053 $ 3,452,689

Primary government

Net investment in capital,

asset

Restrict

unr

estri

Total primary government

net

posi

ed
ct

666666S 4774457 $ 4785115 $ 4,900,105 $ 4,851,606 $ 5509520 5,958,034
eéééééééékopeds e éé 203563 173,559 189,745 562,147 644,931
edééééés RAODE 6 4818564 (1,622,838  (1,248957)  (1,866,090) (2,863,085

onéééép Lo ®E B 4670114 $ 3,450,826 $ 3,792,394 $ 4,205577 $ 3,739,880
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Changes in Net Position
Governmental Funds
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Accrual Basis of Accounting)
(Expressed in Thousands)

Fiscal Year
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Expenses
Government activities:
General government ééééé&éEHRPER 6545037 $ 452449 § 443957 $ 399,166 $ 278,892 $ 294987 $ 303696 $ 249,415 $404,025
Public safety and regul ati 6417%8é é é5047808 é é 625,792 577,963 661,829 673,680 692,155 744,940 764,040 781,830
Conservation of health é&¢éE¢éa4e5d4ééé16478L 151,192 154,105 130,911 125,383 112,575 116,592 119,811 134,743
Social services ééééé666é6é6ééed0%EEE 435 14,581 31,156 125,515 112,301 102,809 109,591 120,630 95,107
Education éééééééééééeéé 221,829 228,788 265,204 260,935 288,227 306,128 302,568 299,699 278,881 383,934
Public libraryéééééééééé 33,728 33,915 33,309 33,390 33,184 34,550 35,063 34,150 34,531 35,189
Recreation and culture éé¢émRp656¢é¢E8%05 48,165 49,291 50,297 52,540 51,367 53,657 58,124 59,049
Hi ghways and streets ééé¢éeég3peiRéé asls3s 140,309 162,290 159,022 172,330 185,601 192,487 169,147 165,800
Sanitation and waste removadlledééé EX% é é .61,605 65,677 73,536 63,623 67,445 70,823 76,638 81,877
Public service éééé66é6é6ééééeneyéé. 24316 25,059 26,676 50,710 50,260 51,041 49,475 53,188 50,052
Economic development éééééRmMewééE1823816 183,331 169,896 170,002 208,870 141,772 126,430 133,594 131,347
Interest éééééééééécéééce 37,885 50,105 47,391 32,624 29,605 41,967 41,078 30,518 28,857 77,530
Total governmental activi tlj9g8$530e x pEHKES s 1648887 é 62,007,960 2,172,004 2,120,524 2,078,461 2,132,058 2,086,856 2,400,483
Business-type Activities:
Water ééééééééééécceédés 116,407 107,982 120,736 131,271 136,171 155,308 160,208 170,637 167,667 147,289
Waste water éééé6é6é6ééééé 152,595 157,605 159,776 173,106 178,221 179,306 182,769 193,563 193,055 207,730
Stormwater éééééééééééééééeéé. 18,292 15,747 19,365 21,521 26,175
Parking ééééééééééceéééé 23,422 24,832 19,853 25,332 17,681 23,528 19,183 18,125 27,939 17,797
Nonmajor proprietary éét 12,353 11,538 13,860 13,287 11,826 10,753 11,607 12,148 13,703 10,087
Total business-type activi304&s eBpLAGS e s3LERE é é 842,996 343,899 387,187 389,514 413,838 423,885 409,078
Total primary government $ @Rf8807sbe232054065 & 2,268,612 $ 2,350,956 $ 2,515,903 $ 2,507,711 $ 2,467,975 $ 2545896 $ 2,510,741 $ 2,809,561
Program Revenues
Governmental activities:
Charges for services (a) $é6é%Q9E% é8%68% 8. 109872 $ 118556 $ 114163 $ 103331 $ 107482 $ 103,190 $ 103,151 $ 111,154
Operating grants and cont r 402843 o n359,76% é é 898,14 400,678 385,841 431,515 318,266 347,636 344,684 324,457
Capital grants and contribu23l8tns @3¢87¢ é é é72 58 71,258 109,488 71,806 54,788 25,284 83,501 41,095
Total governmental activitibB82lrevid$88E ¢é 6824786 ¢é 590,492 609,492 606,652 480,536 476,110 531,336 476,706
Business-type activities:
Charges for services:
Water éééééééééééééé 119,840 130,512 129,292 132,340 154,680 158,678 176,439 160,865 163,563 178,367
Waste water ééé6é6é6ééé. 158,305 166,016 160,076 179,873 183,521 221,181 216,428 229,300 235,133 258,386
Stormwater éééééééééééééésd 27,511 25,971 27,807 29,309 28,552
Parking éé6éééééééééér 64,380 67,760 83,040 81,476 83,542 87,398 85,634 87,145 88,454 85,257
Nonmajor proprietary 12,440 9,989 9,979 12,046 18,400 14,385 13,916 37,505 11,744 28,639
Capital Grants and C 22,818 38,313 72,257 100,922 129,608 131,574 201,880 259,288 217,959 169,154
Total Business-type Activi3rim3 RdWEIW0ue 454644 é é 506,657 569,751 640,727 720,268 801,910 746,162 748,355
Total Primary Government R89,6804ue si21¢/@o¢é é 4838118 1,097,149 1179243 1247379 1,200,804 1,278,020 1,277,498 1,225,061
Net (Expense)/Revenue
Government Activities é¢Eé@asda09)é qK5e%650) (1,365913) (1,417,468) (1,562512) (1,513,872) (1,597,925) (1,655,948) (1,555,520) (1,923,777
Business-type Activities ¢é&800&¢é¢éawe38é. . 140419 163,661 225,852 253,540 330,754 388,072 322,277 339,277
Total Primary Government $ (4,875,708)%(163890273$ (£,226,494) & (1,253,807) $ (1,336,660) $ (1,260,332) $ (1,267,171) $ (1,267,876) $ (1,233,243) $ (1,584,500
General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Position
Governmental Activities:
Property taxes ééééééééc$ 693767 $ 770320 $ 813613 $ 769094 $ 806258 $ 810,824 $ 816,199 $ 852114 $ 853,197 $ 886,417
Income taxes ééééééééééé 262,901 251,731 234,955 257,893 276,111 284,437 300,014 346,727 335,923 346,797
Ot her local taxes éééééééédasBpmeéééldhdrn 147,366 178,441 188,803 204,391 193,595 242,426 240,278 187,754
State shared revenues ¢éééédasyeoaé é é18%2e6 127,433 130,286 128,707 131,180 147,608 153,195 159,022 170,240
Unrestricted investment | nc35M6 é¢éRa7&8886éé 3905 17,404 17,879 16,722 19,431 34,782 21,634 28,296
Miscellaneous éééééééééé 14,568 15,806 35,695 36,794 43,861 32,581 88,734 33,073 32,523 124,395
Transfers ééééééeéééééé 34,339 40,707 55,522 50,446 47,742 (195,564) 61,495 100,737 62,095 59,295
Total Governmental Activiti d877686¢éé13865808 ¢ 4438489 1440358 1509361  1,284571 1,627,076 1,763,054 1,704,672 1,803,194
Business-type Activities:
Unrestricted investment Income ééééééééénias 3,075 2,135 2,186 5,809 4,591 3,849 5,535
Transfers ééé6éééééééééée (34,339) (40,707) (55,522) (50,446) (47,742) 195,564 (61,495)  (100,737) (62,095) (59,295)
Total Business-type activiti(835986¢éq4FuE éé@xrr9 (47,371) (45,607) 197,750 (55,686) (96,146) (58,246) (53,760)
Total primary government ééé&@8400¢¢61345863 . 1388710 1392987 1463754 1482321 1571390 1,666,908 1,646,426 1,749,434
Change in Net Position
Governmental activities 6éééé¢qmnmeéédlsx080. 72576 22,890 (53,151)  (229,301) 29,151 107,106 149,152 (120,583)
Business-type activities ééé&86HEEEERPIEE 90,640 116,290 180,245 451,290 275,068 291,926 264,031 285,517
Total primary government é®é¢34828)&é é(83¢BES 163216 $ 139,180 $ 127,094 $ 221,989 $ 304,219 $ 399,032 $ 413,183 $164,934

(a) Changes for services include charges for various City services such as rental of recreational facilities, solid waste disposal fees, port and stadium security services, impound lot fees and library video rei
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Fund Balances, Governmental Funds
Last Ten Fiscal Years(1)
(Modified Accrued Basis of Accounting)
(Expressed in Thousands)

Fiscal Year
2009 2010
General Fund
Reserved ééééééééépéél8lsss $ 157,131
Unreserved éééééécéééesrssd 20,441

Total General Fund ¢é%éQmoméw édr7572

All Other Governmental Funds
Reserved éééééééééd éélds $ 151,855
Unreserved reported in:
Special revenue f u@4B679) éé ¢8es7)
Capital projects f4BA28 é é ¢48874)
Debt service fund 418406 ¢ééé41319

2018

Total all other Gove$rnhhtseli &1 165618d s
2011 (1) 2012
General Fund
Nonspendable éééé&ééé6rds $ 5519 $
Restricted ééééééééééécéséd 30,338
Assigned éééééeééécééééamss 128,415
Unassigned éééééééééésngss 91,700

2,210

423,673
221,658
163,604

Total General Fund é%éeMOMéeR é @55972 $

811,145

All Other Governmental Funds
Nonspendable
Mot or vehicle f@nd268é6ééé. .
Ot her nonmajor fund8ll1ééééé. .
Restricted

Capital projects fund éééééé.s$

Ot her nonmajor funds é&&¢éé¢éls013

Assigned
Mot or vehicle fundlsd@méééé. .
Capital project 128,813 7,128
Ot her nonmajor f un4B837ééEéEé3x 333
Unassigned
Grants revenue f un(30688)ééé ¢40,248)
Capital project (80,539) (12,393)

Ot her nonmajor f un(@0g33)éééé@192

8,448
14,688

5,064
8,794

(1,819)

Total all other Gove$r nnd3se &1 R3S

35,175

(1) During fiscal year 2011, the City implemented GASB Statement No.54 which changed the format for fund balance presentation.



CITY OF BALTIMORE
Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Expressed in Thousands)

Fiscal Year
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Revenue:
General fund:
Taxes - Local éééééééééééé $1105037 $1,137,523 $1,176,038 $1,206,584 $1,219,656 $1,258,118 $1,284,515 $1,426,286 $1,410,593 $1,406,403
State shared revenue éééééééééeééééééé. $128,707  $131,180 137,714 142,213 140,451 146,174
Licenses and permits ééééé 29,390 34,438 42,129 37,585 40,572 41,457 41,584 48,829 44,450 41,043
Fines and forfeitures éééé 6,896 7,116 8,055 6,604 29,445 14,673 15,325 8,365 7,192 27,085
Interest, rentals, and oth 23,616 24,148 21,903 16,244 16,816 15,833 17,181 33,991 21,082 27,071
Federal grants ééééééééééé 224 213 226 245 261 275 217 480 79
State grants ééééééééééeéé 99,423 97,320 89,453 95,651 93,376 102,786 105,059 104,585 105,705 104,644
Ot her grants ééééééééééééeé 154 46 25 25 25 26 26 26 26 27
Charges for services ééééé 41,560 29,251 26,654 35,044 44,146 47,201 50,573 45,996 51,509 43,026
Miscellaneous éééééééééééé 234 4,528 18,579 9,976 4,365 5,757 5,730 459 7,300
Total revenues - general 1306534 1334583 1382836 1407939 1577353 1617292 1,657,982 1,810,967 1,788,788 $1,795552

Other governmental funds:
Mot or vehicle fund ééééééé 206,015 156,590 160,974 169,768
Grants revenue fund éééééé 338749 270692 292,887 285,240 251,949 242,805 223,148 222,291 226,145 233,957
Capital projects fund éééé 46,028 75,296 84,230 93,966 121,065 91,069 66,983 45,370 105,487 62,019
Ot her funds ééééééééééeééé 33,030 28,641 26,245 29,339 21,860 36,279 41,327 40,792 47,068 56,090

Total revenues - other g 62382 531219 564336 578,313 394,874 370,153 331,458 308,453 378,700 352,066
Total revenues all gover 1930356 1865802 1,947,172 1,986,252 1,972,227 1,987,445 1989440 2119420 2,167,488 $2,147,618
Expenditures:

General fund:
General government ééééééé 368,279 410,746 375,814 387,650 223,730 216,329 258,028 281,616 249,579 155,606
Public safety and regul ati on474@8 ¢é é48%081 é OEF. 463,410 594,077 625,432 679,202 702,632 730,093 766,230
Conservation of health éé¢éééa806 éé 44808 é . 44,076 44,033 20,811 23,778 20,887 19,663 21,882 38,648

Social services ééééééééééééee@eéeé. 396 1,361 707 89,235 76,857 64,249 73,851 86,353 59,899
Education ééééééécééééééecéecrBI9 207657 247,074 254,626 257,770 273,241 265,939 269,937 276,324 293,355
Public library éééééééécéé 25,720 24,246 23,890 23,829 23,131 24,577 24,942 24,856 24,812 24,505
Recreation and culture éé¢ééénraéé 8022 ¢. 37981 34,749 39,235 39,796 39,349 41,884 44,392 43,845
Hi ghways and streets ééééé 244 16,376 16,838 19,336 83,051 102,308 113,452 125,440 96,537 99,848

Sanitation and waste removal 48%98 éé 87%862% é ¢39603. 40,936 69,381 59,837 64,422 72,642 72,380 75,384
Public service ééééééééééé 17,510 21,455 16,403 17,350 43,024 41,241 43,895 42,947 44,769 42,579
Economic development éééééeéeéé3srdéé 86186 36,589 46,741 48,544 49,348 49,069 39,499 34,276 41,634
Debt service ééééééééécéécéécbdéedé. 69,775 104,006 94,713
Total expenditures - genef24B146 uh26714% 19EEE6 6 333,367 1,491,989  1532,744 1623434 1,764,742 1,785403 1,736,246
Other government funds:
Mot or vehicle fund ééééééé 173,570 191,558 140,223 148,769
Grants revenue fund éééééé 238,399 280,603 292,497 298,287 280,319 275,977 223,964 238,344 218,716 221,811
Capital projects fund éé¢éé 267,641 275,701 199,217 208,837 202,458 160,874 172,688 173,201 154,671 186,541
Debt service fund:
Principal ééééééééééeéééeééé bRl . 60,054 61,282 64,781 69,877 44,483 38,912
Interest ééééééééééééééééedaxm 39,014 38,256 32,624 23,678 31,708 31,005

Ot her bond costs éééééééééananléééans 5,882 6,178 6,135
Ot her funds ééééééééééécéée 18,052 11,863 14,330 17,116 22,600 23,133 31,107 29,565 34,101 41,857
Total expenditures - ot he90,492 v eB68640e n 751,687 n d s77061846 é 598,932 542,353 503,811 441,110 407,488 450,209

Total expenditures all g 2033547 2135757 2,044,193 2,103,781 2,090,921 2,075,097 2,127,245 2,205,852 2,192,891 2,186,455
Excess (deficiency) of revenue(@03a9i)e r(26895p) e n(@7,021) r e(517,528)¢é é(418,694).  (87,652)  (137,805) (86,432) (25,403)  ($38,837)
Other financing sources (uses):

Transfers, net éééééééécéé 27,839 40,707 27,422 50,446 76,110 56,828 61,495 100,038 60,289 57,703

Capital leases éé6é6éééééééé 3,956 75,099 11,020 41,460 11,804 8,978 29,618
Refunding capital leases éééééééééééééééceééé (4,563)
Face value of bonds and | oan $00864 é é 64688 é é MF3D. 283,535 5414 64,249 92,317 1,907 225,155
Refunding of bonds éé6ééééééééécééééée. . (214,336) (377,111) (133,560
Transportation revenue bonds ééééééééééééé. 9,609 (13,833) 14,924
Swap termination éé6éé6éééééeéébééééé (18,760)

Premium (discount) on sale of bonds éééééééééé.. 42,443 1,606 3,220 35,923
Proceeds from bond issuanc 403,750 -
Capital contributions éééé (20,421)

Payoff of bond anticipation note éééééé6é6é6é6éé¢é. (60,148)

Total other financing sourX3g309 é 61804846 é éBA7R 6 . . 91,906 180,796 41,821 136,959 190,720 88,835 165,052
Net changes in fund bala $28768 ($99461)$ (3,849) ($25623)$ 62,102 $ (45831) $ (846)  $104,288 $63,432  $126,215
Debt service as a percentage 3.50% 5.26% 5.24% 5.03% 4.87% 3.89% 3.52% 3.26% 3.39% 3.85%
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Property Tax Levies and Collections
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

Total Percent of
Fiscal Tax Collected within due Percent Collections in Total Total Tax Collections
Year Levy Fiscal Year ofthe Levy  of Levy Collected Subsequent Years  Tax Collection to TaxLevy
2009 $ 728359 $ 671,869 922 $ 16,270 $ 739803 98.4%
2010 751,510 723533 %.3 17,107 767,251 9%8.7
2011 177,332 750,144 %.5 21,047 770,399 9.9
2012 761,237 743,352 977 11,071 743538 9.5
2013 778,346 132,467 9.1 11,199 752,648 99.6
2014 755,711 741,449 %.1 11,572 774,643 9.5
2015 778,380 762,772 9.0 11,910 772,040 9.0
2016 804,391 760,686 94.6 12437 808,328 9.0
2017 851,099 808,328 9.0 32,183 840,511 %8
2018 892,079 865,223 97.0 865,223 97.0
CITY OF BALTIMORE
Assessed and Estimate Aatl Value of Taxable Property
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)
Real Property Personal Property Total Ratio of Total
Estimate Estimate Estimate Assessed Value  Total
Fiscal Assessed Actual Assessed Actual Assessed Actual to Total Estimate  Direct
Year Value Value Value Value Value Value ActualValue %  TaxRate
2009 $ 2660129 $ 32038540 § 214551 0§ 2145251  § 28746550 $ 34,183,791 841 § 2330
2010 28511521 35,600,999 1,805,889 1,805,889 30,317,410 37,406,888 810 2380
2011 29,613,826 36,799,638 1,767,656 1,767,656 31,381,482 38,567,294 814 2.330
212 28,762,325 35,431,581 1,878.997 1,878,997 30,641,322 37,310,578 821 230
2013 28,844,799 34,386,667 1845424 1845424 30,690,223 36,232,001 84.7 2.380
2014 29,209,703 33,938,341 1,966,795 1,966,795 31,176,498 35,905,136 868 2.360
2015 29,063,381 33,749,836 1,895,006 1,895,006 30,958,387 35,644,842 869 2.360
2016 31,577,756 35,782,497 2,011,722 2,011,722 33,589,478 37,794,219 889 2.360
2017 32,550,695 37,113,758 2,123,826 2,123826 34,674,521 30,237,584 884 2.360
2018 33,909,100 38,844,708 2,241,053 2,309,659 36,150,153 41,154,367 878 2.360
Note:  Assessed values are established by the Maryland State Department of Assessents and Taxation on July 1 of each year. Each real property's assessment is reevalual

every three years. Taxrates are for each $100 of assessed value. The Baltimore City real property taxrate is $2.248 and the Maryland State real property taxrate

is $0.112, for a total of $2.360.

Source: Baltimore City Department of Finance
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates

Last Ten Fiscal Years (1)

Fiscal City Tax State Tax

Year Rate Rate (2) Total (3)
2009 $ 2.268 $ 0.112 $ 2.380
2010 2.268 0.112 2.380
2011 2.268 0.112 2.380
2012 2.268 0.112 2.380
2013 2.268 0.112 2.380
2014 2.248 0.112 2.360
2015 2.248 0.112 2.360
2016 2.248 0.112 2.360
2017 2.248 0.112 2.360
2018 2.248 0.112 2.360

Notes:
(1) Tax rates are for each $100 of assessed valuation.

(2) The Statetax rateis shownfor information purposeonly, sincethe City actsin the role of collectorand

does not report this portion of the property tax as revenue.
(3) The City has no special assessments.

Source: Baltimore City Department of Finance

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Principal Property Taxpayer
Current Year and Nine Years Ago
(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

2018 2009

Percentage Percentage

Taxable of Total City Taxable of Total City

Assessed Assessed Assessed Assessed

Value Rank Value Value Rank Value

BGE (Baltimore Gas & Electric $Casamsany) é4ééEéEéEéééé. .23%  § 629830 1 2.2%
Amazon 66666686 EE8EEAEEEAEEEAEEEEI04580 2 0.8%
Harbor Point - Parcel 2 86é¢8eeREMEEEEEaeRé 0.6%
CSX Transportation ééééééecééecpPedce. . 4 0.6%
Baltimore Hotel Corporation é¢dmPBEccdieebed. 0.5%
Harbor East - Parcel D éé66é¢66HeHBcééccde 0.5%

Harbor East Limited ééééécééécpodnadceés. 7 0.5% 125,838 5 04%

Verizon - Maryland é¢éééééecééedmppésce. 8 04% 303,244 2 11%

100 East Pratt Street BusinesslgBpéecéécéépecése, 04% 184,482 3 0.6%
JBG/ Baltimore SSA, LLC éééééééédampsboccés. 10 04%

Baltimore Center Associates LTD Partnershipééééééééé 178,311 4 0.6%

Canton Crossing Tower, LLC é¢ééééégéébédeesd. . 85,239 6 0.3%

ABB South Street Associates, LLC ééééééééddéée. 78,287 7 0.3%

951 Fell Street Limited é6666ééegbbeéeebbde 71,004 8 0.2%

Harbor East Limited - Parcel B ééégéééécééddee. . 70,759 9 0.2%

Tribune Company ééégééeéééegéééedeéée. . 67,557 10 0.2%

Total f6é6AEEaEeeheeEleedieedeendrs 71%  $1,794,551 6.1%
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type, Primary Government
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

Govemmental Activities Business-type Activities
Long-term  Long-term
General  Special  Financing  Financing CGeneral Sewer Total Percentage
Obligation ~ Obligation ~ with Federal ~ with Federal Revenue  Capital ~ Obligation ~ Construction ~ Revenue  Capital Primary  of Personal  Per

Fiscal Year  Bonds Bonds  Govemment ofMaryland  Bonds Leases Bonds Loans Bonds Leases Govemment Income (h) % Capita ()

2009 $629018 $116508 $ 50803 § 1553 $440079 $159115 § 1319 § 221 $1,2395937 $2,794,613 1168 $ 4384

2010 631,993 116,205 45436 1,186 431,155 169,100 576 143 1,370,497 2,766,291 11.16 4,455

2011 630,957 115600 42,151 925 422011 160,930 63 1513270 2,885,907 11.01 4,653

2012 570,148 114,993 39,355 1,855 411377 179,161 19 1477473 $3,003 2,797,384 1017 4502

2013 560097 114435 36,461 1430 424599 193368 1467888 2628 2,809,906 1151 4517

2014 524,969 149,824 33,461 1,016 305501 189,600 3113 1735806 2240 3,035,530 11.49 4874

2015 553,761 147,218 30,357 662 301894 161477 3,018 1920369 1,840 3,210,596 11.48 5,163

2016 575793 145990 21132 230 394224 160,368 3,602 1864330 1427 317309 N/A N/A

2017 527,049 199,876 237192 358,666 144,969 3201 2127319 1087 3386049 N/A N/A

2018 526557 198176 20,320 359235 160,006 2,737 2,204,360 826 3472217 N/A NIA

(a) Per capita calculation utilize calendar year figures provided by U.S. Department of Commerce, Census Bureau, in thousands.
(b) Personal Income data from the Bureau of Economic Analysis, U.S. Department of Commerce.
N/A Information not available
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